Public Document Pack

Petitions Committee

Meeting Venue: Cynulliad

Committee Room 1 - Senedd Cenedlaethol
Cymru

Meeting date: National

4 June 2013 Assembly for
Wales

Meeting time: F"
09:00 /

For further information please contact:

Naomi Stocks Kayleigh Driscoll
Committee Clerk Deputy Committee Clerk
029 2089 8421 029 2089 8421
Petition@wales.gov.uk Petition@wales.gov.uk
Agenda

1 Introduction, apologies and substitutions

Discussion of evidence sessions on 14 May 2013

2 P-04-472 Make the MTAN law 9.00 - 9.05 (Page 1)

3 P-04-442 Guarantee good support close to home for disabled
children and their families 9.05 - 9.10 (Page 2)

4 New petitions 9.10 - 9.20
4.1 P-04-484 EMA for all! (Page 3)

4.2 P-04-485 Abuse of casual contracts in Further Education (Page 4)
4.3 P-04-486 Act Now and Help Save the High Street Shops (Page 5)

5 Updates to previous petitions 9.20 - 9.45
5.1 P-04-470 Against the nationalisation of Cardiff Airport (Pages 6 - 7)

Housing and Regeneration
5.2 P-04-419 Wind Farm Moratorium (Pages 8 - 18)



5.3 P-04-422 Fracking (Pages 19 - 21)

5.4 P-04-469 Remove the Right-To-Buy Regional Price Cap (Pages 22 - 24)

Natural Resources and Food

5.5 P-04-385 Petition regarding balloon and lantern releases (Pages 25 - 106)
5.6 P-04-398 Campaign for a Welsh Animal Offenders Register (Page 107)

5.7 P-04-439 Ancient veteran and heritage trees of Wales to be given greater

protection (Pages 108 - 110)
5.8 P-04-444 Dig for Victory (Pages 111 - 114)

Culture and Sport

5.9 P-04-403 Saving Plas Cwrt yn Dre/Old Parliament House for the Nation (Pages
115 -116)

Health and Social Services

5.10 P-03-301 Equality for the transgender community (Page 117)

5.11 P-04-362 Ambulance Services in Monmouth (Pages 118 - 209)

5.12 P-04-451 Save the Royal Glamorgan Hospital Services (Pages 210 - 211)

5.13 P-04-456 Dementia - This Could Happen to you (Pages 212 - 217)

Education
5.14 P-04-458 Keep Further Education in the Public Sector (Pages 218 - 220)

Economy, Science and Transport
5.15 P-03-240 Road safety on the A40 in Llanddewi Velfrey (Pages 221 - 223)

5.16 P-04-373 School Exclusion Zones for Mobile Hot Food Vans (Pages 224 - 225)

6 P-04-457 The Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign: Evidence
Session 9.45 - 10.15 (Pages 226 - 232)

Alan Rogers, Petitioner
Brian Pearce

7 P-04-474 Support for NHS chaplaincy services: Evidence



Session 10.15 - 10.45 (Pages 233 - 236)

Jim Stewart, Petitioner

Wynne Roberts, Pastoral Care Chaplain and Chair of the Interfaith Network of
North West Wales



Agenda Item 2

P-04-472 Make the MTAN law

Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government
to make the MTAN Guidance Notes, notably those relating to a 500 metre
buffer zone around open cast workings, mandatory in planning law for
Wales.

Additional information:

On 20th January 2009, Jane Davidson, the Minister for the Environment,
introduced newly published Coal Minerals Technical Advice guidance Notes
(MTAN) for Wales, and stated: “.. the Coal MTAN will fulfil the pledges (in
2008) to introduce Health Impact Assessments for coal applications,
together with buffer zones, and with an emphasis on working closely with
local communities. It reaffirms the commitment (in 2008) to a 500m buffer
zone.” In 2009 the Welsh Government did not have the power to make its
planning guidelines law. It does now.

Petition raised by: Dr John Cox
Date petition first considered by Committee: 16 April 2013

Number of signatures: 680. Associated petition collected 330 signatures.

Page 1



Agenda Item 3

P-04-442 : Guarantee good support close to home for
disabled children and their families

Petition wording:

We, the undersigned, call on the Welsh Government to guarantee good
support close to home for disabled children and their families.

In order to achieve this, we call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge
the Welsh Government to make sure the new Educational (Wales) Bill includes
a ‘Provide Local’ principle in the Bill that will:

- ensure inclusive and accessible services in the local area, and

- put a duty on local agencies to introduce new inclusive and accessible
services if they don't exist, through better planning, partnership and the
involvement of local parents.

Petition raised by: Scope Cymru
Date petition first considered by Committee: 4 December 2012

Number of signatures: 2,606

Page 2



Agenda ltem 4.1

P-04-484 EMA for all!

Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government
to allow All children aged 16-19 and in full time education should recieve
the full £30 a week EMA regardless of their parents income.

Additional Information:

All children aged 16-19 should receive the full £30 EMA weekly regardless of
their parents income. Not all parents who earn a decent wage help their
children financially to attend college and it is hard to find work as most
places require experience in their fields. Providing they attend all children
should receive the weekly allowance.

Petition raised by: Jack Gillum

Date petition first considered by Committee: 4 June 2013

Number of signatures: 10

Page 3



Agenda Iltem 4.2

P-04-485 Abuse of casual contracts in Further Education

Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government
to use its influence to ensure that the use of hourly paid (zero hour) and
fixed term contracts are not abused in the Further Education sector and only
used when there is a genuine objective justification for a short term contract
with flexibility.

Petition raised by: Briony Knibbs

Date petition first considered by Committee: 4 June 2013

Number of signatures: 674

Page 4



Agenda Iltem 4.3

P-04-486 Act Now and Help Save the High Street Shops

Petition wording:

We call on the National Assembly to urge the Welsh Government to provide
support for independent traders in our towns by extending the small
Business Relief Scheme to a greater number of businesses.

We would like to see a scheme that is similar to the one operating in
Scotland where commercial properties with a rateable value of up to £18,000
get relief of between 25% and 100% on a sliding scale.

We believe that the Welsh Government’s decision to postpone the revaluation

of businesses from 2015 to 2017 does not allow the impact of the economic
downturn in the High Street to be reflected in the business rates.

Petition raised by: Keith Davies

Date petition first considered by Committee: 4 June 2013

Number of signatures: 12

Page 5



Agenda Iltem 5.1

P-04-470 Against the nationalisation of Cardiff Airport
Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government
to fully justify its decision to nationalize Cardiff Airport and provide evidence
that its purchase will bring value for money and benefits for Welsh taxpayers
wherever they live in Wales.

Petition raised by: Madeleine Thornton

Date petition first considered by Committee: 16 April 2013

Number of signatures : 196

Page 6



Y Gwir Anrh/Rt Hon Carwyn Jones AC/AM f
owir A Carwy A / S

Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales
,/“J}

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref: P-04-470
Ein cyf/Our ref: FM/00493/13

William Powell AM

Chair

Petitions Committee
committeebusiness@Wales.gsi.gov.uk

16 May 2013

Dear William,

| am writing in response to your letter dated 24 April following the submission of a petition,
to the Petitions Committee, about Cardiff Airport by Madeline Thornton.

The Welsh Government undertook an independent due diligence report to ensure all
aspects surrounding the purchase of Cardiff Airport were fully considered. On completion of
this report the Welsh Government, via a holding company, acquired the share holding of the
airport.

We have published three underpinning documents from the advice we received on our
website, which can be accessed through the following link:
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/transport/public/air/cardairport/?lang=en

Cardiff Airport is a vital gateway to Wales for business, tourists and general travellers alike.
As such, the securing of the airports future will benefit Wales as a whole.

Yours sincerely

o~

CARWYN JONES
English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Bae Caerdydd . Cardiff Bay Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
Caerdydd « Cardiff Ffacs * Fax 029 2089 8198

CF99 1NA Page 7 ps.firstminister@wales.gsi.gov.uk



Agenda Iltem 5.2

P-04-419 : Wind Farm Moratorium

Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to ask the Welsh Government
for a moratorium on wind farm and wind turbine developments for which it
has devolved responsibility. The moratorium will be used as a period of
reflection, during which time a cross party committee will be convened to
examine the effects of operation of wind turbines upon the health, social
well-being, property value, effects on tourism, and the local economy within
15Km of installations.

We ask that the all party committee be allowed to commission independent
research on the devolved issues of Health, Social Well Being and Tourism
with respect to wind turbines, and to agree a set of standards for devolved
wind energy, which will prioritise the care of local environment, amenity
land, habitat and nature.

We also ask that all devolved wind turbine installations be subject to the
approval of a local (5Km) referendum.

This petition excludes wind power controlled by National Infrastructure
Directorate.

Petition raised by: James Shepherd Foster
Date petition first considered by Committee: 2 October 2012

Number of signatures: 1332

Page 8



Carl Sargeant AC / AM
Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio
Minister for Housing and Regeneration

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Ein cyf/Our ref CS/00885/13

William Powell AM
Chair Petition's Committee

committeebusiness@Wales.gsi.gov.uk

:rn May 2013

——

Dear William

Thank you for your letter of 24 April with regard to a petition calling for a moratorium on wind
farm applications.

A number of the petition’s recommendations are directed towards Natural Resources
Wales; this response is on behalf of the Welsh Government and not Natural Resources
Wales. You may wish to contact Natural Resources Wales directly to obtain their views.
However, it should be noted that, a number of the recommendations directed towards
Natural Resources Wales, such as to undertake a review of Technical Advice Notes (TANs),
would not be appropriate as they relate to issues which are not within their remit.

The Petitioner’s response raises a number of issues which | will address in turn.
Health and Safety in Construction and Design of Wind Turbines

Incidents involving turbines are rare. The risks posed by wind turbines can and should be
managed by their operators so that neither the workers involved in building or running them,
nor members of the public, are harmed or put at risk of harm.

Separation distances, between turbines and other land uses (such as buildings, roads and
railways), are considered within the planning and consenting process in order to ensure
safety. The distance between wind turbines and buildings required, on the basis of expected
noise levels and visual impact, will often be greater than that necessary to meet safety
requirements.

Where appropriate, the Health and Safety Executive or the relevant local planning authority,

depending on the particular circumstances, would be responsible for investigating incidents
involving wind turbines.

Placement of Turbines in Rural Landscapes

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydd « Cardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
CF99 1NA Correspondence.Carl.5argeant@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Wedi'i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (F?E@e 9] Printed on 100% recycled paper



Landscape and visual impacts are considered within the planning and consenting process.
Wind turbines should be sited and designed so that adverse effects on landscape and
visual amenity are minimised and the special qualities of designated areas are protected.
Wind farm applications will usually require an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). EIA
is @ means of drawing together an assessment of a project's likely significant environmental
effects, including its impact on the landscape.

TAN 8: Planning for Renewable Energy seeks to minimise the affect across Wales of large
scale renewable energy developments by identifying 7 Strategic Search Areas (SSAs). The
SSAs are considered most suitable in terms of environment, technical issues and grid
network. This approach seeks to safeguard our most important environmental priorities and
minimise the associated grid lines required to meet our obligations under European and UK
law.

Ecology and Biodiversity

Ecology and biodiversity impacts of wind farms are considered as part of the planning and
consenting process. Planning Policy Wales (edition 5, November 2012) supported by TAN
5: Nature Conservation and Planning provides advice on protecting and enhancing
biodiversity and geological conservation. Policy guidance is given for local planning
authorities in considering any development proposal on how to consider environmental
impact, so as to avoid, wherever possible, adverse effects on the environment. In addition,
TAN 8 addresses the potential impact of wind turbines moving blades upon birds and bats.
This issue is a common concern but, in most cases, will not lead to significant numbers of
bird and bat deaths or injuries.

Wind farm applications will usually require an EIA; which assesses the effect of
developments on the environment. In addition, developers should follow the industry's Best
Practice Guidelines and work closely with organisations, such as Natural Resources Wales
and the RSPB, to ensure that wind farm design and layout does not interfere with sensitive
species or wildlife designated sites.

In 2011 the Welsh Government published “Practice Guidance: Planning Implications of
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy” as a tool to support Local Planning Authorities in
dealing with applications for renewable and low carbon energy development, including wind
farms. This provides advice on what mitigation measures can be incorporated into the
design of wind turbines and wind farms to mitigate potential impacts on local ecology.

Noise

Noise impacts are considered within the planning and consenting process. The guidelines
for the assessment of wind turbine noise, as identified in TAN 8, are set out in The
Assessment and Rating of Noise from Wind Farms - ETSU-R-97. These guidelines were
accepted as the recommended method for the assessment of wind turbines by the UK
Government in 2004.

We have been assisting the Institute of Acoustics and the Department of Energy and
Climate Change on the production of good practice guidance to the application of ETSU-R-
97 for wind turbine noise assessment. This good practice guide is anticipated to be
published shortly.

Well designed wind farms should be located so that increases in ambient noise levels,
around noise-sensitive developments, are kept to acceptable levels with relation to existing
background noise. This can be achieved through good design of the turbines and by
allowing sufficient distance between the turbines and any noise-sensitive development.

Page 10



Flooding

National Planning Policy, and EIA Regulations, identify that any proposal for a wind farm
development needs to consider potential impacts upon both hydrology and hydrogeology,
and, where necessary, provide appropriate mitigation.

The Welsh Government'’s “Practice Guidance: Planning Implications of Renewable and Low
Carbon Energy” provides advice on what mitigation measures can be incorporated into the
design to minimise flood risk and surface water runoff.

Changes to planning policy are based upon clear and substantiated evidence, and my
officials keep a watching overview for the need to revise planning policy. In terms of the
preferred advice set out by Galar it is not clear what evidence underpins their figures.

National Planning Policy, in relation to protection of groundwater and flood risk, is robust
and it is not proposed to endorse the recommendations put forward by Galar.

Review of Planning Guidance

TAN 8 provides an appropriate framework for the strategic planning of all forms of
renewable energy in Wales. The Welsh Government has no intention, at the present time, to
undertake a wholesale review of TAN 8.

In addition, it is for local planning authorities to set out local criteria, against which smaller
scale renewable energy proposals outside of Strategic Search Areas will be evaluated, in
their development plans. We have prepared a Toolkit ‘Planning for Renewable and Low
Carbon Energy — A Toolkit for Planners’ to assist local planning authorities produce
renewable energy assessments in support of their local development plans. The Toolkit
offers a possible methodology which enables local authorities to develop a robust evidence
base to assess the potential renewable and low carbon energy generation. The information
can underpin renewable energy and low carbon energy policies in local planning authority’s
local development plan.

Community Benefit

We are currently working with the onshore wind industry to increase levels of Welsh
investment and we will set expectations for economic and community benefit. We have
agreed the broad principles under which onshore wind community benefits should be
operated within Wales and an analysis of current community support arrangements is taking
place. The Welsh Government and wind developers are currently participating in workshops
to develop more detailed arrangements.

Tourism

A diverse range of factors influence the tourism industry. There is no concrete evidence to
suggest that wind farms damage tourism. Although inconclusive, previous research carried
out into the impact of wind farms on tourism in Wales has indicated that, for the majority of
visitors, the existence of wind farms in the countryside does not have a major impact.
Studies carried out elsewhere indicate that the impact of wind farms on tourism is minimal
and, if they are properly designed and sensitively laid out, there is no reason to believe that
renewable energy targets and tourism are incompatible.

The Welsh Government is in the process of commissioning research, on the economic
impact of wind farms and associated grid infrastructure on the tourism industry, as part of

Page 11



our forward research program. We anticipate that this work will be completed by early
summer.

Moratorium on Wind Farm Applications

| do not support the recommendations put forward by Galar on the basis that national
planning policy sets out an appropriate planning framework for renewable energy
development in Wales and the effects of wind energy development are addressed as part of
the planning and consenting process. We remain fully committed to our renewable energy
policies in Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition, Planning Policy Wales and TAN 8. | will
not support the introduction of a moratorium on wind farm applications.

{

Carl Sargeant AC / AM
Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio
Minister for Housing and Regeneration

Page 12



al ar ecol ogy vol unt eer

group

For the attention of William Powell AM. Chair of the petitions Committee
21/05/2013
Dear William,

The Clerk to the Petitions Committee forwarded a copy of the letter of the 15thMay 2013
from Carl Sargeant AC /AM, Minister for Housing and Regeneration. I thank you for that
and the opportunity to respond.

I agree entirely with the Minister that many of the petitions requests are aimed at Natural
Resources Wales and should the Petitions Committee recommend that NRW forms a
committee to address issues relating to this petition, then, provided the committee’s evidence
gathering was inclusive of public consultation, and their conclusions and report were open to
public scrutiny; I would personally feel that the petitioners had achieved a good and
democratic outcome to their petition.

I was perturbed to see that NRW cannot review Technical Advice Notes which impact on the
environment. [ attended a meeting in Cardiff, at the inception of NRW and the Minister
(John Griffiths) said that the reason for the merger of FCW, CCW, and EAW was to produce
the very best environmental recommendations to the Welsh Assembly Government.
However, if they are without the power of review, it does go part way to explaining why
many of the TAN’s are stuck in a time warp, and out of touch with technological advance.

With regards to the Ministers other comments my response is:-
Health and Safety

I could not agree less with the Ministers conclusions. Incidents involving turbines are not
rare, in the past twelve months around 48 instances in the UK have occurred ranging from
complete turbines blowing over, to blade buckling, and this is on a onshore turbine
population of about 10% of the industries ambitions.

The Minister suggests risks could and should be managed by their operators. Self regulation
is no regulation. Every man women and child in this country are in austerity brought about
by little or no regulation on the banking sector, who put profit before prudence. Banking was
by and large UK based, but gave scant regard to allegiance with the rest of the population.
The Wind Industry is by and large foreign or off shore owned, and their principle allegiance
is to Boards of Directors and share holders outside the UK. In the early days of wind energy
the manufacture of the turbines lay with EU countries operating to EU standards, this is no
longer the case. Many parts of a turbine are made up of materials which contain PCB’s and
carcinogenic materials which are industrial contaminants being deployed in rural arecas. The
contamination risk is to our agriculture, the very backbone of the country, is very real

Page 13



from both fire and destruction. Disposal at the end of a turbines working life is less a threat
to rural areas, but amounts to many tonnes of material, wherever WAG intends its disposal.
We want reasonably safe conditions, which would improve the acceptability of these
machines; and also save WAG the embarrassment of another lack of competence issue, like
the Ash Die Back scandal, which would be seen to have taken risks with our rural lands yet
again.

I would agree with the Minister that the Health and Safety Executive and local Planning
Authorities are ideally placed for investigating incidents, however we must accept that this is
a reactive measure, and does not in itself solve any problems. I would direct the Petitions
Committee to their own efforts to solve the noise problems in Gwyddgrug, and the Ministers
subsequent refusal to adopt any of your recommendations.

I have examined the installation standards as set out by one developer, and these standards
would be quite acceptable to most engineers, however there are many reports about standards
being ignored. Until the acceptable standards are common to all wind turbines, and verified
by the Building Standards departments of Local Planning Authorities, at the time of
installation, then there will always be post installation disputes.

Placement of Turbines in Rural Landscapes

I would agree with the Minister comments within limits. However, the concern of the
petitioners, with regard to this subject, are not entirely addressed. Many turbines are now
being erected outside the strategic search areas, so the protection of both a full EIA and TAN
8 is not available in these circumstances. Coincidentally, by far the most incidents of turbine
damage and failure, referred to above, were on single turbine installations. All single
turbines are the responsibility of the Local Authority Planners. We attended several Planning
Committee meetings where single turbines were discussed, and would take issue with all of
them as not providing the committee members with enough information to make a reasonably
sound judgement.

With regard to the Strategic Search Areas, while they have the benefit of a EIA it is not
independent of the developer, who has a self serving interest, with regard to the development.

Also, while Arrup are undoubtedly one of Wales’s leading engineering companies, their
reports and advice are secondary to the developers demands. As an example of this I would
cite the application in SSA G called by the developer Brechfa Forest East. There are twelve
proposed turbines on this site, every one of the twelve breach Arrup’s TAN 8 Final report to
Carmarthen County Council by at least two conditions, some by as many as five. If the
Minister is going to quote TAN 8 as protection to the residents, environment and
biodiversity of the SSA’s, then the least we can expect is that a developer must abide by
it.

Ecology and Biodiversity

In our original evidence to the Petitions Committee we gave Barn Owls and Bats as examples
of the need to exercise a duty of care in SSA’s. The documents the Minister cites as evidence
do not relate specifically to SSA’s, only generally.

Page 14



With Bats we know from the latest evidence available, that some species are prone to
migratory patterns. Some bats migrate 60km or more. All we are asking here is that within
the SSA’s and a 5Km border around them, that any migratory patterns are established, and
judgement on turbine placement takes these findings into account. Areas outside the SSA’s
should have a bat specialist create a report as part of planning procedure, and provided they
examine the possibility of migration as applied to individual sites, that would satisfy
requirements.

The Barn Owl Trust portrays Wales has been suitable habitat for Barn Owls, with the
exception of a corridor around Motorways. In these corridors the trust suggests discouraging
breeding by not making nesting boxes available. Because wind farms locally create far
greater danger, both in area of disturbed air, and speed of the mechanisms, than a motorway,
we ask that this discouragement be made public as advice within SSA’s, and habitat outside
the SSA’s is created. With other avian species culling of breeding pairs, and habitat/ feeding
stations outside the SSA’s could be encouraged.

Noise

The Petitions Committee have already, very fairly, addressed the noise problem in the last
petition GALAR was involved in. Hayes McKenzie produced what I considered was an
excellent report, and while we all await to see the ‘Good Practise’ guide, I feel it will not add
to the knowledge we have in Wales. From this petitions viewpoint we ask that the means of
predicting Topography variation of noise is addressed. This means that better methods of
measuring wind shear, and topographical cross winds be employed on site evaluation, prior to
building. DEFRA still advise turbine spacing by prevailing wind assessment, even though it
can be shown that ‘prevailing’ in upland Wales is one of many wind directions, and certainly
not like the more predictable direction of a coastal or plateau site.

I would just add that the Institute of Acoustics and DECC are not examining noise because
they have time on their hands, but it is as a result of pressure from parties outside the wind
industry and WAG.

Flooding

The Minister asks what figures underpin GALAR’s evidence with regard to flooding, they are
in fact the figures produced by the Meteorological Office, an example of which we offer
below. These show that since reliable recording began in 1910 four out of the five heaviest
average rainfalls for the UK have occurred since 2000. Further, when the Met Office
announced the 2012 results it predicted that further ‘heavy’ rain years were inevitable in the
near future, due to Global Warming producing the conditions for the formations of heavy rain
clouds.

While I realise that predictive statistics are not an exact science evidence from such august
bodies as the IPCC say that extreme weather patterns will increase due to Global Warming
and many independent Meteorological Experts predict the UK will have at least another
abnormal rain year, within the next four years and the 2000 record will fall within the next
eight years.

Page 15



Professor David MacKay (Chief Scientific Advisor to DECC) says in his book ‘Sustainable
Energy Without Hot Air’ that up to four times more rainfall occurs on Mountains and higher
ground. Which is true of Wales; there is nowhere in Wales which will flood by virtue of the
rain falling directly on it. All floods are caused by water flowing from higher ground faster
than the flooded area can dispose of the water.

Professor Dieter Helm (Currently advising DEFRA, but has held previous appointments
advising Tony Blair, DECC, the EU etc.) wrote in his book ‘The Carbon Crunch’ that despite
all our efforts the atmospheric CO2 is increasing, and while the EU’s direct contribution may
be falling a little, it is more than offset by Carbon Imports.

GALAR asks that a minimum amount of water is retained on the high ground where we are
proposing to build Wind Farms. That the best time to do it is when the heavy duty machinery
is available on the installation of the Wind Turbines to create the Dams Dykes and Ditches
needed to retain the water. This will alleviate flood risk at lower strata.

Further GALAR ask that the water retained be used to combine with dry goods to create the
thousands of tonnes of cement required by to construct the Wind Farm offsetting the carbon
debt of Wind Farm construction in carting water in Ready Mix cement in six cubic meter
loads.

Further GALAR asks that some water be retained in pools suitable for use by the Fire
Services in tackling forest fires, accidentally or maliciously started. These fires occur
annually, and we maintain that the presence of Wind Turbines will alter the dynamic of their
occurrence, and the risk to our Fire Officers. (This matter was raised, as a single issue for
GALAR by our AM Rhodri Glynn Thomas and Mr. Bowen Head of Planning
Carmarthenshire, after several months the Forestry Commission as was, failed to deliver any
sort of satisfactory reply).

This mitigation helps answer the predictions of our Meteorological Office and the advice of
Professors MacKay and Helm, and is far more practical and robust than the National
Planning Policy.

Five Wettest Years

Since 1910

1.2000 - 1,337.3mm
2.2012 -1,330.7mm
3.1954 - 1,309.1mm
4.2008 - 1,295.0mm
5.2002 - 1,283.7mm
(Source: Met Office)

(Please note these are UK averages, areas in both Wales and Scotland showed higher
individual scores in 2012 .)

Review of Planning Guidance

Page 16



At no point in the petition, or our evidence do we ask for a wholesale review of TANS. In
fact as written above, we ask that aspects of TAN 8, currently ignored by developers, are
fully implemented.

We do ask that all planning matters relating to Wind Farms accept the need to adapt to new
circumstance. Knowledge of wind shear and AM, non European supply of products, new
IPCC and Meteorological forecasts, all precede TAN 8. Political targets have increased,
along with turbine size, all impacting on planning accommodation. It is both unrealistic and
unsustainable to try and put today’s quart into yesterday’s pint pot.

While I would agree that local councils should be at the heart of developments below SOMW,
in practise I do not see why guidelines affecting LDP’s should emanate from Cardiff Bay.
Surely devolution was meant to travel all the way down the M4? 50MW is a tiny amount of
energy which, with wind technology, has a massive impact on local communities, it should
be in the gift of local councillors to democratically decide on how their communities fulfil
their renewable energy requirements.

I would suggest the Minister’s insistence that the aspects of TAN 8, of which he approves,
should be set in stone, and the Centralised Government control implications of WAG ‘advice’
are a symptomatic of the political and cultural divisions that bedevil Wales.

Community Benefit

The present level of community benefit is around £5,000 per installed MW a miniscule
amount. The Minister says he is working with the onshore wind industry to increase levels of
Welsh investment which will set new levels of community benefit.

We would save the Minister the embarrassment of going cap in hand, to beg from an industry
which constantly underperforms, is led and supported by the lobby system, and will be
shuttling subsidised profit out of the country.

The petition asked for a reform of community benefit with money been sourced from the
landlords and DECC. We want a cross party committee, which will take evidence and devise
a method, using the new tax raising powers, to cash in on the windfall profits.

We would also like the name Community Benefit changed to Environmental
Compensation. This will reflect what the money is for, and remove the taint of the rich
benefactor throwing a handful of coins to the street urchins.

In respect of the Developers contribution, increasing it will only fall as a burden on all
consumers. It is now firmly world opinion to have firms like Amazon and Starbucks paying
a fair amount of tax into the country where the profits are being generated. This is true of
wind developers in Wales. We would ask the new cross party committee to devise
Environmental Compensation which is a reflection of profit and not a charge set against
income.

This is why we called for an all party committee to examine ways that will significantly
increase what should rightly be called Environmental Compensation. The days of Parish
handouts ended in the depression of the 1930’s. In order to regenerate the communities and
pay full compensation to people in affected properties an annual charge of £24,000 per

Page 17



installed MW, and a weighted rate of £28,000 in Swansea and the valleys is needed. This
would be an ideal opportunity to use devolved tax raising powers.

Tourism

GALAR does not do tourism, I have passed the paragraphs on this to our local tourism guru’s
with the warning on confidentiality, until the Ministers letter is in the public domain.

Wind Farm Moratorium

We are only asking for a Moratorium until a new deal is available to the SSA’s and
individual applications. Many of the subjects could be retrospective, and others like
2002/49/EC (European Noise Directive) are in the WAG’s hands. It would be perfectly
acceptable to concentrate the reforms within the SSA’s. It is hardly surprising the Minister
rejects our petition, as power would be devolved from Cardiff Bay.

Yours Sincerely

James Shepherd Foster

Page 18



Agenda Iltem 5.3

P-04-422 : Fracking
Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Minister for

Environment and Sustainable Development to produce a Ministerial Interim
Minerals Planning Policy Statement as well as a new technical advice note to
strengthen the precautionary principle with regard to planning applications
for onshore oil and gas, including fracking. All reasonable scientific doubt
that there is any risk of adverse impacts must be eliminated, and strongest
consideration must be given to the urgent need to mitigate climate change.

Petition raised by: Friends of the Earth Cymru
Date petition first considered by Committee: 2 October 2012

Number of signatures: Approximately 1000

Page 19



Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio _ f
Minister for Housing and Regeneration ﬁJ)

7
Carl Sargeant AC / AM "Nﬁgﬂ
i

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-422
Ein cyf/Our ref CS/00748/13

William Powell AM

AM for Mid & West Wales
Chair

Petition's committee

Ty Hywel
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff P
CF99 1NA May 2013

Dear William,

Our current planning policy contained in Planning Policy Wales, Minerals Planning Policy
Wales, and the supporting Technical (and Mineral) Advice Notes sets out a precautionary
approach, and identifies that in embracing a presumption in favour of sustainable

Minerals Planning Policy Wales identifies that in relation to energy minerals local (mineral)
planning authorities must provide as much guidance in their development plans as possible
to indicate where it is likely to be environmentally acceptable for mineral resources to be
worked. To achieve this degree of certainty, policies should state where such operations
would not be acceptable and should provide unequivocal statements as to why, and should

Planning Policy Wales.

Policies should distinguish clearly between the three stages of exploration, appraisal and
development. It will be necessary for an operator to obtain pPlanning permission for each of
these stages of development. Mineral planning authorities should establish with the
Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) the areas which are licensed, and
identify any environmental and other constraints on production and processing in those
areas.

In addition to needing a relevant licence from DECC itis also necessary for an operator to
obtain an Environmental Permit from Natural Resources Wales before any development can

Bae Caerdydd » Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydd « Cardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
CF99 1NA Correspondence.tarl,Sargeant@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu ( 100{@ age 20 Printed on 100% recycled paper



take place. The diagram overleaf identifies all the required consents that an operator would
need before shale gas extraction could take place.

DECC: award of exclusive Petroleum Exploration & Development

Licence after open competition

v
DECC: online well ¢ | Loc"al-Authdtjity «—»| NRW Statutory
application for <96 Planning Permission Consultee
hr testing J 1
DECC checks with v
HSE/ NRW before HSE - NRW — Environmental Permit
i Notification * Notices
well consent ; « Abstraction licences
‘ + Discharge & RSR permits

DECC: 90-day extended well test
(EWT) & fracking consent, if
required.

Exploration Well

Minerals Planning Policy Wales also identifies that in respect of groundwater and surface
water issues mineral planning authorities must consult the Environment Agency [now
Natural Resources Wales] and, where doubt exists, should adopt the precautionary principle
in taking planning decisions on mineral development.

My officials are continuing to engage with the UK Government and the respective agencies
to ensure robust and consistent evidence is developed, and are also keeping under review
the need to produce new planning guidance as this evidence comes forward.

However | believe the current precautionary policy position in Wales, together with the
controls provided through other regulatory bodies, provide sufficient safeguards for the
environment and society.

Carl Sargeant AC / AM
Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio
Minister for Housing and Regeneration

Page 21



Agenda Item 5.4

P-04-469 Remove the Right-To-Buy Regional Price Cap
Petition wording:

Removal the regional price cap of the Right-To-Buy scheme in Wales.

Wales has yet again been left in the dark ages with policies. The UK
government have outlined plans for a maximum of £75,000 discount in
England yet it is still capped at a measly £16,000. The disparity in wealth will
continue to grow and council tenants will never fulfil their ambitions of ever
purchasing their own home.

Petition raised by: James Jackson

Date petition first considered by Committee: 16 April 2013

Number of signatures : 171

Page 22



/
= ’ a—._._f'
Carl Sargeant AC / AM A\/ (g‘

Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio d
Minister for Housing and Regeneration ,J‘Q

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-469
Ein cyf/Our ref CS/00883/13

William Powell AM
Chair
Petitions Committee

William.powell@wales.gov.uk

A 0

May 2013
Dear William

PETITION NUMBER P-04-469 - REMOVAL OF THE REGIONAL PRICE CAP OF THE
RIGHT-TO-BUY SCHEME IN WALES

Thank you for your letter of 24 April concerning a 171 signature petition submitted by Mr
James Jackson. The petition requests an increase to the Right to Buy maximum discount
cash limit in Wales, which has stood at £16,000 since 2003.

The main provisions of the Right to Buy scheme are contained in primary legislation first
enacted by the UK Government in 1980. Much of this primary legislation, now contained
in the Housing Act 1985, is still applicable to Wales.

The Secretary of State for Wales did, however, have delegated power for secondary
legislation in a number of areas, including the Right to Buy maximum discount cash limit.
In 1998, the UK Government decided to reduce the maximum discount cash limit from
£50,000. They introduced regional limits throughout England, ranging from £24,000 to
£38,000. In Wales, the Secretary of State reduced the limit to £24,000 in early 1999.

When the National Assembly for Wales was established later in 1999, it assumed
devolved responsibility for secondary legislation in a number of areas, including housing.

In 2003, the UK Government decided to further reduce the discount cash limit to £16,000
in parts of south east England, due to concerns about a shortage of affordable housing
available for rent. In Wales, following consultation, Ministers also decided to reduce the
discount level further. However, they decided against reductions on a regional basis and
opted to set a new limit of £16,000 throughout Wales.

In April 2012, the UK Government increased the discount limit in England to £75,000. It is
their intention that homes sold as a result of the higher discount levels will be replaced by

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydd « Cardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
CF99 1NA Correspondence.Carl.Sargeant@wales.gsi.gov, uk

Wedi'i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailsylchupPiggje 23 Printed on 100% recycled paper



new homes for ‘affordable rent’ funded, in part, by the additional Right to Buy receipts.
There is a specific definition of affordable rent in England.

The Welsh Ministers decided not implement similar changes in Wales. That is because,
under the provisions of the Government of Wales Act 2006, the Welsh Government now
has full legislative powers in a number of areas, including housing.

Using these powers, it is open to the Welsh Ministers to propose changes to any aspect
of the Right to Buy scheme, including those enshrined in primary legislation.

Two years ago, the National Assembly for Wales passed the Housing (Wales) Measure
2011. The Measure allows local authorities to apply to the Welsh Ministers for a direction
to suspend the Right to Buy in areas of housing pressure for a period of up to five years.

The Welsh Ministers were concerned that, for many years, there had been no formal
provisions to replace social housing stock sold under the Right to Buy scheme. The
Housing (Wales) Measure 2011 sought to address this.

Demand for housing in Wales exceeds supply. So, while the Welsh Government
recognises the aspiration of many social housing tenants to own their home, we must
also have regard to the requirements of people who do not have a home which meets
their needs.

We do not intend, therefore, to replicate the UK Government’s approach in terms of
increasing Right to Buy discounts. Different approaches by different legislatures are, of
course, an inevitable result of devolution. We consider that our approach is best suited to
the needs of the people of Wales.

Carl Sargeant AC/ AM
Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio
Minister for Housing and Regeneration

Page 24



Agenda Iltem 5.5

P-04-385 Petition regarding balloon and lantern releases

Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government
to legislate against the intentional release of balloons and Chinese (or Air)
lanterns into the air.

Petition raised by: Bryony Bromley
Date petition first considered by Committee: 1 May 2012
Number of signatures: 564

Supporting information:

The Cardiff Regional Eco-Committee (made up of pupil representatives from
Cardiff Green Flag Eco-Schools) recently passed a motion to work towards
legislation to prevent mass intentional Balloon and Chinese/ Air Lantern
Releases due to the damaging effect that they have on wildlife, both on land
and at sea.

Balloon Releases

There have been many cases of wildlife being discovered with latex balloons
in their stomachs, blocking their intestinal tract: Marine species, particularly
marine turtles and some sea birds, may mistake floating balloons for their
jellyfish prey and swallow them, or become entangled and drown. Once
swallowed, a balloon may block the digestive tract and eventually lead to
death by starvation. The Marine Conservation Society (MCS) have carried out
autopsies on a considerable number of marine wildlife that have been found
washed up on beaches, confirming the results of balloon litter on the
digestive tract.

The NFU has publicised the risk of grazing animals choking on balloons and
in balloons contaminating hay, again posing a choking risk
(http://www.telegraph.co.uk/earth/agriculture/farming/8494881/Farmer-
wins-compensation-after—-Red-Nose-Day-balloon-kills-cow.html)

Recent marketing campaigns have suggested that it is possible to carry out
an ‘eco-friendly’ balloon release using biodegradable balloons able to
decompose at the same rate as an Oak leaf.

° Oak leaves are very high in tannins and can take two years to fully
decompose if not exposed to high levels of sunlight or water.

Following research in 2008, Keep Wales Tidy has stated that intentional
balloon releases should be considered a form of littering. Since beginning to

Page 25



record balloon litter as part of their LEAMS surveys in 2008-09, Keep Wales
Tidy has observed balloon litter in each of Wales’ 22 local authorities. In one
county balloon litter has been observed on 17% of streets.

The Marine Conservation Society has run campaigns to stop balloon releases,
since 1996 and there are currently at least 23 authorities in the UK who have
upheld a ban on mass balloon releases. Data shows that the amount of
balloon litter found on Welsh beaches has unfortunately trebled over the last
15 years as the practice becomes more popular.

Approximately 10% of balloons released into the air fall back to earth intact.
This figure is higher when the balloon is tied with plastic ribbons and tags.

http://www.mcsuk.org/downloads/pollution/dont%20let%20qgo.pdf

Chinese/ Air lanterns

The Marine and Coastguard Agency has warned of the dangers of Chinese
lanterns, based on them being confused with distress flares.

The RSPCA has warned that the wire structure of lanterns could cause
"extreme discomfort" to cattle if ingested.

The National Farmers Union has called for a ban on Chinese lanterns, owing
to the danger posed to grazing animals.

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-11265560

Owing to the fire hazard, the Chief Fire Officers Association (CFOA) recently
warned people against releasing the lanterns, saying although they looked
spectacular "once airborne they cannot be controlled".

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news /uk-england-13934378

The Irish Aviation Association has highlighted the risk lanterns pose to
aviation and is now demanding that permission be sought from them for any
releases in the Republic of Ireland. They also insist that the nearest Air
Traffic Control Unit, the Irish Coastguard and local Garda Station be
informed.

(Publication by the Irish Aviation Association, Sky Lanterns and the risk to
Aviation.)

Page 26



John Griffiths AC /AM
Gweinidog yr Amgylchedd a Datblygu Cynaliadwy
Minister for Environment and Sustainable Development

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-385
Ein cyf/Our ref JG/00389/13

William Powell AM

AM for Mid & West Wales
Chair Petition's committee
Ty Hywel

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1NA

Naomi.stocks@Wales.gsi.gov.uk

[\
I\

ﬁ%w (I § j“ \,

N (ﬁ
et

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

16 April 2013

Thank for your letter of 27 February regarding the independent research project on the
impact of sky lanterns and helium balloons on livestock, plants and the environment. | can
confirm that the research report will be shared with the Committee following publication,

which is now expected to take place at the end of April.

e
( —— AN
N
x%ﬁ'ﬂ“’}: .
—
Alun Davies

Minister for Natural Resources and Food
Gwenidog Cyfoeth Naturiol a Bwyd

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay
Caerdydd s Cardiff

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (10$

English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400

Correspondence.John.Griffiths@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Printed on 100% recycled paper



Sky lanterns and helium balloons: an ADAS
assessment of impacts on livestock
and the environment

Prepared as a joint report for: Prepared by:
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs ADAS
Livestock Policy Division Pendeford House
Ergon House Wobaston Road
London Wolverhampton
SW1P 2AL WV6 8TQ
Welsh Government May 2013

Department for Environment and Sustainable Development
Cathays Park

Cardiff
CF10 3NQ
e /=

¢
Department w
for Enwmm ¥ Llywodraeth Cymru
Food & Rural Affairs Welsh Government

Page 28

CP00%
0936648



ADAS Project Team

David Moorhouse, project manager

Steven Tompkins, project lead on evidence from stakeholders

Rebecca Carter, project lead on desk-review of literature

Yiying Cao, market evaluation of sky lantern and helium balloon supply industry

Specialist colleagues have also provided expert support in gathering and evaluating evidence
on impacts on animal health and welfare and marine ecology.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank all those who helped them prepare this report, in particular the
stakeholders and representatives of the sky lantern and helium balloon industry.

Finally, grateful thanks to Defra and Welsh Government for their co-operation, help and
assistance, particularly with providing access details for stakeholders.

Page 29



Contents

1. EXecutive SUMMArY ... s sssnsns 1
2. Introduction and Methodology.........cccurnmrinmnnnnnsnsssss e 4
2.1 = e Qo T o 11 T Lo 4
2.2 Objectives of Study .........ccooiiiiiiiiicccc e 4
2.3 7 2= To o [ ] Lo Yo V7 5
3. Review of IMPacts........ccccrinnn s 8
3.1 Livestock and animal health (including marine animals).............cccc....... 9
3.2 Fire risk and damage to crops and property ........cccccceiiimreciiirmrenssseeeennens 11
3.3 Impacts on environment, littering on land and at sea..........ccccccovvvrennnnnns 13
3.4 Risks to aviation..........ooueeciiii - 15
3.5 Risks to coastal rescue ServiCes.......cccccveriiiiiiiiimmmennc 17
3.6 Risks to consumer safety ... 19
3.7 Helium reSoUrcCes. ... s 20
4. Sky lantern and helium balloon industry ...........cccocormniercrnsnnnssse s 21
4.1 Consumer base and structure of the industry........cccceeeecciiiiiiiiiieeennnnee, 21
4.2 Industry response to addressing safety, environmental and other
1] o = e £ 22
4.3 Industry regulation of product quality........cccceemmeeeiiiiiiiiees 23
4.4 Market size, value and numbers employed.............cceviiiiiiiiiinnn, 24

5. Control measures for sky lanterns and helium balloons in England and

Wales and in other EU Member States...........ccccvivininmninnnnnnsnsssssnssnsseseseneens 27
5.1 Local INItIAtiVES ...cceuieeeiieeii e e e e e e e nns 27
5.2 National INItiatives .......ccoeeeiiiieiii e e e 28
T 0 Tod 113 o TSR 31
6.1 Review of IMPaCtS......cccuciiiieccrcc s e e 31
6.2 Sky Lantern and Helium Balloon Industry Representation.................... 33
6.3 Scale, Turnover and Number of Employees.........ccccmveemncciiiiininrneennnnnnnn, 33

APPENDIX 1 Introductory project letter sent by Defra and Welsh Government to

stakeholders on 15 January 2013..........ccoonnn s ————- 34
APPENDIX 2 Follow up letter sent by Defra and Welsh Government to stakeholders on 4

FEBruary 2013 ... 35
APPENDIX 3a Interview Guidance Form for Stakeholders ...........ccouuirnninnnsnnncsssssssssesssesesssesssenens 36

Page 30



APPENDIX 3b Interview Guidance Form for Sky Lantern and Helium Balloon Suppliers and

DiStrIDULOLS ... —————————— 41
APPENDIX 4 List of Stakeholders CONSUIEd ............coverenrcnmrerncncnsnsssesssssse e sssnses 45
APPENDIX 5 Literature and Interview Evidence Summary Tables..........ccccorerererererernnesenesenenenenns 46
APPENDIX 6 Member State Information...........ccovrrnnnssss e 62
APPENDIX 7a Sky Lantern Release Product Safety Guidelines...........ccoeoerererererencscsnsenesesesenenennns 65
APPENDIX 7b Guidelines and Code of Conduct for Balloon Releases (NABAS)............covereenne 67
APPENDIX 8 List Of RefErences. ..o ssssssssssssssssseseses 69

Page 31



1. Executive Summary

There is increasing concern, from a wide range of stakeholders about the possible impacts of
sky lanterns and helium balloons on livestock and the environment. Particular concerns
include the perceived risks to animal welfare through ingestion of debris, litter in the
countryside, the sea and on the coastline, risks to aviation and impacts on coastal rescue
services. Since sky lanterns contain a naked flame, there are additional concerns about the
fire risk to buildings, property and crops from uncontrolled landing.

To date, much of the evidence presented has been largely anecdotal in nature. This study,
jointly commissioned by English and Welsh Governments aimed to establish a robust and
dependable evidence base to help inform any future decisions that may be made on sky
lanterns and helium balloons, for example restrictions on sale and / or use. Risks were
identified and assessed in relation to livestock health and welfare, the environment (with
particular reference to litter), fire risk, damage to marine life and consumer safety.

The following working definitions are used in this report:-

e Sky lanterns (also known as ‘Chinese’ lanterns): small hot air balloons typically
around 100cm high and with a diameter of approximately 60cm; they are made of
paper with an opening at the bottom where a small fire is suspended;

e Helium balloons: made of latex or foil, inflated with helium gas and typically 25cm to
30cm in height. Larger balloons, often used for commercial or advertising purposes
are not within the scope of this report.

To gather evidence, the project team carried out a desk-based literature review and
telephone interviews with key stakeholder groups.

The aim of the literature review was to identify and critically appraise evidence on the
impacts of sky lanterns and helium balloons on livestock health and welfare and the
environment. An online scientific research database was used to identify peer-reviewed
journals. In addition, non-scientific literature was reviewed from the popular farming press
and from national, regional and local news websites. Material from key lobby organisations
and special interest groups was also appraised. The focus of the review was primarily on
England and Wales, but additional evidence was collected from other EU Member States,
particularly where a ban or restriction on the use of sky lanterns and mass release of helium
balloons has already been instigated.

In preparation for the telephone interviews, an official letter from Defra and the Welsh
Government was sent to interested parties (a total of 92 recipients), encouraging them to
contact the project team if they wished to provide evidence. A structured telephone interview
form was designed and finalised in agreement with Defra and the Welsh Government. A
second form was developed specifically for use with representatives of the sky lantern and
helium balloon sectors, to enable additional information to be collected on market size,
trends and the value of these products in England and Wales. Overall, 10 stakeholders gave
evidence via a telephone interview and 23 provided written information following an initial
telephone contact.

The results of the desk review and the telephone interviews were summarised in a matrix
format. A number-based scoring system was used, so that data were assessed for
independence, reliability and robustness. In total, over 150 references were considered but
only 74 of these were eventually selected as evidence relevant to this study. Seven potential
impacts were reviewed and for each, the evidence collected was considered separately for

Page 32



sky lanterns and helium balloons. The main conclusions in relation to the present situation in
England and Wales are as follows:-

1 Risks to livestock and animal health (including marine animals)

Anecdotal reports and media coverage suggest widespread concern from farming groups
and others over the impacts of sky lanterns on the health and welfare of livestock and
horses. However, the evidence reviewed indicates that the number of cases reported each
year of animals affected through panic and fright and of ingestion of sky lantern debris is very
small. It is recognised that there may be a significant level of under-reporting and that some
businesses may be more vulnerable if they are close to and downwind of an event location.
On the basis of the evidence presented, it is difficult to conclude that the overall impact is
anything other than of minor significance.

The main concern regarding helium balloons is in relation to ingestion by animals. Whilst
there may again be a significant level of under-reporting, the current evidence indicates that
the impact is very small and confined to only isolated incidents.

Any harm to marine life often goes unseen, given the inaccessibility of habitats. More
detailed diagnosis and improved recording of land-based incidents in future would enable the
extent of the risks to be more accurately quantified.

2 Fire risk (sky lanterns only)

Incidents in which sky lanterns were said to be directly implicated in starting fires have been
reported from a variety of sources, including the Chief Fire Officers Association (CFOA).
Given that any of these individual incidents has the potential to cause significant disruption,
loss of property and risk to human and animal life, the project team has concluded that fire
risk associated with the use of sky lanterns is significant. Further consideration is required
regarding potential mitigation options, which should consider both the use and the design of
sky lanterns. Whilst some manufacturers have sought to improve sky lantern design and thus
reduce the associated fire risk, others have been less proactive.

3 Impacts on the environment, littering on land and at sea

The project team concluded that the contribution of sky lantern debris to overall
environmental littering is small and less significant than potential fire risks and risks to
aviation and coastal rescue services. However, the localised effects of littering can be large
in certain areas. Recent surveys have enabled evidence to be collected in relation to litter
from helium balloons and from these the project team has again concluded that this is only of
minor significance. Speed of degradation of balloon debris is an important factor and the
currently-available evidence on the rate of latex degradation is considered inconclusive.
Clarification would provide useful evidence of the extent to which balloon litter is likely to
contribute to the overall environmental impact.

4 Risks to aviation

The Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) has provided quantifiable evidence of 48 incidents
reported to be due to sky lanterns and helium balloons between 2001 and 2012, with sky
lanterns accounting for 40 of these and only four of the remaining eight being due to small
helium balloons (the focus of this report). When airborne, sky lanterns pose a safety risk to
aviation due to possible ingestion into engines. When aircraft are on the ground, sky lantern
debris can pose a risk to taxiing aircraft and cause delays to take-off and landing. CAA
guidelines state that sky lanterns should not be released within 10 nautical miles of an
airfield, but it is unlikely that the casual user is aware of this. Furthermore, there is an
inconsistency between these guidelines and typical product guidance provided with sky
lanterns. We conclude that there is a clear need for better consumer information from
suppliers that is consistent with CAA guidelines.

Page 33



The risk to aviation from helium balloons is due to aircraft manoeuvring to avoid them. Mass
release of balloons is seen as a potential problem but industry codes of conduct stipulate the
need for compliance with CAA guidelines. No information was presented to the project team
to suggest that additional control measures are needed.

5 Risks to coastal rescue services

The project team has concluded, on the basis of well-documented evidence received that sky
lanterns pose a significant risk to the proper and effective operation of coastal rescue
services. The risk is due to sky lanterns, particularly when red sky lanterns are deployed,
being mistaken for distress flares. It is concluded that the most practical mitigation to reduce
the risk of false call-outs would be the introduction of a voluntary ban on the sale of red
lanterns. Data from the UK Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCA) indicates that the
number of false call-outs likely to have been caused by sky lanterns increased to a peak in
2010. Incidents in subsequent years have been lower. No evidence has been found of any
adverse impacts of helium balloons on coastal rescue services.

6 Risks to consumer safety

There is very little evidence to link either sky lanterns or helium balloons with risks to
consumer safety at present. This is in marked contrast to the well-documented risks
associated with fireworks.

7 Helium resources (helium balloons only)

Public concerns over the possible depletion of helium reserves to inflate balloons are
countered by industry insistence that the helium is sourced from recycled gas previously
used in the medical industry, subsequently mixed with air. It has not been possible to make
an informed assessment of the impact on helium reserves, but widely-reported increases in
the market price of helium may have a self-limiting effect on non-essential uses, including
balloon filling, in the future.

The Sky Lantern and Helium Balloon Sectors

The sky lantern sector does not have a dedicated trade body to represent and co-ordinate
the activities of suppliers and facilitate sector-wide initiatives. Improved designs which could
reduce risks are already widely-available but have not been universally adopted by all
manufacturers. In contrast, the helium balloon sector is well-represented by trade
organisations and is able to demonstrate considered and tangible evidence of the sector’s
commitment to minimising risks.

The current annual turnover of the UK sky lantern market is variously valued at between £6m
and £16m, based on an estimated average retail price of £2 per unit. There is evidence that
the size of the market has recently contracted. The companies supplying sky lanterns tend to
be small in terms of the number of employees and it is concluded that there are probably
fewer than 100 individuals directly employed within the sector in the UK. The retail value of
the UK market for helium balloons was estimated to be around £150m in 2012. Data has
been provided on the number of businesses involved and people employed but there may be
a degree of duplication and it is not clear that the numbers quoted relate to businesses that
are solely engaged with the balloon sector. Nevertheless, this sector is associated with a
significant level of economic activity.

Page 34



2.  Introduction and Methodology

21 Background

There is increasing concern about the possible impacts of sky lanterns and helium balloons
on livestock and the environment. Particular concerns include the perceived risks to animal
welfare through ingestion of debris, litter in the countryside, the sea and on the coastline,
risks to aviation and impacts on coastal rescue services. Since sky lanterns contain a naked
flame, there are additional concerns about the fire risk to buildings, property and crops from
uncontrolled landing.

These concerns have been expressed by a wide range of stakeholders, including the farming
and aviation sectors, the UK fire and rescue services and charity organisations such as Keep
Wales Tidy, the Marine Conservation Society and the RSPCA. Issues relating to sky lanterns
and helium balloons have been given media coverage in recent years, particularly in the
agricultural press and on television.

To date, much of the evidence presented to Governments in both England and Wales about
the impacts of sky lanterns and helium balloons on livestock and the environment has been
largely anecdotal in nature and it has been difficult to quantify the risks because of the lack of
reliable and robust information.

2.1.1 Working definitions

Sky lanterns: also known as ‘Chinese’ lanterns are small hot air balloons typically used at
celebratory or commemorative events. They are made of paper with an opening at the
bottom where a small fire is suspended. They are typically 100cm high with a diameter of
approximately 60cm.

Helium balloons: a coloured latex or foil balloon inflated with helium gas and sealed at the
neck typically used as a children’s toy, party accessory or decoration. They are typically
25cm — 30cm in height. The scope of this report does not include larger balloons used in
commercial applications, for example weather balloons and large tethered balloons (often in
excess of 5m long) used for advertising purposes.

2.2  Objectives of study

This study was jointly commissioned on 9 January 2013 by English and Welsh Governments
in order to establish a robust and dependable evidence base to help inform any future
decisions that may be made on sky lanterns and helium balloons, for example restrictions on
sale and / or use.

Overall, the study aimed to identify and assess the risks associated with sky lanterns and
helium balloons to livestock health and welfare, the environment (with particular reference to
litter), fire risk, damage to marine life and consumer safety.

In particular, the key objectives of the project were as follows:

Pagé 35



Objective 1

To gather evidence, through a desk-based literature review and telephone interviews with
key stakeholder groups (as listed in 2.3.2).

Objective 2

To evaluate the evidence gathered in Objective 1, develop a robust and in-depth evidence
base on the impacts of sky lanterns and helium balloons and draw conclusions as
appropriate. This will help inform the Government’s response to any call for action in England
and/or Wales.

Objective 3

To prepare and deliver a final report in English with an Executive Summary translated into
Welsh.

2.3  Methodology

The study was carried out during January to April 2013 and the approach is set out below.
Table 1 summarises the timing of key inputs:

Table 1 Overview of key project inputs

Input Key Dates 2013
Project start date 9 January

Project inception meeting with Defra, WG 11 January
Introductory letter sent out to stakeholders 15 January

Follow-up letter to stakeholders 4 February

Completion of structured telephone interview form 30 January

Undertake literature review 4 February to 21 March
Carry out stakeholder interviews 11 February to 5 March
Analysis and report drafting 26 February to 12 April
Meeting with Defra, WG to discuss preliminary findings 8 March

Preparation of first draft report 15 March

Preparation of final report 16 April

Objective 1- Evidence Gathering
2.3.1 Desk-based literature review

The aim was to identify, review and critically appraise evidence on the impacts of sky
lanterns and helium balloons on livestock health and welfare and the environment, with
particular reference to littering and damage to marine life. The scope of the review included
peer-reviewed journals and grey literature, i.e. non-scientific literature websites such as
those of the popular farming press, and national, regional and local news websites. Material
from the key lobby organisations and special interest groups was also reviewed.

The focus for the literature review was primarily on evidence relating to England and Wales,
but reference is also made to evidence from other EU Member States where a ban or
restriction on the use of sky lanterns and mass release of helium balloons has already been
instigated.

Page 36



Key references that have been assessed include:

e Scientific literature from research databases;
e General position statements released by local authorities;

e Farming industry related sources such as: National Farmers Union (NFU), Women'’s
Food and Farming Union (WFU), Farmers Union of Wales, Farmers Guardian, Farmers
WeeKly;

e Government agency sources, such as Environment Agency, Food Standards Agency,
Animal Health and Veterinary Laboratories Agency (AHVLA);

e Key association publications e.g. Local Government Association, Country Land and
Business Association (CLA), Chief Fire Officers Association (CFOA), Civil Aviation
Authority (CAA); and

e Local/regional news articles.

To carry out the scientific section of the literature review, the online scientific research
database ‘Scopus’ was initially used. Other research databases were used at the discretion
of the project team to give a wider overview of available literature. The review included a list
of search terms including (but not restricted to), ‘sky lanterns OR Chinese lanterns OR
helium balloons AND mass release, litter, environment, fire, crop damage, aviation, human
health and livestock health and welfare’. The review also included a search on the effects of
other litter-based hazards to livestock and the environment using search terms including (but
not restricted to), ‘fireworks and plastic bags’.

2.3.2 Telephone interviews with key stakeholders

The aim was to seek information and evidence of impacts in relation to helium balloons and
sky lanterns from a range of different stakeholders, including suppliers, relevant authorities
and other sectors which may be affected.

Planning and delivering the telephone interviews involved a number of steps:

a) Preparation of an official letter by Defra and the Welsh Government, dated 15" January
2013 (Appendix 1). The objective was to inform interested parties that the project was
underway and that they might be contacted by ADAS to get their views on the subject. The
letter was sent by Defra and the Welsh Government, to a total of 92 recipients using existing
key stakeholder lists held by them under the following categories:

e Local authorities in England and Wales;

e Veterinary and farming groups, e.g. the British Veterinary Association (BVA) and National
Farmers’ Union (NFU);

e Fire Services and HM Coastguard;

e Charities, for example Marine Conservation Society (MCS), Keep Wales Tidy (KWT),
RSPCA, RSPB;

e Sky lantern and helium balloon suppliers and distributors;

e Other government departments with a related interest e.g. Business Innovation and Skills
(BIS), Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG); and

e Other EU Member States.

Pagé 37



b) This initial letter was followed-up by a further reminder letter (Appendix 2) on the 4"
February 2013 to actively encourage interested parties to contact ADAS if they wanted to
provide evidence to the project team. A list of interested parties for subsequent interviews by
ADAS was compiled.

c) A structured telephone interview form (Appendix 3a) was designed and finalised by ADAS
in agreement with Defra and the Welsh Government. A key objective was to ensure that the
form captured as much empirical evidence as possible from stakeholders. A second
stakeholder interview form (Appendix 3b) was designed specifically for the sky lantern and
helium balloon industry. This was sent principally to the recognised associations for the
leisure, hospitality and party industries including NABAS (The National Association of
Balloon Artists and Suppliers, commonly referred to as the Balloon Association) and BAPIA
(The Balloon and Party Industry Alliance).

d) Telephone interviews were carried out between 11" February and 5" March 2013.
Stakeholders either provided verbal information by telephone interview or, following a
telephone discussion, they completed the interview framework in the form of a written
response or provided written evidence as a personal response. Overall 10 stakeholders gave
evidence via a telephone interview and 23 provided written information, following an initial
telephone contact. The organisations consulted are listed in Appendix 4 and included:

e Farming groups including the National Farmers’ Union (NFU), Farming Union of Wales
(FUW), Country Landowners and Business Association (CLA), Women’'s Food and
Farming Union (WFU) and the Rural Farming Networks (RFN) across the country;

e Veterinary groups including British Veterinary Association (BVA), British Cattle Veterinary
Association (BVCA), British Veterinary Zoological Society (BVZA) and the Goat
Veterinary Society (GVS);

e Nominated local authority contacts;

e Nominated fire service contacts such as the Chief Fire Officers Association (CFOA);
e Marine and Coastguard Agency (MCA);

¢ Auviation authorities including the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) and selected airports;
e Sky lantern retailers and distributors;

e Helium balloon manufactures and distributors;

e Charities and vested interest groups such as Marine Conservation Society and Keep
Wales Tidy;

e Other government departments, including the Department for Business Innovation and
Skills (BIS) and the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG);

e Selected EU Member States with an interest in the subject, confirmed from the desk
review; and

¢ Insurance companies.

The telephone interviews with stakeholders (excluding those from the supply industry),
provided an indication of the number of incidents associated with sky lanterns and helium
balloons, their impact on livestock and the environment and whether or not the number of
incidents has increased in recent years. They also provided information on possible
seasonal, regional and geographic links or trends.

The telephone interviews with the sky lantern and helium balloon industry helped to build a
picture of the estimated market size and value of these products in England and Wales, and

Page 38



to provide background information on trends, trade implications, sales outlets and any
regional differences in use.

Objective 2 - Evaluation of evidence
2.3.3. Evidence evaluation tool

The search results from both the desk review and the telephone interviews were summarised
in a matrix format (see Appendix 5). To assist the evaluation of data, a number-based
scoring system was used so that data were assessed for:

¢ Independence - the quality of the evidence based on the independence of the author;

¢ Reliability - the quality of the evidence based upon the information behind it, i.e.
anecdotal or study based; and

¢ Robustness - the quality of the evidence based on whether there are clear causal links
with sky lanterns or helium balloons.

Key factors considered included the date published, references cited, accuracy of information
and potential bias. In total, over 150 references were considered but only 74 of these were
eventually selected as evidence relevant to this study. These are summarised in Appendix
51-57.

Information gathered from the literature review and telephone interviews was used by the
project team as the basis for assessing the impacts of sky lanterns and helium balloons.
These are set out in Section 3. Where possible, this includes a quantitative assessment,
otherwise a qualitative narrative is provided.

3.  Review of Impacts

The following impacts were reviewed:

3.1 Livestock and animal health (including marine animals);

3.2 Fire risk and damage to crops and property;

3.3 Impact on the environment, including littering on land and at sea;
3.4 Risks to aviation;

3.5 Risk to coastal rescue services;

3.6 Risk to consumer safety; and

3.7 Threat to helium resources.

For each impact, the evidence collected was reviewed separately for sky lanterns and helium
balloons and the main findings are set out below. Where appropriate, these impacts were
compared to those relating to other devices such as fireworks, as requested in the ITT for
this project.

Tables summarising all the information collated are shown in Appendix 5. Where the relevant
information was available, numbers and types of incidents reported and recorded have been
included.

Pageé 39



3.1 Livestock and animal health (including marine animals)

3.1.1 Livestock and horses

Whilst airborne, both sky lanterns and helium balloons have potential to cause welfare issues
to animals — most notably by causing panic and fright. On falling to earth, there is the
possibility that debris from lanterns and balloons will be consumed by livestock and other
animals.

Evidence gathered from articles, reports and personal interviews is collated in Tables 5.1.1
and 5.1.2. When reviewing the evidence collected, it became clear to the project team that
there appeared to be a degree of overlap between some individual reports — i.e. the same
incident being reported in separate articles and/or being referred to in personal interviews.
Simply totalling the number of specific incidents cited may therefore give a false impression
as to the true extent of the issue and so for this reason the project team paid particular
attention to cross-referencing reports in an attempt to determine the most representative
overview.

Sky lanterns
Impacts on animal behaviour

It has been suggested that airborne sky lanterns can create fear and panic in animals as they
pass overhead. From the evidence available, this issue was more generally associated with
the impact on horses. For example, there were nine anecdotal accounts’ posted by British
Horse Society (BHS) members over the period 2010 — 2013 of horses that were reported to
have been ‘spooked’ (although not injured) as a result of sky lanterns flying nearby. ADAS
understands that the BHS has a membership of around 75,000 from approximately 550,000
horse owners / careers and an estimated population of almost one million horses and ponies
in Great Britain. This evidence from the BHS was the only source that specifically referred to
the impact of sky lanterns on animal behaviour although a number other reports alluded to
this as a possible outcome of lanterns landing in fields containing livestock.

It is important to note however that this potential impact may not be solely related to sky
lanterns. Other flying objects — most notably full-size hot air balloons (although not within the
scope of this report) — have been reported anecdotally to cause alarm to horses.

Ingestion of lantern debris

In recent years there have been reports of livestock or other animal loss, including cattle,
horses, sheep and goats as a result of ingestion of parts from sky lanterns. This could occur
either as a result of ingestion of lantern debris left on the field or through ingestion of wire or
bamboo fragments in forage, due to lantern debris being picked up in forage harvesting
equipment. The possible consequences of sky lantern ingestion (as highlighted by the
sources in each case), include: penetration of the reticular/rumen wall, penetration of the
heart, initiation of infection within the chest cavity, rupture of an abdominal blood vessel and
development of chronic localised peritonitis, causing further chronic digestive problems.

The most reliable evidence of wire ingestion being the cause of animal death is that provided
by post mortem examination by a veterinary surgeon and a number of such cases are cited
in Table 5.1.1 and 5.1.2. Establishing a clear link between the wire recovered on post
mortem and the source (in this case sky lanterns) is problematic and has been largely done

' www.horseaccidents.org.uk

Paye 40



on the basis of wire gauge. That is, lantern wire is much higher gauge (thinner) than other
potential sources such as fencing wire. Although the technique is not infallible, the evidence
suggests that cases reported via post mortem can be used as an accurate reflection of
animal losses due to ingestion of sky lantern wire debris.

The evidence presented to the project team of specific cases of injury or death to livestock
and horses came from 11 separate sources (two press articles and nine personal interviews)
and spanned the period 2010 to 2013. Of these reports, a total of 16 cases were cited of
injury or death to cattle, sheep or horses which were attributed to wire from sky lanterns.
Twelve of these cases (75%) were reported to have been confirmed by post mortem
examination. Whilst the latter is helpful in establishing the veracity of the majority of the
reports in question, it is important to note that the total number of cases actually reported to
the project team was very small. It is possible however that there may be a significant level of
under reporting by veterinary surgeons and others.

In recent years there have been attempts by some manufacturers to produce lanterns that
are less likely to lead to ingestion problems for livestock. For example, lanterns are now
available where the wire used to hold the fuel cell in place has been replaced with string or
similar material. Similarly, some designs now use bamboo instead of wire to provide
structure to the lanterns. However these design enhancements have not been universally
introduced and in the case of bamboo, it has been suggested that sharp splinters may be
produced if the bamboo is chopped-up in forage harvesting equipment. These may pose
risks to livestock health and welfare, although there were no reported incidents in the
evidence reviewed by the project team.

Another approach to addressing the problem of ingestion, as reported by the BBC (February
2013), is to insert a magnet into the stomach of cattle. The rationale was that the magnets
would attract wire fragments as well as other metal debris such as nails and fencing
materials, thereby preventing damage to the stomach wall. It is not however clear whether
this approach has been effective or not.

In summary, despite what appears to be widespread concern over behavioural impacts and
possible ingestion, the evidence provided to the project team indicates that the number of
cases reported each year (whether anecdotal or supported by post mortem) is very small in
the context of the wider livestock population. It is however recognised that there may be a
significant level of under-reporting at present and that the true impacts may be much higher.
Notwithstanding the possibility of under-reporting of incidents, on the basis of the evidence
presented here it is difficult to conclude that the overall impact on the livestock sector of sky
lantern use is anything other than of minor significance. However, local effects may be
important for some individual businesses, e.g. if downwind from an event location.

Helium balloons

The main health and welfare concern associated with helium balloons is the risk of animals
choking (and potentially dying), following ingestion of balloon debris.

Only four reports were provided to the project team (two press/TV reports and two personal
communications) and of these, only two reports actually cited cases which resulted in
choking and/or death of the animal. One report (verified by post mortem) involved choking
and death of a pedigree cow and the second (anecdotal) related to choking in a goat,
although it is unclear whether this resulted in the death of the animal concerned.

Whilst there may be a significant level of under-reporting (as was also noted above for sky
lanterns), the project team has concluded from the evidence provided that the impact of
helium balloons on livestock and horse health and welfare is very small.

Pag&’41



3.1.2 Marine animals

Concerns relate to direct ingestion of sky lanterns or helium balloons by marine animals and
also their potential contribution to marine debris — both in water and along the shoreline. The
main sources of information were peer-reviewed journals, news articles and information
provided by environmental organisations. A total of 18 reports were reviewed and these are
shown in Appendix 5.1. There was some specific mention of sky lanterns and balloons in
these, although the information was more concerned with plastic debris in general.

It is clear that, given the inaccessibility of habitats, any harm to marine life, from whatever
source often goes unseen and cases can usually only be recorded when marine life is
washed ashore and the impacts can be seen.

Sky lanterns

There were no reported incidences of sky lanterns affecting the health and welfare of marine
life. It is unclear whether species of marine life would ingest parts of a sky lantern if it landed
nearby.

Helium balloons

There has been one recorded death in the UK, this related to a juvenile green turtle near
Blackpool in 2001. Post mortem examination revealed a balloon in the stomach of the animal
but this was in addition to other pieces of plastic litter, which makes determining the exact
cause of death difficult. No other cases in the UK were reported which resulted in injury or
death.

3.2  Fire risk and damage to crops and property

Sky lanterns contain a fuel source that keeps an exposed flame alight, allowing hot air to
build up inside the lantern and causing it to float. This flame could pose a fire risk. The
project team evaluated 19 separate pieces of evidence — 13 from press articles and TV
reports and the remaining six from stakeholder contributions. This evidence spanned the
period from 2006 to 2013 and is documented in Appendix 5.2.

Sky lanterns

Sky lanterns float up into the air and remain airborne for as long as they are filled with hot air.
Therefore, they should only fall back to the ground when the fuel cell flame is extinguished.
In practice, the evidence suggests that this is not always the case, and lanterns sometimes
drift back to land whilst still alight. This can be due to inherent design and construction
weaknesses and/or to ineffective launching procedures or release in high winds. The result
is that the lantern could fall to the ground whilst still alight and could set fire to the canopy —
particularly if the lantern is not made of flame retardant material. This could then become a
significant fire hazard.

Much of the reported evidence of fire impacts from sky lanterns is anecdotal or reported in
news articles, validated in some cases by evidence from the Chief Fire Officers Association
(CFOA). The risks are mainly with respect to:

e Fires in agricultural crops;
e Fires in buildings; and

¢ Wildfires on moorland or similar land.

PaQe 42



The most definitive source of evidence from the 19 of those provided to the project team was
from the CFOA. They conducted a survey between 2009 and mid 2011 to evaluate the
impact of sky lanterns on fire risk incidents, in response to a feature on a BBC television
programme. This UK-based study was conducted among 60 fire and rescue services (FRS)
and 42 responded (70% participation). Among the findings from this survey were:

e 186 call outs (121 incidents; 65 false alarms) to sky lantern-related incidents, reported by
26 FRSs, representing 62% of those responding to the survey; and

e 26 out of the 42 FRSs that responded had issued warnings on sky lantern use (62%).

The frequency of FRS call-outs thought to be related to sky lanterns was reported to have
increased over the period of the survey, with 17 call-outs reported in 2009 and 82 cases in
2011. Whether this was due to an increase in the use of sky lanterns over the period in
question or to increased awareness from the public of the potential risks is not certain. In
addition, the project team were not able to establish whether there were any seasonal trends
in reported cases. It could be that sky lantern releases peak at certain times, such as
Halloween, New Year. The issue of sky lanterns is not believed to be a key focus for CFOA
at present, and it is understood that they have no plans to conduct any follow up research on
the subject.

Fourteen of the remaining 18 reports (from the 19 in total) cited cases where sky lanterns
were said to be directly implicated in starting fires in a variety of agricultural and non-
agricultural settings. Crop-related damage has been reported to both standing and stored
crops and to fields after harvesting. Examples include 10 hectares of standing cereals
reported to have been set alight in Oxfordshire in August 2009 (interview) and seven
hectares of barley in Oxfordshire set alight in 2010 (literature).

A number of ‘wildfire’ incidents (un-controlled fire in an area of vegetation) have been
reported to be caused by sky lanterns. These include eight fires in Dorset over the period
2008-2011 and an incident in Northumberland, caused by a lantern which took 20 fire
fighters four hours to extinguish (according to local press). Wildfires represent a danger to
human life and biodiversity (e.g. risks to rare nesting birds in heath and moorland). Concern
about wildfires is growing, due to the increasing frequency of extreme weather events such
as drought, which leads to drier vegetation that is more prone to ignition.

Because of the risk of double-counting of individual incidents, it is difficult to quantify the
exact number of fires or ‘near-misses’ that may have been attributed to sky lanterns.
However, on the basis of the available evidence, an estimated (minimum) of 81 separate
events have been identified over the period 2009 to 2013. Given that any one of these
individual incidents has the potential to cause significant loss of property and risk to human
and animal life, the project team have concluded that fire risk associated with the use of sky
lanterns is significant and one that warrants further consideration regarding potential
mitigation options.

Discussions with sky lantern suppliers confirmed that they have been working with
manufacturers to develop products that are considered to be safer and present a reduced fire
risk. This has largely focussed on the increased use of flame retardant materials in the
construction of the canopy and the inclusion of non-drip fuel cells. These are now widely (but
not universally) available through internet suppliers and other sources and are generally
advertised as being ‘eco-friendly’. Whilst this development can be viewed as being very
positive; further mitigations — mostly associated with use rather than design still need to be
identified and implemented. During discussions with two lantern suppliers a number of
possible mitigation measures were suggested. These were:

Pagé&43



e Improved user launch instructions indicating wind speeds over which lanterns should not
be released (one product guidance note suggests 5mph max).

e Not launching lanterns with damaged canopies, as this will lead to premature landing
whilst still alight.

A good example of consumer advice on the use of sky lanterns is included as Appendix 7a.
At the present time, there is no single trade body representing and co-ordinating the activities
of sky lantern suppliers which means that developing and implementing improved lantern
design and/or better consumer guidance is left to the discretion of the individual supplier.

Helium balloons

No incidents of damage to crops or property from helium balloons were reported to the
project team.

3.3 Impacts on environment, littering on land and at sea

When sky lanterns and helium balloons fall back to land or on to the sea, they are usually
some distance away from their point of release, and they are then generally described as
‘litter’. There is a range of evidence on the possible impacts of sky lantern and helium balloon
litter on the environment including scientific journals, information released by independent
bodies and qualitative information gathered through interview. These have all contributed to
the evidence base gathered and are summarised in Appendix 5.3.

The project team reviewed evidence from 11 separate sources (7 literature sources and 4
from personal interviews). The majority of the evidence focused exclusively on the impact of
helium balloons (7 out of the 11 reports) which probably reflects the greater concerns over
balloon littering, compared to that associated with sky lanterns.

Sky lanterns

The evidence provided in both the literature and from personal interviews was largely
anecdotal and in the case of the personal interviews, respondents described sky lantern
debris being picked up on a (more) regular basis from horticultural land and from hedges and
roadsides. However in both cases, it was not described as being a problem of major
significance or concern.

Although specific evidence was not available, it is likely that sky lantern debris will be
intermittent and localised and more likely to affect agricultural holdings and wildlife habitats
on the fringes of urban areas where release of lanterns is more likely. In addition, littering in a
given area would probably be greater following mass release of sky lanterns that
subsequently follow the same flight path. This means that farms closer to venues that
regularly host events where lanterns are released may be affected more frequently by lantern
debris than others in more ‘remote’ areas.

On the basis of the evidence presented, the project team concluded that the contribution of
sky lantern debris to overall environmental littering is small. By comparison, other potential
impacts of sky lanterns — most notably potential fire risks and risks to aviation - are of much
greater significance.

Pate 44



Helium balloons

Concerns regarding balloon litter per se are largely associated with the negative visual
impacts to beaches, amenity areas and wildlife habitats, etc. and with the associated clean-
up costs. The wider impacts of balloon littering, such as risks to animals, wildlife and marine
life, are discussed in an earlier section of this report.

The balloon and party industry organisations including the National Association of Balloon
Artists and Suppliers (NABAS), the Balloon and Party Industry Association (BAPIA) and the
European Balloon and Party Organisation (EBPA) are aware of the potential impacts of
helium balloons as litter. They advocate the use of 100% natural latex balloons for races and
similar mass launches, because this is claimed to biodegrade more rapidly than foil (see also
Section 4.3) and no ribbon or string attached. Where foil balloons are used (normally for
party decorations and as children’s toys), it is recommended that these should be attached to
a suitable weight to ensure they are not released into the environment.

Evidence of the extent of balloon littering has been drawn from two separate sources. The
Marine Conservation Society’s ‘Beachwatch’ survey provides valuable and quantifiable
information on balloon litter on UK beaches. This survey is conducted by volunteers on a
representative sample of beaches in the UK on the third weekend in September every year.
Whilst balloon litter rose from an average of 3.4 items/km beach surveyed in 1996, to a peak
of 11.5 items/km beach surveyed in 2007, it has subsequently fallen back in recent years to
9.5 items/km recorded in 2011 (MCS, 2012). In the most recent survey, rubber items as a
whole (including balloons, tyres, gloves, etc) constituted 2.3% of all litter, of which balloons
made up 0.5%.

Further independent investigation on balloon litter is provided from surveys undertaken by
Keep Wales Tidy (KWT) and the Marine Conservation Society MCS). KWT conduct regular
litter surveys within local authority areas of Wales as part of the Local Environmental Audit
and Management System (LEAMS). These surveys involve analysing 50 metre sections of
randomly-selected adopted highways, representing 8% of the total highways in Wales. In one
local authority area in the 2008/09 survey year, balloon litter was found on 17% of surveyed
streets. In the 2010/11 survey, balloon litter was found on 1% of all streets surveyed for litter.
It is worth noting that the LEAMS survey does not include any green areas such as parks or
gardens.

The potential impacts of helium balloon debris have long been recognised, and work by
Burchette (1989) suggested that ‘latex rubber balloons degrade about as fast as oak tree
leaves under a wide range of exposure conditions in the environment including sunlight,
weathering, soil, and water exposures’. Burchette further suggested that from a typical
release of 500 balloons, only 10% would fall back to earth as litter and as such the density of
balloon fall would be no greater than one balloon in over 15 square miles. This evidence has
been used previously to suggest that latex balloons do not pose a significant threat to the
environment in terms of littering. The evidence provided by Burchette has since been
evaluated by KWT in a policy paper (2008). The critique raises concerns over the
methodology of the original work and casts doubt over the speed at which balloon litter
degrades. The latter finding was supported by work done by the MCS, which suggests that
even ‘biodegradable’ latex balloons can take several months or even years to break down.

On the basis of the evidence presented, there have been some increases in balloon litter in
recent years. However when compared to other forms of litter (e.g. plastic bags, etc.), the
number of items found is relatively small, with balloons making up less than 1% of all litter
found. As a source of litter per se, the project team has concluded that helium balloons are
therefore of only minor significance. Speed of degradation of balloon debris is important both
from the perspective of littering but more particularly from the standpoint of risks to animals,

Pagé&‘45



wildlife and marine life. Currently available evidence on speed of latex balloon degradation is
considered inconclusive, in view of the doubts cast by KWT on the work reported by
Burchette.

Marine debris

Evidence from outside the UK suggests that the presence of marine debris can lead to
movement of invasive species into new marine ecosystems which could in turn cause
potential damage to the species already established there (Derraik et al., 2002). Marine
debris may also have an impact on parts of delicate underwater habitats such as coral reefs
that are critical to the survival of many species. Although this is not directly applicable to UK
seas, it is possible that marine debris of any kind could potentially have a negative impact
upon marine ecosystems.

Because much of the focus of the available information was on the effects of plastics and
other marine debris in general, it is difficult to draw robust and specific conclusions for sky
lanterns and helium balloons. For example, Schuyler et al. (2012) highlighted studies where
over 267 species worldwide have become entangled or have ingested marine debris,
theoretically including debris from sky lanterns and helium balloons. A Belgian study by
Cuykens et al. (2011) reported that around 95% of the corpses of all northern fulmars found
along the Belgian beaches contained plastics, likely to have originated from domestic and
commercial sources. Party balloons were described as commonly floating litter in the survey
area, and while no specific mention was made of sky lantern debris, this could not be entirely
ruled out.

Overall, the contribution of sky lanterns and helium balloons to marine litter is not well
documented, although the evidence suggests that any contribution to the overall mix of
marine and shoreline litter material, which surveys indicate has a high plastic content, is
likely to be small.

3.4 Risks to aviation

Evidence on the possible risks to aviation from sky lanterns and helium balloons was
compiled from a number of sources including news articles, scientific journals and
information released by the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) and individual airports. These have
all contributed to the evidence base and are included in Appendix 5.4.

According to the CAA, sky lanterns pose a safety risk to aviation due to possible ingestion
into engines whilst airborne. On the ground, sky lantern debris can delay departures or
potentially cause damage to aircraft. The risks from helium balloons are considered to be
from manoeuvring aircraft to avoid concentrations of these objects; ingestion into an engine
is considered to be unlikely to cause damage. The CAA maintain that the risks from sky
lanterns and helium balloons, although small, should be taken into account when making an
assessment for any release (see CAA, 2011 ‘Operation of directed light, fireworks, toy
balloons and sky lanterns within the UK’).

The CAA has provided quantifiable evidence to the study. This is in the form of Mandatory
Occurrence Reports (MORs) filed by airports with the CAA. The scope of these includes
light aircraft, helicopters and large passenger planes. The objective of the MOR scheme is to
contribute to the improvement of aviation safety by ensuring that relevant information on
safety is reported, collected, stored, protected and disseminated. Any incident which
endangers an aircraft, or which, if not corrected, would endanger an aircraft, its occupants or

PaQe 46



any other person should be reported to the CAA as an MOR?. MORs are filed by all
airports/airfields by individual operators although they tend to differ in their level of detail and
description of the incident reported.

Overall, there have been a total of 48 MORs involving sky lanterns and helium balloons
reported by the CAA over the period from 2001 to 2012. Of the eight MORs involving helium
balloons, four were confirmed as being attributed to toy balloons, as opposed to weather
balloons or similar (the latter being outside the scope of this study).

Sky lanterns

Since 2001, 40 MORs have been filed with the CAA in relation to incidents involving sky
lanterns (see Appendix 5.4). Some 18% of these related to sky lanterns passing over or near
an airfield, 54% were in relation to the recovery of debris on the airfield, whilst the remaining
28% were incidents of sky lanterns passing close to an aircraft in flight. Incidents relating to
lantern debris on runways and taxiways are classed in CAA reports as ‘Foreign Object
Debris’ (FOD).

Reports relating to sky lanterns passing close to aircraft in flight mainly relate to take-off or
the final approach to landing. None of the MORs reported any actual collisions between
aircraft and lantern(s). Incidents of sky lanterns passing over or near an airfield were simply
recorded as ‘observations’.

The CAA recognises sky lanterns as a specific risk to aircraft safety whether they are
airborne, or as FOD on an airfield. Given that the MOR is an incident which could endanger
the safety of an aircraft and its passengers, it follows that all 40 MORs involving sky lanterns
are deemed to be evidence of a potential risk to aircraft safety. To reduce the risk of sky
lantern incursions, CAA guidelines® state that sky lanterns should not be released within 10
nautical miles of an airfield. Whilst these requirements are covered in the ‘Operation of
directed light, fireworks, toy balloons and sky lanterns within the UK’ (CAA), it is unlikely that
the casual user of sky lanterns will have access to this document and any guidance they may
have received will inevitably be that provided with the lantern when purchased.

The number of MORs linked to sky lantern use also indicates that the 10 mile separation
distance is not being met consistently for lantern release. This may not however reflect
blatant disregard of CAA guidance by consumers because current product guidance
provided with sky lanterns (Appendix 7a) states that CAA permission should be sought if
lanterns are to be released within ‘5 miles of an airport or landing strip’. This apparent mis-
match between CAA guidelines and instructions provided by lantern suppliers clearly points
to the need for better consumer information from suppliers that is consistent with the CAA
position.

2 Information on MORs can be found in CAA (2011) Mandatory Occurrence Reporting Scheme:
http://www.caa.co.uk/application.aspx?catid=33&pagetype=65&appid=11&mode=detail&id=214

3 Sky lanterns and toy helium balloons are not specifically covered within the Air Navigation Order 2009 and
therefore minimum distances between launch of lanterns or balloons are guidance and not legal requirements.
However all activities of this type are likely to be covered by paragraph 137 that deals with ‘Endangering safety of
an aircraft’. This states that ‘a person must not recklessly or negligently act in a manner likely to endanger an
aircraft, or any person in an aircraft’.

Pagé&47



Helium balloons

The release of helium-filled toy balloons near airfields is deemed by the CAA to present a
risk to aircraft safety, hence it is covered within the CAA guidelines ‘Operation of directed
light, fireworks, toy balloons and sky lanterns within the UK’. The risks relate specifically to
the risk of pilots having to manoeuvre aircraft to avoid concentrations of balloons. Although
ingestion into aircraft engines is recognised as a possible outcome of contact between
helium balloons and aircraft gas turbine engines, the CAA do not consider this to present a
risk to safety.

MORs filed since the year 2000 confirm a total of eight incidents related to helium balloons.
Of these, four are described as children’s toy balloons (within the scope of this project), two
are defined as ‘met balloons’ (outside the scope of this project) and for the remaining two
incidents the type of helium balloon is not described. All of these are summarised in
Appendix 5.4. The four events involving toy balloons all related to airborne incursions, the
incidents involving collision with the aircraft and/or ingestion into an engine. However none of
the events resulted in damage to aircraft.

Whilst the number of MORs related to helium balloons since 2000 is very small in number,
mass release of balloons is recognised as posing a particular risk to aviation safety and
releases near to airports (within 5 nautical miles as stipulated by the CAA) ‘should be
restricted’. Industry codes of conduct for balloon releases stipulate the need for compliance
with CAA guidelines for balloon releases (BAPIA), or that the CAA should be consulted for all
balloon releases over 5,000 balloons, or any release near to an airport (NABAS). Given the
very small number of MORs reported in relation to helium balloon incursions, it would appear
that CAA guidelines and supplier advice is largely being followed, whether inadvertently or
otherwise.

On the evidence presented to the project team, it is concluded that current measures to
manage the release of helium balloons seem to be largely effective in minimising collisions
with aircraft and incursions onto airfields. Larger numbers of incidents involving sky lanterns
may indicate a lack of adequate and appropriate guidance to consumers on safe release and
this is an area that warrants further consideration.

3.5 Risks to coastal rescue services

Sky lanterns

The risks to coastal rescue services from sky lanterns arise from them being incorrectly
identified as distress flares, particularly when red sky lanterns are deployed. This can trigger
false call-outs, diverting essential emergency resources away from real emergencies and
placing emergency services personnel at unnecessary risk. In addition, there can be
significant financial costs associated with lifeboat launches and/or helicopter deployment and
from diversion of merchant or navy vessels to provide emergency support.

The project team received nine separate responses on this subject, from a variety of sources
most notably the Royal National Lifeboat Institute (RNLI), and the UK Maritime and
Coastguard Agency (MCA). This information is summarised in Appendix 5.5. The MCA,
responsible for HM Coastguard, provided information on the numbers of ‘incidents’ likely to
be caused by sky lanterns. This is shown in Table 2 below.

PaQe 48



Table 2 The number of reported incidents likely to have been caused by sky

lanterns

Year Number of incidents
2007 7

2008 49

2009 347

2010 754

2011 315

2012 207

Source: UK Maritime and Coastguard Agency

The incidents reported above range from those where the emergency operator has
determined that the (supposed) red flare was actually a sky lantern and aborted any further
action, to those where full deployment of search and rescue (SAR) vehicles was initiated.
Following a peak number of incidents in 2010, numbers appear to have declined over the
period 2011-2012.

Evidence from interviews and product information suggests that red distress flares typically
burn for around 40 seconds, whereas sky lanterns may be visible for a much longer period.
In theory, this should make it easier to differentiate between the two. However correct
identification may be dependent on prevailing weather conditions. For example, a red sky
lantern that disappears into cloud could more easily be misinterpreted for a distress flare
than a lantern that stays visible in clear skies.

Whilst most of the evidence presented relates to sky lanterns causing false call-outs, the
converse is that real distress flares may be ‘ignored’ because the observer mistakes them for
sky lanterns and fails to report the incident. In terms of risk to human life, this scenario is of
greater significance than the risk of false call-outs. This risk is mitigated to some extent at
sea, because the ‘default’ position under international maritime law is for ships at sea to
divert to investigate any form of red distress flare. The greater risk is in relation to an incident
which is just off-shore and spotted by an individual on land.

The cost associated with false callouts includes the time taken by the operator to answer a
call, through to deployment of lifeboats or helicopters. Costs for deploying vehicles range
from £1,000 - £2,000 per hour for a lifeboat to between £7,000 and £10,000 per hour for an
SAR helicopter to be deployed (excluding manned team costs). There can also be other
costs associated with ships diverting to respond to a potential distress call. This economic
loss can be substantial if for example, the ship fails to reach port when expected.

The project team concluded, on the basis of the well-documented evidence available, that
sky lanterns do pose a significant risk to the proper and effective operation of coastal rescue
services. This is based on the relatively large number of documented incidents where sky
lantern use has given rise to false call-outs (although numbers may be decreasing) with
associated impacts to human safety and financial costs of deploying rescue services.

Perhaps the most obvious mitigation to reduce the risk of false call-outs would be the
introduction of a voluntary ban on the sale of red lanterns. Whilst this may not solve the
problem entirely, it should bring about a significant reduction in false alarms. Increasing
consumer awareness of the potential risk would undoubtedly help to reduce risks further
irrespective of lantern colour. Some sky lantern suppliers already provide detailed consumer
advice on the release of lanterns within five miles off the coast (see Appendix 8). However,
given the number of cases still being recorded by the MCA, the indications are that this

Pagé&49



information is not being provided universally to consumers and/or the guidance is not
implemented consistently by those launching lanterns

Helium balloons

No evidence has been found, either though a literature search or by interview, of any
adverse impacts on coastal rescue services from helium balloons.

Comparative impact of fireworks

Fireworks being discharged in coastal areas clearly have the potential to initiate false call-
outs of the emergency services. The project team were not, however, able to gather specific
information on the numbers of these false call-outs and so are unable to comment on the
scale or extent of this particular risk or compare it directly to the number associated with sky
lanterns.

Notwithstanding the lack of empirical information in this report, the fact that fireworks are well
recognised as a particular risk has led to a variety of mitigation measures (both voluntary and
statutory) being introduced. Amongst the most important are the requirements set out in the
Firework Regulations 2004, S| no.1836. Included in these are statutory restrictions on when
fireworks can be purchased and discharged. The most significant clause (paragraph 7)
specifies a ban on firework use during ‘night hours’ (11pm to 7am) except on certain days of
the year, such as November 5™ and the Chinese New Year. Certain exceptions to this
requirement are allowed, mainly in respect of professional operators and local authorities. In
most situations, these requirements should significantly reduce the risk of false call-outs.

Without being able to directly compare the number of false call-outs associated with sky
lanterns and fireworks, it is difficult to form a view as to whether statutory controls on sky
lantern discharge (equivalent to those for fireworks) might be appropriate. However, the
project team concluded that the most appropriate and proportionate approach to reducing
this particular risk in the case of sky lanterns would be a voluntary ban on use of red lanterns
and better consumer guidance.

3.6 Risks to consumer safety

Sky lanterns

There is very little evidence linking sky lanterns and helium balloons with risks to consumer
safety. The project team were only able to identify one account from the BBC (2010) where a
child suffered burns as a result of dripping hot oil and wax whilst standing underneath a lit
sky lantern prior to release. The child suffered no lasting injuries.

The potential risk to human safety from a naked flame is recognised by the project team,
emphasising the importance of carefully-worded product safety guidelines. Appendix 7a
provides an example of instructions which stress the need for adults to supervise handling of
the lantern and ignition of the fuel cell. Some sky lantern retailers have also developed non-
drip fuel cells for lanterns for safer lighting.

Overall, the risk to consumer safety as a result of direct contact with sky lanterns is minimal.
This is in marked contrast to the well-documented impacts of firework use on consumer
safety which are summarised below.

Pate 50



Helium balloons

The project team were unable to find any reports impacts on consumer health caused by
helium balloons.

Comparative impact of fireworks

The dangers of fireworks are well-recognised and have been extensively reported in the
media and a variety of journals over many years. Appendix 5.6 includes a small nhumber of
references on the subject. Anecdotal evidence presented by BBC News in 2000 suggested
that almost 830 people in Britain were treated for firework injuries in 1998. In 2005, a report
by the Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents stated that some 990 injuries were
attributable to fireworks.

Over time, successive governments have introduced legislation* in an effort to reduce the
risks to consumer safety and to property posed by the use of fireworks, for example:

e The Firework Regulations 2004
e Manufacture and Storage of Explosives Regulations 2005
e The Pyrotechnic Articles (Safety) Regulations 2010

Whilst there is clear justification for legislative intervention in the case of firework use, by
contrast, the evidence suggests that the risks to consumer health from the use of sky
lanterns (and helium balloons) are so small as to make a similar approach inappropriate and
unnecessary.

3.7  Helium resources

Helium is a finite resource which is used in a variety of medical, scientific and industrial
applications. One of the main medical applications is in MRI scanners, although the largest
consumer of helium is reported to be NASA who use it in ‘huge quantities to purge potentially
explosive fuel from its rockets™.

There are an increasing number of reports in the media that warn of the depletion of helium
reserves and the risks that this will pose to its future use in MRI scanners (for example). In
addition, the use of this valuable finite resource in toy and party balloons has been widely
questioned. It has been reported that the use of helium resources for filling party balloons
constituted up to 10% of global helium consumption in 2009 (Wothers, Royal Institute
Christmas lectures, 2012). There have been calls for party balloons to use hydrogen, rather
than helium; whilst hydrogen is cheaper and more buoyant, helium is preferred because it is
non-flammable and therefore safer.

In response to these concerns, the balloon industry has recently insisted that the helium
used in party or toy balloons is recycled gas previously used in the medical industry and
subsequently mixed with air. For this reason, the industry describes the material as ‘balloon
gas’ rather than helium.

* Further information is available at https://www.gov.uk/fireworks-the-law:

*The Independent, August 20102: http://www.independent.co.uk/news/science/why-the-world-is-running-out-of-
helium-2059357.html

Pag@51



The project team has not been able to obtain a total figure for the use of ‘balloon gas’ by the
UK industry, to compare with helium use in other applications. It has not been possible
therefore to make an informed assessment of the impact on helium stocks from its current
use in toy and party balloons. However, widely reported increases in the market price of
helium, coupled with forecast reductions in availability may have a self-limiting effect on its
use in ‘non-essential’ applications in the future.

4.  Sky lantern and helium balloon industry

41  Consumer base and structure of the industry

Sky lanterns

Sky lanterns are widely-available via the internet (a simple internet search provided some
1,100 links). Sky lanterns are also supplied through individual retailers, ranging from event
and party suppliers to budget 'pound' stores and similar outlets. They tend to be sold in
multiple packs, rather than single units. The project team was not able to determine the
relative importance of the two main sources of lanterns, although anecdotal information
strongly points towards internet suppliers as being the major source.

As part of this study, five specialist sky lantern suppliers were contacted. Of these, three
companies provided information to the project team. Two of the companies sold lanterns
solely via the internet, the third sold products to stores and wholesalers in addition to website
sales. A review of the respective websites of these three businesses revealed that one
company sold sky lanterns in addition to other products, whereas the other two traded solely
in sky lantern products. The companies described their main customer base as largely being
individuals purchasing sky lanterns for particular events.

The sky lantern market is a relatively new one in the UK, and the industry is not currently
represented by any particular bodies. Theoretically, sky lantern sellers would be eligible to
join organisations such as the Balloon and Party Industry Alliance (BAPIA) and the Balloon
Association (NABAS) as they are part of the 'party industry' but evidence suggests that few
have done so.

Helium balloons

Helium balloons are used at individual parties and events, for business purposes (e.g.
product advertising), and by charities raising awareness or funds.

The UK has an established market for helium balloons and the industry is well represented
by member-based associations that respond to issues and lobby on behalf of members.
Helium balloons are sold by a range of retailers, from large high street chain stores to
individual ‘party planners’ who provide balloons as part of their overall service. There are a
number of other businesses that rely (at least in part) on the helium balloon sector for a
portion of their revenue. These include suppliers of helium (‘balloon’) gas and companies that
print designs onto balloons.

Page 52



4.2 Industry response to addressing safety, environmental and other impacts

Sky lanterns

Findings from this study indicate variable levels of awareness among sky lantern
manufacturers and suppliers of the impacts of these products on health and safety and the
environment.

The project team are aware of efforts made by some sky lantern suppliers to respond to
environmental concerns linked to their products. For example, one of the companies
surveyed worked with representatives of the NFU to respond to the impact of lanterns on
livestock health. After dialogue, the company removed metal wire from all its lanterns and
replaced it with fire retardant string.

The lack of a specific trade association for the sky lantern sector means there is no central
and co-ordinating body to represent the interests of suppliers or to co-ordinate the
development and implementation of standards of manufacture and consumer guidance
across the sector. In practice, this is left to individual companies.

Those who are actively attempting to make their products more environmentally-friendly
report frustration that cheaper lanterns (which incorporate metal wire for example) create a
poor image for the industry. Lantern sellers on the internet often state that their products are
'"100% biodegradable’, although the exact meaning of this is not precisely defined, and the
time taken for them to degrade is not quantified.

Helium balloons

Helium balloon industry responses to environmental issues have been largely undertaken by
the representative industry associations, BAPIA and NABAS in the UK and by the European
Balloon & Party Council (EBPC) on a European scale. Responses to concerns on animal
health and welfare, safety risks and environmental issues appear to have been addressed
much more effectively than in the sky lantern sector.

These industry associations have produced codes of conduct, or best practice guides for
their members. For example, all members of the EBPC have to comply with European safety
measures with regard to:

e Labelling and safety warnings

e The Toy Safety Directive 2009/48/EC

e British Standard for Toy Safety BS EN71, now harmonised within European standards
e EU National regulations and environmental standards’®

BAPIA also provide comprehensive guidance to members via their code of practice’” which
covers all aspects of responsible deployment of balloons.

® Taken from ‘Report on Helium Balloons in the UK and European Markets, compiled by The European Balloon
and Party Council’ (2013)

! http://bapiaonline.com/codeofpractice

Page’53



The project team concluded that the helium balloon sector is well-represented by trade
associations that demonstrate considered and tangible evidence of the sector's commitment
to minimising all forms of risk from the use of toy and party balloons. What was less clear
however was how effectively the measures contained in the respective codes of practice are
being communicated to the final user.

4.3 Industry regulation of product quality

Whilst no specific product safety standards exist for sky lanterns or helium balloons,
European legislation such as the Toy Safety Directive (2009/48/EC) and British Standard for
Toy Safety EN71 provides overarching safety requirements and the guiding principles can be
applied. Sky lanterns and helium balloons must also comply with the General Product Safety
Regulations 2005. This means that they must be ‘safe’ when used 'normally’. A meeting of
the European Commission Consumer Safety Network (2011) concluded that there was little
support from major stakeholders in Germany, UK, France, Austria or Spain for the
development of a European standard for sky lanterns.

To demonstrate compliance with EU toy safety legislation, a CE mark is affixed to a product
by a manufacturer, importer or authorised representative. A leading sky lantern retailer in the
UK reported to the project team that they had recently held discussions on this issue with
their local Trading Standards department. They were advised not to use the CE mark for sky
lanterns since they are not considered to be a toy, although they may be tested to a part of
the Toy Safety Standards.

Sky Lanterns

Of the three sky lantern retailers interviewed, two indicated a desire to see increased
regulation of product quality in order to raise standards, improve safety and eliminate or
reduce risks.

Specific design issues that were cited as having scope for improvement include the use of
fireproof paper / improved flame resistance and better fuel cells. Whilst improved designs of
sky lantern are already widely available that incorporate these features, these have not been
universally applied by manufacturers or specified by all UK suppliers. It is difficult to see how
consistent standards of construction and consumer guidance will be achieved without
concerted and collective efforts by UK suppliers, mediated through a representative trade
body.

Helium balloons

Because there are fewer risks associated with helium balloons, issues of product design and
quality are generally less relevant than they are with sky lanterns.

The key industry bodies (see Section 3.3) are however consistent in their requirement that all
helium balloons intended for release should be manufactured from 100% natural latex since
this is claimed to biodegrade more rapidly than non-latex equivalents. The industry bodies
are also consistent in their requirement that foil balloons should not be released, because of
the long term littering and environmental impacts of the foil material.

Patfe 54



4.4  Market size, value and numbers employed

Sky lanterns

The market value of sky lanterns has been estimated from consultations with the three
companies that provided information to the study. All evidence suggests that sky lanterns are
manufactured overseas (usually the Far East), and then imported to the UK, where they are
marketed and distributed.

Of the three companies interviewed, two were able to provide detailed sales figures, both of
which suggested a decline in recent years:

e Company 1 has suffered a sustained decline in sales since 2009 (when they started to
operate). Their turnover for sky lantern products decreased sharply from £450k in 2009 to
£68k in 2012. The company reported a focus on reducing fire and environmental risks
and ensuring good quality products;

e Company 2 started operating in 2005 and their sales reached a peak in 2010/11 when
some 1.56 million sky lanterns were sold. However, in 2011/12 only 1.25 million were
sold, which represents a 20% decrease in numbers sold, equivalent to a fall in sales of
about £0.6m, based on an average lantern price of £2 per unit.

¢ Company 3 started operating in April 2010 and reported that they had seen no changes
in sales or consumer behaviour since then.

It was estimated by the businesses interviewed that between three and eight million sky
lanterns are sold each year in the UK. It should be noted that these sales estimates are
considerably in excess of previous figures reported, for example 200,000 lanterns released
per year (RSPCA, 2012).

The retail price of sky lanterns are reported to vary from as little as 50p up to £10 per unit.
Average retail price however is reported to be around £2 for a ‘good quality’ lantern. Based
on sales figures reported by the three companies interviewed, this would value the annual
turnover of the UK market at between £6 million and £16 million based on an average retail
price of £2 per balloon. Whilst these estimates vary substantially, they do at least provide an
insight into the annual value of the UK market. To put this turnover into perspective, it would
be broadly equivalent to that of a busy petrol station at the lower end (£6m) and to a medium
size engineering company at the other (£16m).

There is evidence from sky lantern suppliers that the market, having expanded to a peak in
2009/10, has contracted in subsequent years. Whilst this may be purely coincidental, it
mirrors the decline in the number of false call-outs reported by the UK Maritime and
Coastguard Agency (see Section 3.5). The reasons for the decline in sales are unclear.
Increased consumer awareness of the problems caused by sky lanterns, highlighted in press
articles and through campaigns has been cited as a possibility. One sky lantern
importing/retailing company specifically mentioned that “the negative press is having a
dramatic effect (decline in sales) on the sky lantern market”.

Evidence provided to the project team suggested that the companies supplying lanterns tend
to be very small in terms of the number of employees. One of the three companies
interviewed only employed one person, the second employed five people and the third
employed four full time employees, plus some occasional part-time staff. The company with
five employees estimated that their market share is around 15% of the industry with annual
sales of over one million lanterns. Whilst empirical information on the total numbers
employed was not available, it is clear that the sky lantern sector is not a major employer of
staff in the UK, accounting for (perhaps) fewer than 100 individuals across the entire sector.

Page&’55



Helium balloons

The market value of helium balloons has been estimated and based on figures and
information provided by EBPC (The European Balloon & Party Council), which represents
more than 30 key players in the balloon and party industry in Europe.

According to EBPC, the estimated retail size of the balloon and party industry in Europe was
£2.5 billion in 2012, with the UK having the largest market share. The estimated UK retail
market size was £500 million in 2012. Balloons account for some 60% of this market and
helium balloons account for about 30%. The current UK market value for helium balloons is
estimated to be £150 million. The EBPC has estimated the number of businesses reliant on
the helium balloon market in the UK and this is shown in Table 3.

Table 3 Businesses associated with the helium balloon market in the UK®
Type of business Number of businesses
Balloon manufacturers 8
Gas suppliers 4
Distributors 25
Printers 23
Online >100
Independent retailers >3,000
Retailers with multiple stores >20
Decorators/party planners 900
Ancillary e.g. training, media, accessories <50
Total 4,130 (approx.)

Source: EPBC

The data presented in the table above are reported by EBPC to be based on industry
intelligence and member/customer databases. However there may be some duplication and
it is not clear whether the numbers quoted relate to businesses that are solely engaged with
the balloon industry.

The EBPC has also estimated that the industry employs some 21,750 people as shown in
Table 4 below. It was not clear from the information provided whether this relates to full-time
equivalent staff or whether it includes all staff, even if only part of their time is directly
associated with balloon-related activities.

8 ‘Report on Helium Balloons in the UK and European Markets, complied by The European Balloon and Party
Council’ (2013)

Page 56



Table 4 Numbers employed within the helium balloon sector in the UK

Type of business Numbers employed
Balloon manufacturers 300
Gas suppliers 500
Distributors 200
Printers 250
Online 400
Independent retailers 14,000
Retailers with multiple stores 4,000
Decorators/party planners 2,000
Ancillary e.g. training, media, accessories 100
Total 21,750
Source EBPC

The EBPC estimated that four groups of retailers could be affected by any future changes in
the sector:

e Independent party stores: This is the largest group of retailers of helium balloons and
there are over 3,000 such stores in the UK. It is estimated by EBPC that a typical store
employs about four people. Balloons, nearly all of which are inflated with helium, account
for 30-60% of their business. It is reported that very few of these stores would be able to
survive without sales of helium balloons (based on personal communications with EBPC).

¢ Independent card stores: This is the second largest group of retailers and there are
around 1,000 of these stores in the UK. Many have turned to balloons in response to an
increasingly competitive market for greeting cards. Balloons typically account for 10-25%
of turnover and are described by EBPC to be their fastest growing product line. Filling
helium balloons is labour-intensive and some of the larger businesses in this group
employ additional staff at busy times for this purpose.

e Multiple retail groups: These stores are reported by EBPC to sell high volumes of helium
filled balloons. The labour-intensive nature of filling balloons suggests that some jobs
would be vulnerable if this service was not provided.

e Events and party planners: These are usually small family businesses that are mainly
home-based. They supply balloons for corporate events, the hospitality market and
private functions - most notably weddings. There are around 2,000 active businesses in
the UK. Without helium balloon sales, the EBPC view is that many of these businesses
would not be able to adapt or to diversify into different products or services and would not
therefore be able to survive.

Should a ban on helium balloons be imposed (as has been proposed by some lobby groups)
there would inevitably be a loss of revenue to the Exchequer. The EBPC has estimated that
over £1.5 million of corporation tax per year would be lost from the manufacturing and gas
companies alone, together with over £25 million of VAT.

Much of the evidence provided to the project team in relation to industry value, staff numbers
and impacts of possible future controls on helium balloons has been provided by the EBPC.
As a lobby group representing the balloon industry, the project team recognise that they
inevitably have a vested interest in protecting the interests of their members. That said, the
evidence provided was deemed to be relevant and largely empirical and demonstrated that
the sector makes an important contribution to the UK economy and employs (either fully or in
part) a significant number of staff.

Pagé57



5.  Control measures for sky lanterns and helium balloons in England
and Wales and in other EU Member States

Various measures have been taken at local, national and international level to control the
release of sky lanterns and helium balloons and/or to reduce the risk of negative impacts
associated with their release. In England and Wales, any controls are currently voluntary as
existing legislation does not prohibit the deployment of sky lanterns or helium balloons. CAA
guidance provides details of minimum distances from airfields that should be met when
launching sky lanterns and helium balloons. Whilst these are not statutory requirements they
are underpinned by the Air Navigation Order 2009 (paragraph 137) that covers ‘endangering
the safety of an aircraft’.

Much of the existing relevant guidance from the CAA (for example) has been incorporated to
a greater or lesser extent into consumer advice provided with lanterns and helium balloons.

Elsewhere across the EU, a number of countries have introduced legislative controls on the
deployment of sky lanterns and helium balloons.

5.1 Local initiatives

Across England and Wales, 17° local authorities (15 in England; 2 in Wales) have applied a
voluntary ban on the release of helium balloons from council-owned land. In many cases, this
voluntary ban also includes sky lanterns. These controls are only active on council-owned
land (i.e. recreation grounds and parks) and they are described by councils as being purely
voluntary bans — they are not able to take legal action against infringements. Under current
legislation set out in the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act (2005) or the
Environmental Protection Act (1990), waste from balloons or sky lanterns is not classified as
litter and as such, no specific legal action can be taken against releases.

Based on discussions with a number of local authorities that have already instigated a ban, it
seems that this action has been most successful in preventing mass releases of balloons.
The evidence suggests that where local authority bans are in place, they have served to
raise public awareness of the risks associated with the release of both sky lanterns and
helium balloons as well as targeting specific stakeholders likely to be involved in the mass
release of balloons or lanterns as part of specific events. These typically include charity
fundraising groups, community groups and businesses promoting sales or products.

Making consumers aware of the risks associated with sky lanterns and helium balloons
appears to be the key to achieving a more responsible approach to their deployment and
from the evidence available to the project team, this seems to have been one of the main
benefits of individual local authority action to date. Whilst acknowledging the positive
outcomes of these existing initiatives, the potential weaknesses are that they are purely local,
they rely on co-operation from the public and professional operators and appear to focus
largely on mass-release of helium balloons. Potential ways of extending the benefits of
current initiatives are as follows:

® District Councils in England (6)— Braintree, Maldon, Rochford, South Hams, Thanet, Windsor & Maidenhead

City and Borough Councils in England (10) - Carlisle, Ipswich, Lancaster, Oxford, Plymouth, Redbridge, Reigate & Banstead,
Swindon, Tonbridge & Malling, Wandsworth

County Councils in England (1) Worcestershire

Welsh local authorities (2) — Cardiff City Council, Conwy Council

Page 58



e By encouraging all local authorities in England and Wales to review their policies on the
use of sky lanterns and helium balloons against nationally-agreed objectives, in
consultation with relevant stakeholders (e.g. CAA, MCA and the industry). It is suggested
that these should be risk-based reviews rather than (for example) blanket bans on the
release of sky lanterns or helium balloons. It is accepted that as there is currently no
representative body, methods of engagement with the sky lantern industry will not be
straightforward.

e After individual risk-based assessments, encouraging all local authorities to publish clear
guidelines for the deployment of sky lanterns and helium balloon, backed-up with local
campaigns to create publicity.

5.2 National initiatives

5.2.1 No release campaigns

A number of bodies have instigated campaigns to discourage organisations, professional
operators and members of the public from releasing balloons and sky lanterns. The most
notable of these is the Marine Conservation Society’s (MCS) ‘Don’t Let Go’ campaign, which
has targeted businesses, local authorities and members of the public.

MCS has been pro-active in contacting organisations in order to change their policies on
balloon releases. In some cases, large organisations such as banks, food retailers and
others have agreed not to release balloons as part of marketing activities. Additionally a
number of charities have also committed to not releasing balloons as part of their campaigns.
The MCS booklet http://www.mcsuk.org/downloads/pollution/dlg/Dont Let Go Booklet.pdf
contains information on the ‘Don’t Let Go’ campaign, on alternatives to balloon releases and
details on how to prevent local releases.

Evidence from this study suggests that local and national campaigns have had an impact,
either in discouraging the release of sky lanterns or helium balloons or at least raising
awareness of issues for consumers to take into account when purchasing them.

Although much of the evidence is anecdotal, the project team have identified a number of
possible links between publicity e.g. from national campaigns and individual local authority
initiatives and reported trends in design, use and incidents. In summary:-

o Two out of the three of the sky lantern companies interviewed reported a decline in sales
in recent years (see section 4.4);

e Two out of the three sky lantern companies interviewed have taken measures to respond
to negative publicity and the negative image of sky lanterns, by improving the design,
material and quality of their products and providing instructions for reducing risks (see
section 4.2);

e Sky lantern industry representatives report that consumers are increasingly enquiring
whether products are wire-free and whether they are safe — in general, customers are
asking more questions before they decide to purchase;

e Evidence provided by the UK Maritime and Coastguard Agency suggests that the number
of sky lantern incidents has fallen sharply since 2010 (section 3.5);

e The MCS ‘Beachwatch’ survey indicates that the level of littering by balloons is now lower
than it was in 2007 (section 3.3).

Page’59



5.2.2 Measures taken in other EU countries on sky lanterns

The potential risks associated with the use of sky lanterns in other Member States are largely
the same as those cited in England and Wales, although greater emphasis is generally
placed on fire risk. The precise policies adopted differ between countries, with decisions
largely being based on ‘perceived’ risks. However some countries including Malta, the
Netheqloands and Spain have carried out risk assessments using the RAPEX assessment
model™:

EU Member States that have banned or put restrictions on the sales and/or the use of sky
lanterns include Austria, Malta, Germany and Spain. Others (including Denmark, the
Netherlands and Finland) have engaged with sky lantern importers or have implemented
other voluntary measures. Following requests from the project team for information from
these countries, responses have been received from Austria, Malta, Germany, Spain and
Finland. Findings have been incorporated into evidence tables in Appendix 6.

In the Netherlands, sky lanterns were banned from sale in 2008. However following design
improvements specified by importers in 2010 (e.g. removal of wire, use of flame-retardant
paper, etc.) and improved consumer guidance, the risks were deemed to be lower.
Accordingly, the Dutch authorities allowed sales to recommence from the end of 2010. Whilst
this is a good example of an industry working in partnership with government to address a
specific issue, the evidence suggests that it did require a blanket ban to ‘force’ the industry
into action. Clearly, a better way forward would be to elicit action without the need to
introduce national legislation.

Sky lanterns have also been voluntarily withdrawn from the market in Finland in 2009. This
action was based on the grounds of consumer safety concerns and fire risks of sky lanterns
guided by guidelines of “Safety requirements for candle products and certain products that
constitute a fire hazard” and the Consumer Act jointly developed by the Finnish Safety and
Chemicals Agency (Tukes) and the Finnish Fire Rescue Authorities.

The approach taken in Malta and Spain has been to introduce a complete ban on the sale
and use of sky lanterns in December 2011 (Malta) and in January 2012 (Spain). Whilst this
has (presumably) eliminated the risks of sky lantern use discussed in this report, it is unclear
what the scale of the industry was before the ban and it is not possible therefore to comment
on the impact on the industry in those countries in terms of lost turnover and employment.

Most of the countries (Malta, Austria, Spain and Finland) consulted reported that the
measures adopted had been effective, although this was largely based on consultee
statements on effectiveness of measures in individual countries. In particular, no consultee
provided evidence such as sky lantern sales figures/trends or number of incidences caused
by sky lanterns. However, evidence in Austria suggests that where there is a ban on sales,
but not on the use of sky lanterns, some consumers may still buy lanterns from suppliers in
other countries.

A summary of the policy actions adopted in selected Member States is set out in Table 5
below.

1% http://europa.eu/sanco/rag/public/index.cfm?event=home&CFID=1951289&CF TOKEN=3e3ec6b7f3ed24ba

Pagje 60



Table 5 Summary of actions against sky lanterns taken in other Member States

Option Basis Implemented in
National ban on sales and use High risks (fire, consumer safety, Malta, Spain
of sky lanterns aviation)

National ban on sales Fire risk, consumer safety Austria
Regional/local actions Varies in different regions - fire, Germany

consumer safety, aviation

Voluntary ban Fire risk (sky lanterns are not widely Finland

sold)
Impose safety requirements Lower quality products present Netherlands, Denmark
(e.g. raised product quality higher risks

standards; warnings against
use during unfavourable
weather conditions; change of
design, material to reduce the
flammability of the lantern body;
restrictions on method of use —
for example, attaching the
lantern to a fixed point with a
proper, durable and non-
electricity conducting wire)

It is difficult to draw any firm conclusions from actions taken in other Member States, in terms
of their potential application in England and Wales. This is largely because of the range of
different measures taken, geography and climatic differences (e.g. increased fire risk in hot,
dry countries such as Spain and Malta) and the relative importance of the sky lantern
industry. Imposing a ban in a country with a well-established and ‘significant’ industry is
clearly much more problematic than it would be in a country where the industry is very small
or otherwise ‘insignificant’.

Pag@61



6. Conclusions

This study was commissioned to identify and assess the risks associated with sky lanterns
and helium balloons and to establish an evidence base to help inform future policy decisions.
After carrying out a review of relevant literature, structured telephone interviews with a wide
range of stakeholders and an analysis of the information gathered, this section sets out the
project team’s conclusions in relation to the present situation in England and Wales.

6.1  Review of Impacts
6.1.1 Risks to livestock and animal health (including marine animals)

Anecdotal reports and media coverage suggest widespread concern from farming groups
and others over the impacts of sky lanterns on the health and welfare of livestock and
horses. However, the evidence reviewed by the project team indicates that the number of
cases reported each year of animals affected through panic and fright and of ingestion of sky
lantern debris is very small. It is recognised that there may be a significant level of under-
reporting at present and that the true impacts may be higher. Local factors may be important
for some individual businesses, for example if they are close to and downwind of an event
location. Such businesses may be more vulnerable but conversely they may have greater
awareness of the risks and have mitigating measures in place. On the basis of the evidence
presented in this report, while recognising the impact of individual cases it is difficult to
conclude that the overall impact of sky lanterns on livestock and animal health is anything
other than of minor significance.

The main concern regarding helium balloons is in relation to ingestion by animals. Whilst
there may again be a significant level of under-reporting, the current evidence indicates that
the impact is very small and confined to only a small number of isolated incidents.

Any harm to marine life often goes unseen, given the inaccessibility of habitats and this is
difficult to overcome. However more detailed diagnosis (e.g. through post-mortem
examination of animals) and improved recording of land-based incidents in future would
enable the extent of the risks to be more accurately quantified.

In addition, it appears that little is known about the flight behaviour of lanterns or balloons.
Further controlled tests could be carried out which may in turn influence future product
design and provide clearer instructions for users. The benefits of this may help to reduce the
risks to livestock and also risks to aviation and to coastal rescue services. It may also
reduce the threat of fire (sky lanterns only).

6.1.2 Fire risk (sky lanterns only)

Fire risks from sky lanterns are mainly to agricultural crops, buildings and moorland.
Incidents in which sky lanterns were said to be directly implicated in starting fires have been
reported to the project team from a variety of sources, including the Chief Fire Officers
Association (CFOA). Given that any one of these individual incidents has the potential to
cause significant disruption, loss of property and risk to human and animal life, the project
team has concluded that fire risk associated with the use of sky lanterns is significant.
Further consideration is required regarding potential mitigation options. These should
consider both the use and the design of sky lanterns. Whilst some manufacturers have
sought to improve sky lantern design and thus reduce the associated fire risk, others have
been less proactive. A significant issue is that there is no single trade body to represent and

Patje 62



co-ordinate the activities of sky lantern suppliers at present and to work with approved testing
and inspection bodies to set safety standards.

6.1.3 Impacts on the environment, littering on land and at sea

On the basis of the evidence presented, the project team concluded that the contribution of
sky lantern debris to overall environmental littering is small and less significant than potential
fire risks and risks to aviation and coastal rescue services. However, the localised effects of
littering can be large e.g. in the vicinity of an event location or if large numbers of lanterns are
simultaneously released from a single point.

Recent surveys (e.g. from ‘Beachwatch’) have enabled evidence to be collected in relation to
helium balloons and from these the project team has concluded that litter is only of minor
significance. Representative bodies are aware of potential litter issues and therefore
advocate the use of latex (not foil) balloons for races or mass launches, because these are
claimed to biodegrade more rapidly. Speed of degradation of balloon debris is an important
factor from the perspective of littering (and also in relation to risks to farm animals, wildlife
etc.). The currently-available evidence on the rate of latex degradation is considered
inconclusive and clarification would provide useful evidence of the extent to which balloon
litter is likely to contribute to the overall environmental impact.

6.1.4 Risks to aviation

The Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) has provided quantifiable evidence to the study in the form
of Mandatory Occurrence Reports (MORs). A total of 48 of these were reported to be due to
sky lanterns and helium balloons between 2001 and 2012, with sky lanterns accounting for
the vast majority (40). Only four of the remaining eight were due to small helium balloons
which are the focus of this report.

Sky lanterns pose a safety risk to aviation due to possible ingestion into engines when
airborne. Whilst aircraft are on the ground, sky lantern debris can pose a risk to taxiing
aircraft and cause delays to take-off and landing. CAA guidelines state that sky lanterns
should not be released within 10 nautical miles of an airfield, but it is unlikely that the casual
user is aware of this. Furthermore, there is an inconsistency between these guidelines and
typical product guidance provided with sky lanterns. These state that CAA permission should
be sought if lanterns are to be released within five miles of an airport or landing strip. We
conclude that there is a clear need for better consumer information from suppliers that is
consistent with CAA guidelines.

The risk to aviation from helium balloons is due to aircraft manoeuvring to avoid them. Mass
release of balloons is seen as a potential problem but industry codes of conduct stipulate the
need for compliance with CAA guidelines. No information was presented to the project team
to suggest that additional control measures are needed.

6.1.5 Risks to coastal rescue services

The project team has concluded on the basis of well-documented evidence received that sky
lanterns do pose a significant risk to the proper and effective operation of coastal rescue
services. In particular, data from the UK Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCA) indicates
that the number of reported incidents likely to have been caused by sky lanterns increased to
a peak in 2010, with reported incidents being lower in subsequent years. The risk is due to
sky lanterns being incorrectly identified as distress flares. It is concluded that the most
practical mitigation to reduce the risk of false call-outs would be the introduction of a
voluntary ban on the sale of red lanterns, which are most commonly mistaken for distress
flares.

Page’63



No evidence has been found of any adverse impacts of helium balloons on coastal rescue
services.

6.1.6 Risks to consumer safety
There is very little evidence to link either sky lanterns or helium balloons with risks to

consumer safety at present. This is in marked contrast to the well-documented consumer-
safety risks associated with fireworks.

6.1.7 Helium resources (helium balloons only)

Public concerns over the possible depletion of helium reserves to inflate balloons are
countered by industry insistence that the helium is sourced from recycled gas previously
used in the medical industry, subsequently mixed with air. It has not been possible to make
an informed assessment of the impact on helium reserves but widely-reported increases in
the market price of helium may have a self-limiting effect on non-essential uses, including
balloon filling, in the future.

6.2  Sky Lantern and Helium Balloon Industry Representation

The helium balloon sector is well-represented by trade organisations that demonstrate
considered and tangible evidence of the sector's commitment to minimising risks. These
organisations are consistent in their requirement that all helium balloons intended for release
should be manufactured from 100% natural latex. It was less clear as to how effectively the
measures contained in the respective codes of practice are being communicated to the final
users.

As noted above, the sky lantern sector does not have a dedicated trade body to represent
and co-ordinate the activities of suppliers and facilitate sector-wide initiatives. Improved
designs are already widely-available but have not been universally adopted by all
manufacturers. Specific issues that were cited as having scope for improvement include the
replacement of wire, the use of fireproof paper, improved flame-resistance and the re-design
of fuel cells.

6.3 Scale, Turnover and Number of Employees

Based on sales figures provided for this study, the annual turnover of the UK sky lantern
market is variously valued at between £6 and £16 million per annum, based on an estimated
average retail price of £2 per unit. There is evidence that the size of the market has
contracted from a peak in 2009/10 and negative press reports may be a factor in this trend.
Evidence provided to the project team indicated that the companies supplying sky lanterns
tend to be small in terms of the number of their employees. It is concluded that there are
probably fewer than 100 individuals directly employed within the sector in the UK.

The retail value of the UK market for helium balloons was estimated to be around £150
million in 2012. Data has been provided on the number of businesses involved and people
employed but there may be a degree of duplication and it is not clear that the numbers
quoted relate to businesses that are solely engaged with the balloon sector. Nevertheless,
this sector is associated with a significant level of economic activity.

Patfe 64



APPENDIX 1 Introductory project letter sent by Defra and Welsh
Government to stakeholders on 15 January 2013

ADAS study of the environmental and other impacts of the use of sky lanterns
and helium balloons

Releasing sky lanterns is increasingly popular at festivals, weddings and other
celebrations across the country. But after floating for many miles and falling to earth
the burnt-out remnants can injure livestock, create fire risks and litter the areas in
which they land.

The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and the Welsh Government
have therefore asked ADAS to carry out an independent study to assess the risks
that sky lanterns and helium balloons may pose to livestock, crops and the
environment. ADAS’s work will help to establish if any further action is needed to
address the concerns that people have about them.

The study will begin on 14 January 2013 and aims to investigate:

e the impact sky lanterns and helium balloons are having on the environment,
livestock and crops;
e what local authorities in England and Wales and authorities in other EU
Member States are doing to address concerns arising from their use; and,
e the value of the market for sky lanterns in England and Wales.
ADAS may contact your organisation to help inform their study. Any input that you
are able to provide would be extremely valuable. The project leader is David
Moorhouse.

The final project report will be published in March 2013 and will be in the public

domain. It will include the names of organisations that have contributed to the study,
but it will not provide the names, addresses or contact details of individuals.

ADAS

Page’65



APPENDIX 2 Follow up letter sent by Defra and Welsh / ii 5
Government to stakeholders on 4 February 2013
ADAS

ADAS study of the environmental and other impacts of the use of sky lanterns and
helium balloons

The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and the Welsh Government
have commissioned ADAS to carry out an independent study to assess the risks that
sky lanterns and helium balloons may pose to livestock, crops and the environment.

An email has already been sent to your organisation on 15" January stating that
ADAS may contact you to help inform the study. Any input that you are able to
provide would be extremely valuable.

The study aims to investigate:

e The impact sky lanterns and helium balloons are having on the environment,
livestock and crops;

e What local authorities in England and Wales and authorities in other EU Member
States are doing to address concerns arising from their use; and,

e The value of the market for sky lanterns in England and Wales.

The final project report will be published in March 2013 and will be in the public
domain. It will include the names of organisations that have contributed to the study,
but it will not provide the names, addresses or contact details of individuals.

Due to the narrow timescale in which to consult all relevant organisations,
ADAS are asking those who have a specific interest in this area, and feel they

could provide evidence to inform the study, to contact the project team directly
to express their interest in being contacted.

If you are interested in being contacted, please respond directly to Steven Tompkins,
project consultation lead by Monday 11" February.

Yours Sincerely,

Steven Tompkins (consultation lead)

Patje 66



APPENDIX 3a Interview Guidance Form for Stakeholders

INTERVIEW GUIDE WITH
STAKEHOLDERS m
ADAS

Introduction

Good morning/afternoon. My name is.... calling from ADAS. We are conducting a
study on behalf of the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra)
and the Welsh Government (WG) to assess the risks that sky lanterns and helium
balloons may pose to livestock, crops and the environment. We are speaking to a
wide of range of stakeholders and organisations to develop a dependable evidence
base. This study will help to establish if any further action is needed to address
any concerns that people might have about them.

Name of
interviewer

Contact details
of the
interviewee

Date of
interview

Section 1: General information

1. Name of the (Should know beforehand)
interviewee
Job title/ (may also know beforehand)
position
Organisation (Should know beforehand)

2. Is your organisation generally negative, neutral or positive about the release of sky lanterns and helium

balloons?
Negative Neutral Positive
Sky Lanterns 1 [ [ s
Helium Balloons Ct [ e

Could you explain why this is and give an OVERVIEW of your organisations position regarding the release of
sky lanterns/helium balloons?

Pag®67



What evidence, if any, does your organisation have to support its position?
Details of evidence (title, date, link, etc.):

Section 2: Evidence of Risks and Impact

3.  From the perspective of your organisation, do you think there are potential risks or negative impacts related to
release sky lanterns/helium balloons?

No Risks or negative Some risks/ Very negative
impacts negative impacts impacts
Sky Lanterns [ 11 (o T10Q5) [ e
Helium Balloons [ ]1 (o 10 Q5) [ [

4.  What do you think the key risks are and have you got any direct evidence, or evidence based on experiences
for any of these? Ask respondent to document the number of incidences, and impact.

Evidence available

List Risks/Negative for no. of Evidenge available
Impacts incidences for impact
Sky lanterns [ Ives [ ves
|:|Yes |:|Yes
|:|Yes |:|Yes
|:|Yes |:|Yes
|:|Yes |:|Yes
|:|Yes |:|Yes
Helium Balloons [ Ives [ ves
|:|Yes |:|Yes
|:|Yes |:|Yes
|:|Yes |:|Yes
|:|Yes |:|Yes
|:|Yes |:|Yes

Detail evidence (1):

¢ Incidences relate to: Sky Lanterns[ ] Helium Balloons[]
Main types of incidences

Is there any documented evidence of the incidences or impact?

Do you have any evidence on the cost of these impacts?

Any more information

Patje 68



Detail evidence (2):

IF THE INCIDENCES ARE RELATED TO FIRE, ANIMAL HEALTH IMPACTS,
OR LITTERING, do you have any evidence on the impacts in comparison with
other types of device (e.g. firework) or litter (e.g. plastic bags, metal cans or
barbed wire)?

Incidences relate to: Sky Lanterns[] Helium Balloons[ ]

Detail evidence (3):

IF THE INCIDENCES ARE RELATED TO sky lanterns and human accidents,
do you have any evidence on the number of incidences in comparison with
fireworks over the last couple of years?

Incidences relate to: Sky Lanterns[] Helium Balloons[ ]

5a Are you aware of any activities or actions promoted by the Government, Local Authority, press or media to
raise the public profile of the risks presented by uncontrolled use of sky lanterns or helium balloons?
YES NO
[l [ J2(GoT0@8)
Details of actions of mentioned (source)?
5b Do you have any evidence on the impact of these awareness raising activities?
YES NO
L [
Details of evidence (source, link, etc.)
6. (ONLY ASKIFIT IS LOCAL AUTHORITY)

Have you got an estimate on the number of mass releases of sky lanterns/helium balloons that have taken
place in the past few years in your county?

Period covered Please tick if yes No. of releases Source of information
Sky lanterns []
Helium Balloons []

Details on the basis of estimates:

Page’69



7a Has your organisation taken any actions to discourage or ban the release of sky lanterns and/or helium
balloons or minimising any potential risks?

Please tick all that Start and end

Type of activities apply Specify the action date of the action

A formal ban on releasing

sky lanterns/helium ]
balloons
A no-release campaign []

Encouraging people to
report a release of sky []
lantern/ helium balloon

Promotion of sky lantern/
helium balloon
alternatives

Guidance on the safe use
of sky lanterns

Other
None

GOTOQ8

oo o O

Details of actions:

7b  How effective have these measures/actions been in discouraging the release of sky lanterns and/or helium
balloons or minimising their potential negative impacts? Is there any evidence for their effectiveness?

Please Effectiveness
tick what Evidence
Type of activities was Not Somewhat  Very  Don't ;
] X . : available?
mentioned effective  effective  effective  know
at 6A
A formal ban on releasing
sky lanterns/helium ] L1 [ 12 [ s [ 4 [ ] ves

balloons
A no-release campaign ] []1 [ (I3 [s  [ves

Encouraging people to

report a release of sky [] [ 1 [ [Is [s [ves

lantern/ helium balloon

Promotion of sky

lantern/helium balloon ] [ 1 [ [Is [s [ves

alternatives

Guidance on the safe use
of sky lanterns

Other

I:h I:‘Z |:|3 |:|4 I:‘ Yes
[ 1 [ ]2 [ s [ 4 [ ] Yes

1 O

Detail evidence:

Patje 70



Section 3: Any additional evidence/comments

8. Do you have any other comments?

Sky lanterns:

Helium
Balloons:

Section 4: Approval for future contact

9  Are you happy to be contacted again if we need to confirm a few details?
YES NO
[ [
IF YES, are
preferred to be
contacted by
phone or email?
Record details
of email or
phone numbers

Pagé’71



APPENDIX 3b Interview Guidance Form for Sky Lantern and Helium
Balloon Suppliers and Distributors

INTERVIEW GUIDE WITH SKY /\[ |

LANTERN AND HELIUM BALLOON
SUPPLIERS ADAS

Introduction

Good morning/afternoon. My name is.... calling from ADAS. We are conducting a
study on behalf of the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra)
and the Welsh Government (WG) who are responsible for implementing policy on the
environment and animal welfare. The purpose of this study is to establish a
dependable evidence base on the use of sky lanterns and helium balloons. As an
independent consultancy, we are keen to gather factual evidence from the industry
So we can adequately reflect both sides of the debate within the evidence base that
we have been asked to establish through this project. It is also important to
understand the market value of the industry and how important it is to the UK
economy.

Name of interviewer

Date of interview

Section 1: General information

1. Name of the (Should know beforehand)
interviewee
Job title/ position (may also know beforehand)
Company (should know beforehand)

2. Could you briefly describe your business? (Product range, and what is your company’s role in the supplier
chain- importer, distributor, wholesaler, retailer...)

Sky Lanterns []
Helium Balloons ]

3.  What are the key types of sky lanterns/ helium balloons that you are supplying? Could you give a brief
description of each type?

Number of key types

TYPE 1:

TYPE 2:

Patje 72



TYPE 3:

TYPE 4:

TYPE 5:

Section 2: Industry Response and Impact

4,

4a

4b

4c

Are you aware of any recent call for action on sky lanterns and helium balloons?

Sky Lanterns [ ]ves [ INo
Helium Balloons [ ]ves [ INo
IF YES:
What actions against sky lanterns and helium balloons are you aware of?

What'’s your company’s response to these actions?

What are the impacts of these actions to your business? ( ASK FOR EVIDENCE)

5a

5b

Have there been any changes in sales of sky lanterns or helium balloons in the past 5 years? (BY KEY TYPES
OF PRODUCT)-RECORD SALES FIGURES for 2012 and/or percentage changes, compared to 2011 and five

years ago.

0,
2012* % changz g$;npared to

% change compared to 2007

TYPE 1 %

%

TYPE 2 %

%

TYPE 3 %

%

TYPE 4 %

%

TYPE 5 %

%

OR: ALL
TYPE %

%

*: Volume of sales and/ or value.

Description of changes and explain the changes

Are there changes in consumer behaviour? (for example, are there more people enquiring about sustainability

issues/safety issues etc. before purchasing? Etc.)

Pagé&73




6a Are you aware of any potential risks/negative impact that sky lanterns/helium balloons may have to human
health and safety, well being of livestock, wildlife, crops and the environment?
Sky Lanterns [ Ives [ INo
Helium Balloons [ Ives [ INo
Details of risks mentioned:
6b IF YES, have you taken any actions or make changes to the products to mitigate risks?
Sky Lanterns [ Ives [ INo
Helium Balloons [ Ives [ INo
Details of actions /changes:
6¢c IF ACTIONS TAKEN/CHANGES MADE, how effective are these measures to mitigate those risks? ASK FOR
EVIDENCE TOO.
Sky Lanterns [ Ives [ INo
Helium Balloons [ Ives [ INo
Details of effectiveness and evidence:
7. Have you got any additional comments regarding sky lanterns and helium balloons?

Section 3: Information about the Company

8a

8b

8c

8d

8e

In which year did the company start operating?

Details

How many employees do you have?

Details

What'’s the market share of your company in England and Wales?

Details

Who are your main customers?

Details

Which are the main regions that you are supplying? How many sales outlets do you have in each? And their
shares of sales?

Details

Patfe 74



8f What’s your annual revenue from sales of sky lanterns /helium balloons?

Details

OR Select from the
following bands:

Under 20k
20k-50k
50k-100k
100k-200k
200k-500k
Over 500k

poogoog

Section 4: Approval for future contact

9  Are you happy to be contacted again if we need to confirm a few details?
YES NO
[ 1 [ 12
IF YES, are preferred
to be contacted by
phone or email?
Record details of

email or phone
numbers

Pagé&'75



APPENDIX 4 List of Stakeholders Consulted

Consulted organisations- risk and impacts

Agrical

British Cattle Veterinary Association (BCVA)
British Horse Society (BHS)

British Veterinary Association (BVA)

British Veterinary Zoological Society (BVZS)
Chief Fire Officers Association (CFOA)

Civil Aviation Authority (CAA)

Conwy County Council

Defra Rural Farming Networks (RFN)
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS)
England & Wales Wildfire Forum (EWWF)
Farmers Union Wales (FUW)

Goat Veterinary Society (GVS)

Heather Trust

Keep Wales Tidy (KWT)

Manchester Airport

Marine Conservation Society (MCS)
Maritime and Coastguard Agency/HM Coastguard
Milton Keynes Council

National Farmers Union (NFU)

NFU Mutual

Staffordshire County Council

Women’s Food and Farming Union (WFU)

Consulted organisations- suppliers and industry

The Balloon Association (NABAS)

Balloons and Party Industry Alliance (BAPIA)

European Balloon & Party Council (EBPC)

Individual sky lantern retailers (names withheld for confidentiality)

Patje 76



APPENDIX 5 Literature and Interview Evidence Summary Tables

The search results from the desk review and telephone interviews were summarised in note
form, as shown in Appendices 5.1 to 5.7 below. The validity of the data was assessed for:

¢ Independence- the quality of the evidence based on the independence of the author;

¢ Reliability- the quality of the evidence based upon the information behind it, i.e.
anecdotal or study based;

¢ Robustness- the quality of the evidence based on whether there are clear causal links
with sky lanterns or helium balloons.

A number-based scoring system was used, based on a 1 to 3 scale, whereby 1 was lowest
and 3 was highest for that particular criterion. As an example, for Independence:

e A score of 1 was given to a source produced by an organisation such as a
lobby group, charitable or member - based organisation with specific
interests;

e A score of 2 was given to sources published by independent bodies;

A score of 3 was given to a source produced in a scientific peer-reviewed
journal or publication.

The scores for these criteria were not averaged into an overall score for each piece of
evidence, as this would potentially be misleading.

A score of 1 was given to all news articles. Although the source reporting the incident may be
independent, the actual evidence presented was often quoted without references and it was
therefore difficult to determine the true independence of the evidence presented.

Pagé& 77



APPENDIX 5.1 Risks to animals and marine life

Table 5.1.1 Source summary- risks to animal health and welfare (literature)

Source Score
Reference Title Sky Description of evidence
lanterns/ 3 "
helium 5 = b
balloons g = S
s | £ |2
E & | &
RSPCA RSPCA wildlife | Helium Factsheet focusing on the 1 1 2
(Oct 2005) factsheet balloons impacts of helium balloons to
wildlife, suggested actions to
be taken
Chester Cheshire Sky News article looking at the 1 1 2
Chronicle farmer Huw lanterns impact of sky lanterns on
(10 Feb 2010) Rowlands call cattle
for Chinese
lantern ban
after cow death
BBC news Farmers in Sky News article describing the 1 1 2
(24 August 2010) | Wales start lanterns potential risks from lanterns
'lantern patrols'
BBC news Chinese Sky News article looking at the 1 2 2
(13 September lanterns: lanterns impact of sky lanterns on
2010) tranquillity livestock
masks a threat
Welsh Welsh Chief Sky Article released by Welsh 2 2 2
Government Vet warns of lanterns Government looking at the
(1 Dec 2010) Chinese impact of sky lanterns on
lantern danger livestock health
BBC news Tiverton farmer | Sky News article looking at a 1 1 2
(23 Feb 2011) put magnets in | lanterns method to reduce impacts of
cows stomachs sky lanterns on livestock
Daily Telegraph Farmer wins Helium News article where farmer 1 2 3
(5 May 2011) compensation balloons wins successful insurance
after Red Nose claim against school as a
Day balloon result of cattle death from
kills cow balloon
Farmers Battle against Sky News article detailing effects 1 1 2
Guardian Chinese lanterns of sky lanterns on livestock
(2 May 2012) lanterns health
intensifies after
cow deaths
RSPB Celebrate Sky Website article looking at 1 2 2
(25 May 2012) safely this lanterns effects of sky lanterns on
summer for wildlife
animals' sake
Horse and Hound | Fresh warnings | Sky Website article looking at 1 2 2
(27 July 2012) over danger of | lanterns impacts of sky lanterns on

Chinese
lanterns to
horses

horses

Patfe 78




(7]
0
o
=
o

Source
Reference Title Sky Description of evidence
lanterns/ ] *
helium o > b4
balloons g = S
5 |£ 2
2 & &
BBC news Conwy Helium News article looking at 1 2 2
(31 August 2012) | council's balloons impacts of balloons on wildlife
lantern, balloon
ban bid to
protect wildlife
RSPCA RSPCA wildlife | Sky Factsheet focusing on the 1 1 2
(Oct 2012) factsheet lanterns impacts of sky lanterns on
wildlife, suggested actions to
be taken
The Daily Farmers call for | Sky News article detailing impact 1 1 2
Telegraph ban on sky lanterns of sky lanterns on the
(2011) lanterns environment, livestock and

horses

Pagé&79




Table 5.1.2 Source summary- risks to animal health and welfare (interviews)

Source Score
Reference Sky Description of Independence Reliability Robustness
lanterns/ | evidence
helium
balloons
Penrose (2002) | Helium Incident of a dead 3 3 2
Marine balloons juvenile green turtle in | (survey (evidence (other plastic
Conservation Blackpool. Turtle died conducted by supported by | debris was
Society from oesophageal and | professional documented consumed by
referring to stomach impaction body) post mortem the animal as
2002 Marine resulting from report) well as a
Environmental ingestion of plastic balloon
Monitoring including a large fragment)
report balloon fragment
British Horse Sky 9 reports from 3 2 2
Society (2013) lanterns November 2010-Jan (evidence (evidence (most likely
2013 of sky lantern provided by supported by | that horses
impacts on horse members other were
behaviour without prompt) | accounts) frightened by
sky lanterns
but no
definitive
causal link
can be made
from
evidence)
British Horse Sky Two reports from 3 2 3
Society (2013) lanterns British Horse Society (evidence (evidence (causal links
members posted on provided by supported by | to sky
www.horseaccidents.o | members other lanterns)
rg.uk a live forum for without prompt) | accounts)
recording incidents —
describes injuries
sustained to horses
from sky lanterns
British Horse Sky Reports from members | 3 2 3
Society (2013) lanterns of the British Horse (evidence (evidence (causal links
Society posted on provided by supported by | to sky
www.horseaccidents.o | members other lanterns)
rg.uk a live forum for without prompt) | accounts)
recording incidents - 4
reports of sky lanterns
landing in hay fields
Staffordshire Sky Anecdotal evidence 2 2 2
County Council | lanterns from a number of (anecdotal (evidence of (anecdotal
(2013) farmers regarding evidence but not | impact, and evidence of
health impacts of sky substantiated) plausible livestock
lanterns on livestock - based on impacts)
describes livestock other impacts)
death
Hudson (2010) | Sky Report by 3 3 2
Staffordshire lanterns Staffordshire County (fact, based on (evidence (presence of
County Council Council - Impact of sky | impartial supported by | links to sky
lantern on animal literature review) | references) lanterns, but

health

these are not
confirmed)

Patje 80




Source Score
Reference Sky Description of Independence Reliability Robustness
lanterns/ | evidence
helium
balloons
Women’s Food | Sky Impact of sky lanterns | 2 2 2
& Farming lanterns on livestock health - 10 | (reported to be (evidence said | (causal links
Union (2011) reports of cattle death | based on to be implicated,
and 1 sheep death individual farmer | confirmed by but not
confirmed by post accounts) post mortem verified by
mortem to be caused or veterinary project team)
by sky lanterns reports but not
verified by
project team)
Farmer/ Sky Anecdotal evidence of | 2 1 2
personal lanterns/ | sky lanterns and (not necessarily | (evidence but | (presence of
communication | helium helium balloons found | unbiased not supported) | causal links)
(2013) balloons in farmers fields judgement)
NFU Members Sky Anecdotal evidence 2 2 2
Report (2013) lanterns based on reports (not necessarily | (evidence (causal links
posted to NFU unbiased supported by implicated,
regional offices - 18 judgement) other but not
reports of sky lanterns accounts) verified by
landing in cropped project team)
areas
Goat Veterinary | Sky Anecdotal report of 2 2 1
Society (2013), | lanterns thin wire found at post | (source is based | (evidence (source only
personal mortem of a goat - on ‘second allegedly documented
communication ‘probably’ due to sky hand’ supported by | thin wire
lantern information) post mortem being found,
but not not
confirmed) confirmed to
be related to
a sky lantern)
Goat Veterinary | Helium Anecdotal evidence of | 2 1 2
Society (2013), | balloons goat choking on (source is based | (‘second source said
personal helium balloon on ‘second hand’ to be related
communication hand’ evidence not to helium
information) supported) balloons but
not
confirmed)

Pag@8l




Table 5.1.3 Impact on marine life (literature)

Source Score
Reference Title Sky Description of
lanterns/ evidence ]
helium S . 2
balloons 2 £ £
g |z &
Lucas, Z Monitoring persistent Plastics Scientific journal 3 3 1
(1992) litter in the marine mainly describing impacts of
environment on Sable beach litter (abstract
Island, Nova Scotia only)
Lutacavage Human impacts on sea Plastics Scientific journal 3 3 1
ME, Plotkin P, | turtle survival mainly describing impacts on
Witherington sea turtles
B, Lutz PL
(1997)
Kent Local Marine & coastal litter Plastics Article released by 2 3 2
Government mainly local government
(2004) looking at causes,
descriptions and
impacts of marine
littering in UK
WWEF (2005) Marine Health check Plastics Yearly review by WWF | 1 2 2
2005 mainly on marine
conservation issues
The Green What we know about Plastics Fact sheet detailing 1 2 2
Blue (2009) litter in the marine mainly extent of marine litter
environment and tips on reducing it
Hyrenbach, Seabirds indicate plastic | Plastics Non UK scientific 3 3 1
DW, Nevins, pollution in the marine mainly paper associated with
H, Hester, M, environment: quantifying marine pollution
Keiper, C, spatial patterns and through littering
Webb, S and trends in Alaska
Harvey, J
(2009)
The Marine Litter in the Plastics Scientific paper 3 3 1
Convention for | North East Atlantic mainly looking at marine
the Protection | region debris and harm to
of the Marine marine life
Environment
of the North-
East Atlantic
(OSPAR)
(2009)
Ten Brink et al | Guidelines on the use of | Plastics Scientific paper 3 2 1
(2009) market-based mainly looking at marine
instruments to address debris issues and
the problem of marine harm to wildlife
litter
Ribic, CA, Trends and drivers of Plastics Scientific paper 3 3 1
Sheavly, SB, marine debris on the mainly describing patterns of
Rugg, DJ and | Atlantic coast of the US marine debris
Erdmann, ES 1997-2007
(2010)

Page 82




Source Score
Reference Title Sky Description of o
lanterns/ evidence 2 »
helium 9 > o
balloons S = £
e (2]
g |S |3
2 & |&
KIMO Economic Impacts of Plastics Document on 1 3 1
International Marine Litter mainly economic impacts by
(2010) an environmental
organisation.
Vanhooren, S, | Moving towards an Plastics Journal on 3 3 3
Maelfait, J and | ecological management | mainly management of
Belphaeme, K | of beaches beaches with focus on
(2011) the damage caused by
mechanical beach
cleaners and mention
of balloons
Cuykens Ann, | Sea, beach and bird: Plastics Scientific paper (non 3 2 2
B, Claessens, | plastics everywhere mainly UK) looking at plastic
M, Maelfait, debris in the Belgian
H, Dewitte, marine environment
E, Goffin, A,
Stienen, EWM
and Janssen,
CR (2011)
Scottish Marine litter issues, Plastics Website article looking | 2 3 2
Government, impacts and actions mainly at a wide variety of
(2012) impacts of marine
debris and possible
remediation initiatives
Schuyler et al. | To eat or not to eat? Plastics Scientific paper 3 3 3
(2012) Debris selectivity by mainly looking at marine
marine turtles debris and harm to
marine life, in
particular sea turtles
Lusher, AL, Occurrence of Plastics UK based study on 3 3 1
McHugh, M, microplastics in the mainly effects of micro plastic
Thompson, gastrointestinal tract of litter on pelagic &
RC (2013) pelagic and demersal demersal fish
fish from the English
channel
EPA - National Marine Debris Plastics Scientific paper (non 3 2 2
Environmental | Monitoring Program. mainly UK) evaluating marine
Protection Lessons learned debris monitoring
Agency scheme in US
Marine MCS Plastics Document detailing 1 2 3
Conservation | Pollution Policy and mainly MCS position on litter
Society (MCS) | Position Statement and pollution
position
statement
(undated)

Page’83




APPENDIX 5.2 Fire risk

Table 5.2.1 Source summary- fire risk (literature)

Source Score
Reference Title Sky Description of ©
lanterns/ evidence Q ®
helium g > 4
balloons < = %
g |8 |2
R
BBC news Cathedral fire alert over | Sky News article detailing 1 2 3
(2006) lantern lanterns impact of sky lanterns
on property damage
BBC news Sky lanterns 'posing fire | Sky News article detailing 1 2 2
(2009) risk' lanterns impact of sky lantern
fire on risk to human
safety/health
BBC news Chinese lantern causes | Sky News article detailing 1 2 3
(2010)® crop fire near lanterns impacts of sky lanterns
Woodstock and crop damage due
to fire
BBC news Leicestershire farmer Sky News article detailing 1 2 2
(2010)b saves crop from being lanterns impact of sky lanterns
destroyed by lanterns on crop damage
BBC news Lantern warning after Sky News article detailing 1 2 2
(2011) Holy Island dunes fire lanterns impact of sky lanterns
on fire risk to
environment
BBC news Michael Eavis calls for Sky News article detailing 1 1 2
(2011) UK ban on Chinese lanterns impacts of sky lanterns
lanterns on crop damage and
livestock death
Stourbridge Wordsley family has Sky News article detailing 1 2 2
News (2011) lucky escape after lanterns impact of sky lanterns
lantern starts car blaze on human health
The Daily Latest fire caused by Sky News article detailing 1 2 2
Telegraph Chinese sky lanterns lanterns impact of sky lanterns
(2011) increases calls for a ban on property damage
and human health risk
BBC news Chinese lantern blamed | Sky News article detailing 1 2 2
(2011) for Somerton fire lanterns impact of sky lanterns
on property damage
The Daily Fire-fighters called 100 Sky News article detailing 1 1 2
Telegraph times to deal with lanterns impact of sky lanterns
(2011) burning Chinese on fire-fighter call-outs
lanterns
The Daily Fire-fighters call for ban | Sky News article detailing 1 1 2
Telegraph, on sky lanterns lanterns impact of sky lanterns
(2011) on the environment,
livestock and horses
BBC news Lantern causes Sky News article detailing 1 2 2
(2012) Flintshire conservatory lanterns impact of sky lanterns
fire on property damage
BBC (2012) Pembroke Dock new Firework News article which 2 1 2

year firework sparks
blaze in three homes

describes property fire
as a result of fireworks

Patfe 84




Table 5.2.2 Source summary- fire risk (interviews)

Source Score
Reference Sky Description of evidence | Independence Reliability | Robustness
lanterns/
helium
balloons
Women’s Food | Sky Reports submitted to WFU | 2 2 2
& Farming lanterns | (anecdotal evidence). Two | (reported to be (evidence | (presence of
Union (2013) incidences of sky lanterns | based on supported | causal links
landing in domestic individual by 1 other | but not
properties. Fire put out, no | accounts) account) completely
damage caused verified)
Women’s Food | Sky Reports submitted to WFU | 2 2 2
& Farming lanterns | (anecdotal evidence (reported to be (evidence | (presence of
Union (2013) backed up by press based on on one causal links
articles in some cases). individual case said | but not
Three incidences of sky accounts) to be completely
lanterns landing in fields of confirmed | verified)
straw or crops (barley) by
and setting them alight, insurance
confirmed by fire officer as claim and
caused by sky lanterns fire
officers
report not
seen by
project
team)
NFU (2013) Sky Anecdotal evidence based | 2 2 2
lanterns | on reports posted to NFU | (not necessarily | (evidence | (presence of
regional offices of caravan | unbiased supported | causal links
damage due to sky lantern | judgement). by other but not
fire accounts) | completely
verified)
NFU (2013) Sky Anecdotal evidence based | 2 2 2
lanterns | on reports posted to NFU | (not necessarily | (evidence | (presence of
regional offices of lanterns | unbiased supported | causal links
landing alight among hay | judgement). by other but not
bales, lanterns accounts) | completely
extinguished before verified)
damage caused
EWWEF (2013), | Sky Anecdotal evidence of 1 1 2
personal lanterns | wildfire incidents caused (anecdotal (evidence | (presence of
communication by sky lanterns. In all, 8 evidence based | not causal links)
wildfire incidents in on personal supported)
Dorset, and 3 in communications)
Northumberland caused
by sky lanterns
CFOA (2013), | Sky UK survey conducted from | 2 2 3
personal lanterns | 2009 to 2011 for a BBC (evidence based | (evidence | (presence of
communication programme in July 2011. on personal supported | sky lanterns
60 Fire and Rescue communication by other specifically)
Services asked to take by independent | accounts)

part in survey and 42
responded (70%
participation)

body)

Page’85




APPENDIX 5.3 Littering on land and at sea

Table 5.3.1 Source summary - littering on land and at sea (literature)

Source Score
Reference | Title Sky Description of evidence
lanterns/ 8
helium g o
balloons o 2 o
c = £
E g |8
MCS Don’'t Let Go | Helium Paper associated with organisation 1 3 3
(2009) balloons | looking at the effects of balloon
releases as littering
NABAS, NABAS code | Helium Position paper highlighting guidelines 1 2 2
Code of of conduct for | balloons | for helium balloon release
conduct balloon
(2009) release
Burchette | Study of the Helium Scientific journal looking at effects of 1 1 2
(1989) effects of balloons | helium balloon releases on littering
balloons on
the
environment
Keep Keep Wales Helium Position paper detailing impact of 2 2 3
Wales Tidy Position | balloons | balloon releases as litter
Tidy Paper
(2008)
The What is the Sky News article detailing environmental 1 2 3
Guardian environmental | lantern impact of sky lanterns
(2009) impact of a
sky lantern?
Vanhooren | Moving Helium Scientific journal looking at cost of 3 3 2
etal towards an balloons | beach clean up and litter sources on
(2011) ecological beaches
management
of beaches
Keep Keep Wales Helium Updated position paper looking at 2 3 3
Wales Tidy balloons | balloon releases as a source of littering
Tidy information and sky
update on balloons lanterns
(2013) and lanterns

Page 86




Table 5.3.2 Source summary- littering on land and at sea (interviews)

Source Score
Reference Sky Description of evidence
lanterns ]
/ helium S - §
balloons 2 £ £
2 8 2
2 & E
Marine Helium MCS Beach-watch results 3 3 3
Conservation | balloons | confirming balloon litter (survey (evidence | (clear links of
Society (2012) increase from 3.4 items/km of | conducted | of impact, | balloon litter)
beach in 1996 to 9.5 items/km \t/)z)llunteers glf;% cble
of beach in 2011 assumed based on
unbiased other
reporting) impacts)
Conwy County | Sky Anecdotal evidence from 2 2 2
Council (2013) | lanterns | councils cleansing (anecdotal (evidence | (anecdotal
and department relating to more evidence but | of impact, evidencg of
helium | balloon and sky lantern debris gﬁgnﬂﬁe 0 2{;‘3} sble balloon litter)
balloons | left in hedges, roadsides etc based on
other
impacts)
KWT (2013), Helium Survey data from KWT’s 3 3 3
personal balloons | Local Environmental Audit (survey (evidence | (clear survey
communication and Management System conducted | of direct | methodology
(extracted from (LEAMS) confirming balloon | %Y impact) to ensure
survey data) litter found on 1% of streets | Yolunteers), robustness).
- assumed
surveyed by KWT in the unbiased
2010-11 survey year reporting)
WFU (2013) Sky A vegetable for Tesco 2 1 2
lanterns | contacted WFU to say that he | (personal (evidence | (presence of
routinely spent every Monday communicati | but not causal links
morning picking up sky on) ts)upported EUt .not sound
lantern litter from fields a%ything e:tsi:ria(t)e
other than | impact)
anecdotal
‘third
party’
account)

Pag@®87




APPENDIX 5.4 Risk to aviation

Table 5.4.1a Source summary- risks to aviation (literature)

Source Score
Reference Title Sky Description of evidence
lanterns/ ] *
helium S | o @
balloons e £ £
S =
5|2 |2
2le &
CAA (2011) | Operation of directed Sky Article released by UK 2 2 3
light, fireworks, toy lanterns, organisation focusing on the
balloons and sky helium impacts of fireworks, laser
lanterns within UK balloons, | light, sky lantern and helium
airspace also balloons on aviation.
fireworks
BBC news Sky lantern warning Sky BBC news article that 1 2 3
(2011) issued by Manchester | lanterns focuses on impacts of sky
Airport lanterns on aviation safety
Table 5.4.2 Source summary- risks to aviation (interviews)
Source Score
Reference Sky Description of evidence
lanterns/ 8
helium g @
balloons -] 2 @
3 = 2
o)
g g 3
£ & @
Manchester Sky A mandatory occurrence report 3 3 3
Airport (2013), | lanterns | (MOR)"" filed by Manchester (fact, reported (confirmed | (clear causal
personal Airport. An outbound passenger as an official evidence link)
communication plane reported a sky lantern on g‘ifg::frt‘t by gsms(l% on
the runway of Manchester airport ) runway)
which delayed an outbound
departure, no inbound traffic
affected

" The objective of the MOR Scheme is to contribute to the improvement of flight safety by ensuring that relevant information on
safety is reported, collected, stored, protected and disseminated. This is administered by the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA).

Page 88




APPENDIX 5.5 Risk to coastal rescue services

Table 5.5.1 Source summary- risks to coastal rescue services (literature)

Source Score
Reference | Title Sky Description of evidence
lanterns/ 3
helium g > §
balloons g £ £
§ |2 |3
E g |
RNLI Chinese Sky RNLI article detailing sky lanterns and 2 2 3
(2010) lanterns lantern coastguard call-outs
spark search
for red flares
off Skegness
RNLI Sunderland Sky RNLI article detailing effects of sky 2 2 3
(2011) RNLI lantern lanterns and coastguard call-outs
Lifeboat
launches
after flares
sighted off
Hendon
HSE Working Sky Health and safety document detailing 2 3 3
(2012) together on lantern regulations and guidance around
firework firework displays
displays
RNLI Newquay Sky RNLI article detailing effects of sky 2 2 3
(2012) RNLI chief in | lantern lanterns and coastguard call outs
new plea
over lights in
the night sky
BBC news | Paper lantern | Sky BBC news article detailing effects of sky | 1 2 3
(2008) sparks major | lantern lanterns and coastguard call-outs
search
BBC news | Chinese Sky News article reporting on false 1 2 3
(2010) lantern lantern coastguard call out due to sky lantern
'sparks sea
search' in
Sussex
Maritime Public urged | Sky Article released looking at impacts of sky | 2 2 2
and to inform lantern lanterns and coastguard call-outs
goastguard coastguard
gency when using
(2009) Chinese
lanterns
Farming Chinese Sky Website article looking at impacts of sky | 1 2 2
UK (2010) | Lanterns: lanterns lanterns on livestock and coastal risk
think twice
says the
NFU

Page’89




Table 5.5.2 Source summary- risks to coastal rescue services (interview)

Source Score
Reference Sky Description Independence | Reliability | Robustness
lanterns/ | of evidence
helium
balloons
Maritime & Coastguard | Sky Documented | 3 3 2
Agency (2013), lanterns | false call outs | (fact, source (evidence | (presence of
personal due to red based on held | supported | causal links but it
communication sky lanterns | records) by held is impossible to
mistaken as data) say that all of
red flares. these events
Number of were definitely
incidents related to sky

reported as;

2007 -7
2008 - 49
2009 - 347
2010 - 754
2011 - 315
2012 - 207

lanterns)

Padge 90




APPENDIX 5.6 Risk to human safety

Table 5.6.1 Source summary- human health risk (literature)

Source Score
Reference Title Sky Description of evidence
lanterns/ ]
helium & .| 8
balloons g £ | g
o) [}
g 23
£ (12 (4
BBC (2010) Warning as | Sky News article looking at sky lanterns and 1 2 2
child burnt lantern human safety
by Chinese
lantern in
Wrexham
BBC (2000) Youth killed | Firework | News article which describes human 1 1 2
by fireworks death as a result of fireworks
MSN news Baby Firework | News article which describes human 1 1 2
article (2011) | burned in injury as a result of fireworks
firework
accident
BBC (2011) Fireworks Firework | News article which describes human 1 1 2
blast into injury as a result of fireworks
Blandford
festival
crowd
BBC (2012) Lewes Firework | News article which describes human 1 2 2
bonfire injury as a result of fireworks
celebrations:
scores
treated by
medics
Elmbridge How many Firework | Information page discussing human 2 3 3
Borough people are injury as a result of fireworks
Council injured by
Website fireworks
each year?
Royal Firework Firework | News article which describes human 2 2 2
Society for injuries in injury as a result of fireworks
the Great Britain
Prevention of | 2005
Accidents

Pag@91




APPENDIX 5.7 Risk to helium resources

Table 5.7.1 Helium as a resource (literature)

Source Score
Reference Title Description of evidence o
o
5 @
s | |2
g |z |8
The Helium News article which focuses on value of helium as a 2 2
Guardian, stocks run resource
Science low — and
(2012) party
balloons are
to blame
The Why the News article focused on US selling off stocks of the | 1 2 2
Independent | world is world’s largest helium reserves by 2015
(August2010) | running out
of helium
The Daily Scientists News article focused on depletion of helium 1 1 2
Mail on line say earth's reserves and belief of some scientists that such a
(August helium scarce resource is being squandered on non-
2010) reserves 'will | essential uses
run out
within 25
years' (and
party
balloons
should cost
£65 each)
The Royal Chemist Website article publicising Christmas lectures by Dr | 2 2 2
Institution of calls for ban | Peter Wothes and expressing concern over scarcity
Great Britain | on helium of helium reserves. It goes on to describe use of
(Dec 2012) balloons this | helium for party balloons taking up 10% of global
Christmas supplies (2009 data)
Daily The end of News article confirming that 75% of helium reserves | 1 2 2
Telegraph the party: are produced in US as a by- product of the oll
(Sept 2012) don't use refining industry
helium
balloons,
demands
academic,
as gas
shortage
threatens
medical
equipment
New Scientist | We are Journal article warning of depleted helium reserves 2 2 2
(Aug 2010) running out and need to avoid non essential uses e.g. party
of helium balloons

Page 92




APPENDIX 6 Member State Information

Table 6.1 Member State tabular information

Member Action taken Incidents Legislation Comments

State

Austria Sales ban Several minor incidents Regulation based on Private purchases from

Austrian product Safety distance-sellers in other EU-
-One major incident (fire was | Act members states are not
set most probably by a sky covered by the regulation.
lantern on the waste paper
storage of a paper mill — New type of "tied" lantern —
some hundred tons of waste diverging risk assessments
paper were burned) between Austria and
Germany
-Generic risk assessment (it
is not acceptable to let a The sales ban seems to be
flame float uncontrolled over quite effective: before the
two or three kilometres etc.) ban, a lot of sky lanterns
can be seen at New Years
-Concerns by the air control Eve, now very few can be
authorities seen.
-Concerns by farmers The existing fire regulations
because of the wires (threat in Austria require careful
to cattle) handling of open fire —
therefore, the use of sky
lanterns could be illegal
even without the sales ban.

Denmark Import and use of No reports on incidents or There is a Danish Attaching the lantern to a
sky lanterns is not accidents although Danish regulation on the use of fixed point with a proper,
prohibited in Coast Guard receives a open fires. durable and non-electricity
Denmark by number of false alarms conducting wire could
national regulation | each year. Import and use of sky eliminate or minimize the
but if enquiries lanterns is regulated by inherent risks of the product
received, the the Danish Product to an acceptable limit.
Danish Safety Safety Act that If the product can be made
Technology transposes the General safe and this can be
Authority informs Product Safety Directive. | documented, the Danish
that sky lanterns Safety technology Authority
are not would accept the product.
considered safe
and may not be
placed on the
market.

Finland In 2009, the The Finnish Safety and There are many This action was based on
Finnish importer Chemicals Agency (Tukes) uncontrollable risks guidelines concerning sales
withdrew has received no information | involved in the use of of sky lanterns in Finland.
voluntarily of serious incidents caused | lanterns that are freely These guidelines are
products from the by these lanterns simply airborne (“sky lanterns” presented in “Safety
market and because sky lanterns have or “flying lanterns”) and requirements for candle
recalled from not been widely sold in these products are products and certain
consumers. Finland, whereas Tukes has | considered to pose a products that constitute a

been informed of accidents
occurred elsewhere in EU,
in such countries where it
has been possible to sell
sky lanterns.

serious risk of fire. Freely
airborne lanterns pose a
serious risk because it is
difficult, if not impossible,
to make sure they will not
get in contact with
combustible materials.
Because of their
lightness, airborne
lanterns may be

fire hazard” published by
Tukes. These guidelines
were prepared together with
the Finnish Fire Rescue
Authorities. The main
feature is, that these
lanterns pose a serious risk
for fire and such a way
lanterns are regarded as
dangerous products in the

Pagé 93




Member Action taken Incidents Legislation Comments
State
transported by wind or air | manner referred in the
currents to buildings, Consumer Safety Act
trees, etc. Such airborne (Section 3 of Act 920/2011).
lanterns with a naked Finnish authorities consider
flame are regarded as there are many uncontrolled
dangerous in the manner risks related to the use of
referred to in section 10 sky lanterns and they pose
of the Consumer Safety a risk to the safety and
Act (section 6 of Act health of consumers Tukes
75/2004). Dangerous has considered sky
airborne lanterns may not | lanterns, found from Finnish
be placed on the market. market, as dangerous
consumer products and
these products are
withdrawn, when it has
found out that these items
are being sold in stores or in
the internet in Finland.
Germany'® Since 2010, in all | In June 2009 there was a The regulations are
German Lander death in connection with a issued primarily on the
legislation came in | sky lantern in flames. basis of legislation on
force prohibiting public order and safety,
the use_of sky fire protection rules, and
lanterns. in some cases on the
However, the basis of the Aviation Law.
placing on the
market of sky
lanterns is not
prohibited.
Malta The sales and use | A risk assessment carried No. 634 Product Safety Sky lanterns were deemed

of sky lanterns
has been banned
by the Malta
Standards
Authority (Source:
press release on
Dec. 17 2009),
followed by a risk
assessment using
the RAPEX
assessment
model

out on the use of sky
lanterns in Malta gave a
serious risk profile. Hence
these products were banned
from sale and use in and
around Malta. Relevant
aspects for having such a
risk profile are the size of the
Maltese islands and hence
the affect such products can
have on planes landing in or
taking off from Malta.
Moreover, the dry weather
prevalent in Malta can easily
cause fields and wooden
fittings on buildings to catch
fire. Malta being so densely
populated, the probability of
a lighted lantern falling onto
residential areas is
considered high. As yet, no
accidents have been known
to occur due to Chinese
lanterns in Malta.

Act (Cap . 427) Use of
Sky Lanterns Banned

The Malta Competition
and Consumer Affairs
Authority is hereby
banning with immediate
effect the use of Sky
Lanterns, sometimes also
referred to as Chinese
Lanterns or Wish
Lanterns. These products
have been deemed
unsafe and pose a
serious risk to
consumers.

unsafe and posed a serious
risk to consumers

Once inflated, the lanterns
are released into the
atmosphere where they float
haphazardly out of control of
the human user. Such mode
of operation may cause the
lantern to glide onto
flammable or highly
combustible materials such
as houses, fields and cars,
thus posing an obvious risk
to third party individuals and
property. These products
have also caused problems
related to false alarms for
coastguards.

Incidences of fire caused by
sky lanterns in other EU
countries.

'2 Disparity in information, our consultation with Germany suggested that there was not a national policy in restricting the use of
sky lanterns although it is illegal to launch a sky lantern in most parts of Germany.

Pate 94




Member Action taken Incidents Legislation Comments
State
Netherlands Meetings with Commodities Law Sky lantern on the market
importers, General Product Safety since 2007. Risk
research and risk (consumer safety and assessment concludes that
assessments safety of goods) current Sky Lantern does
carried out by NL not comply with article 3 of
authorities using Regulation kites and the GPSD; it poses a
RAPEX small unmanned balloons medium risk; changes to the
assessment (flight safety) product might lead to a low
model as provided risk product. Following
in the RAPEX innovation by importers in
guidelines. 2010, a new design of
lantern has been on the
market since the end of
2010 which takes into
account certain safety
requirements and other
aspects to reduce risks.
These include warnings
against use during
unfavourable weather
conditions and a reduction
in the flammability of the
lantern.
Spain Ban on a brand of Market surveillance The Spanish authorities

British made flying
lanterns from the
market due to
their fire hazard.
(Source: NFU
online, 12 January
2012".). Sky
Lanterns
originating in the
UK have been
withdrawn from
the market by the
authorities due to
the product posing
a risk of burns and
injuries. After
launching, the
lanterns fly in the
air without control
rendering it
difficult or
impossible to
avoid the lanterns
coming into
contact with
flammable
material. (Source;
RQA Group-
product recall
case studiesz)

authorities decided in
2007 that the product
can create risks for the
consumer. Spain
considers that the
Commission should
apply Art. 13 of the
GPSD

claimed that flying lanterns
posed a risk of burns and
fire because, after
launching, they fly through
the air without control.
(Source: Farmers Guardian.
11 January 2012°)

The Spanish authorities
said the lanterns fly in the
air without control making it
impossible to avoid the
lanterns coming into contact
with flammable material
such as dry vegetation or
buildings. (Source: NFU
online, 12 January 2012°.)

" _ http://www.nfuonline.com/Our-work/Campaigns-and-Lobbying/Brussels/Spanish-ban-hazardous-%E2%80%98flying-

lantern%E2%80%99/; % - http://www.rga-group.com/product-recall-case-studies.php?page_number=6&type=1; > -

http://www.farmersquardian.com/home/latest-news/spain-bans-skv-lanterns/44056.article;j - http://www.nfuonline.com/Our-

work/Campaigns-and-Lobbying/Brussels/Spanish-ban-hazardous-%E2%80%98flying-lantern%E2%80%99/;

Source: Compiled and developed by the ADAS research team based on consultations with EU countries,
published sources and the information on the position of Member States provided by contact at Electronic,

Materials, Chemicals and Product Regulations in BIS.

Pagé95




APPENDIX 7a Sky Lantern Release Product Safety Guidelines

Release Instructions

L]

A minimum of twe Adults are reguired to ight g lantem,

Taka aul the falder sky lanterms carsfully from the plastic wrapping, baing very
carsful not 1o tear or rip the delicate papser.

Before ighting the lantem. hold it by the bamboo nm and gently fill the: lantermn
with ar o expand it fully and remove the creases in the tissue paper.

To light the lantem, hald A by the top and the bambog rim whilst ancther
person lights the wick by holding a naked flame against 1 for a few seconds.

TAKE CARE - BEFORE THE LANTERN IS LAUNCHED

THE NAKED FLAME MUST BE SUPERVISED AT ALL TIMES

The lantam will fill with hot air from the it touch paper and bie ready to be
releasec within approximatsly 30 seconds.

Halid the lantemn by the bamboo rim until the lantern is full of hot air and s reacy
to float gently into the sky. Do net release # prematurely as the lantern will fall to
the ground.

Page 96



iath,  Safety Instructions

W Famiiariee yoursel with e e betors hgnitng and auncie Inem
Plesamer refar 1o e meleass Fsiictions for mane mioomation

W oot Fench osad condifions e maks kgnteg e Brtem dificl Inoany case ansuang Bet
e w8 Aot stronges than Bmph Dease refer o 8 wealher forecast for appeoeirmats wind
EERadE W WDUN AMER SLCH AS wiew bbo oo uk et e

Biafom the ke s laonched, tie nased e must be sdpenvaed ot aF enes

W Launching a &rder in strong winds. that 5 formoar hae bum holsa o meay causs premetors
tanding and fire at the pord of grGuncng

W Creck e wed disschion pear o releasng e Boterns - chisfackes such as buikfngs and troes
wroukl not be e tne direct thghheath of tna lkrtem and must beal kaet 30omatmos sy,

O P o s, @l lansarns sk be kept inoa dng, secume place & way samoehilden. Eoswee thar all
Ceitnian e kaapd UnEer SUpoenssion o oty e the solaies o ignition during e ks

W Adevares erisund Pkt any nakod NTames ar supanised @00 nodr e unatterched, bl Sure
nEvE water andior fire aetinguashers &t rard

& Do not ight s redease the lanteens weansg fammable ciotang in case the fame fom e wick
gnites e chithing. For aduficnal safaly, protective gl can be W

& Launching Sky lanterms moan anpennats SUIEIndnos. o Wedther condifinng or atter they nave
bean damaged may causs fiea It coulkd maks you lable o orirmenal chssges or owl claims for
EMRes

B Heaasing large oombers of Beltesrs, O wWithin 8 e milo radius ol an aifpon oF lanog strin?
Plessh contact the Civl Aviaton Autharity 0 chack s space safedy 0 your ame
Adrspews Lidiation Sacton, Drectorate of Arspace Poboy
T2 CAM Honse, 45-08 Kingsway. Lohdon, WC28 612
Bal GR0OT 455 6580 - Fax 0207 450 6883
brmail: ausopaloss. codk

W By Lanters mast nol D edsmsnd WD Tesn mies ot @ IWEen iean oF Mmotoinay

B Sy Lantems ot iob b released wittin 8 5 mile ol of Farmes Fieks and Lve Saock.

W1 o Ara glEanning 10 redsase e lrbesrs withe fea mikas of e ooast plesasa notity 1
faritime and Coastguam Agercy o avoid e |Rmerms by recognised 35 ostress sgnals.
PR A TG i kA ng Al -naneney sk it S ennkac T i

IRPORTANT 'Party Dalignas' and manufactres Light a Lantem® take ne maponsitily for personal
iruiras, clamage o il s st roen e release of fese sky intors

Enjoy yourself and be safe!

Page97



APPENDIX 7b Guidelines and Code of Conduct for Balloon Releases

(NABAS)

NABAS

The Halloon Asseciation

Guidelines
and

Code of Conduct
for
Balloon Releases

Th Snimes and Code of Condus
i desigied oy anpone who iz
ENY & BRGN FEEasE
W belbewe this showdd e
Seiclly satherad 1o it [iss fferes!
o pedeguanahng the envicnmeai

o boied i, A4 1l O S
Ruei-ciriam | Huersordairs R 5
& HEDTE] ER P (1ORGET ETR

T EETowiTErE ST Uk WehE b e Tk o L

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
BALLOON RELEASES

NEBAS s very auang of ifs resporsiniilies 1o
the emwirormens  This Code of Confuct was
orediaed Mo iorrsEige the privcepies for Daloon
reieasEs. whicn have iong been the senoard
furtllrd.lﬂl? o5 emRmely Impartary fnat
adheres o TS code i Te inbeesl of
m&qmm

1. Oy narural ey robier balloons sl
e used fnr Releases

l.lm beng an aoganc prodic degraces

¥ M ihe ar ent  Bslloons
mamdaﬁgnﬂu‘idnhu'trunhmmu
in partioss ol balloons showd nor be
used for Releases  17s Tomidoen o vee
mmmwmm phgmet
&) brorze. mver gaid mhe

2 AN companents peed i balloon
releases MUs! be odegradabie.

Beloons must be fAhl bed, washc
witlves showld nof b used Ay
aflached labels et be ol paper
prederabey recyoled

3 Ol helium gas shoubd be used To
wnflate the kailoons,

Hufum 15 an ineet ighler-Man-ar gas. A5
e oalioon res he gas epands unil
evetiually e baboon bursts poduecng
sl Fagmerts wrich e
degompasticn

4 No rbbons or sirmgs mus! be affached iz
re bailoons,

Rbbons ane sings represenl @ polential
probiem and musst aever be used in balloon
releages.  Labeis gholid Do altached va the
Fagid b haibacn kingt

& Ballaans must always be faunched singly.

Single bakoons dAsparse masiy and quckly
They sl ler be oo togriter in Mmches
fax taloon reeasas

6. Full Aproval must be oblaited Ihm the
refevant auThonTes.

Releases S000 bakoons shaud not

T Maximnam ballpon size
Balleore larger thar 127 capnal De relegsed

# AN palioons Soid near ballaon releases
et e weghred

Arry baboons sole in the icidy of & balison
relesse must be sold wilh & weight allsched
1o ensue they canol escape.  Fob Baloons
nust puer DE feleaBad. Latex baloong =h
8 plashc valve end riDbon s a0 De
waighted

i - maarepie AARAS T RO A RO LI S8 B b

Page 98



GUIDE TO
BALLOON RELEASES

This nlommaben ard T Sudeines o
Codw of Corduct dre provided for peopls
and opansoons panning  their own
taloon rakeaso tor fund raming of ang
other purpase. Vie strongly recommand
that only @ -small balleon rmisase shoud
b emempled wtout  okssionsd
apsisianca. Smafl being delned as
amything up o T000 baloons Thia
guidanoe s designed o minimaze the nsk
ot g pofEntal danger io anmals. sma
oceatens and T gantenl environmend

What happens when a Balloon
is eleased?

& a0 Ratdi divee] gil @ 103F
i T O ORGRAa Eloor Al
ol im o =l mpecaimodaky 2
rmkrs vl Uwn 4 bioonas il med
Ehad ks Il AEdobe phe0es falling ok
knaarihop o ceinal clica pre P ANey
S ammm ol Pobiare oo aves whay
i baioe 0l i paapariy of Pully ar
I caaryiay bed miedh weRpe and ek
S ool - mech. 3w heghl ol wheh
Eallaviy ceops. Ties slmden teineo @
polentie e 0 wliEn  @d Be
preiraamend

What can | do to reduce this
risk?
The Baloon Inchoiry s precuisd . o

s ol Cowriid, WAl gl froed g
Iy, o ahaadd

LA
Bl By s ko b dha Leir

Concisiom

Blioan [edspaed. a0 Wim, e anokal el
Pl @ 'n"H" ol peeraciooml  mnad
i i bl
nmnwwwumm

[ a ==t

H e vpaine die fermed plodbsaeon o
ae] pibvies s ookl WARBLAL Tra
Mailcen Irdpeiy's nﬁ&aml
sewromlin of (7880 T2

Applying for permission from
tha Civil Aviation Authority.

B i ACOUADTT D AL il e PRI Ta
dhae S bailooes vos mesi opplyin A
pormmoaion ke Ha e Asmtios Authaeky”

il himal 26 chres b e St el
i e DREIDEE S P AR B T A BT,
Tha-CAA murd plins: b nfonmeed of dvy Ealoon
i w1 S 000 nidosras € Pie iekide s in
ey o By e O R

A hem can b oblined I calieg sfber they
MAREL office on 0108 mmumnrm
Lo St ol Tha B = 030 Fabl

ADDITIONAL |NFORMATION
Cur Environment &
Latex Balloons

B e CaTs R ot

A i WE OEICWE B N O marm R
Fpfiorsn e L Doy, The Ued e e
e o ma relen wv s hedde rade o G
Wil o ChaBE o TE B L ol Sl T &
D115-oF wrexch iomi Leme Sm Borw par e
W T il o Pl e B OOt Rl
nizwece

@ L e L

(L] Wil | PR DAY o R M A
v ham Stwr mpod o e ssrasts of
Al

T How ooy mes 4 sk i 6 mdSN W
o g

L] d e o s
hhmnthrn#hwﬂmh
W ATHEaE  ChElan WA ol e ul
o = B FreAem The § =m
FOBT i TR TGN VL OpARd T JHET
iy g oy e s bewe g erioen

AT i Gl Bete] i Sl I T 'y
o batorsl Loow A DT IR i M AT
EOR R SRR DT
m e ey ok Lo

EEF DAETE KR Ta
ﬁﬁfl-lli-ll-r-\.l'hﬂ-

-3 Bl TR [P
by s pimaw?
] faps com ww ey mmEdnd br podom

R R LAY Gl NACE OGRS y
B Tl i e e b ded B s el
P IR IR ST ST
wi dmak T ol il b brlel o gkl
g L,

| O Dl HamAS Ths Sab

Lid afrgem

Pagé’99




APPENDIX 8 List of References

8.1.1 Livestock Health

BBC magazine article (2010) Chinese lanterns: Tranquillity masks a threat [online] Available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-11265560 [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2010) Chinese lanterns pose danger to livestock, NFU says [online] Available at:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/8490524.stm [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2010) Farmers in Wales start 'lantern patrols' [online] Available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-110035167print=true [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2011) Tiverton farmer puts magnets in cows stomach [online] Available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-devon-12549492 [accessed on 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2012) Conwy council's lantern balloon ban bid to protect wildlife [online] available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-north-west-wales-19414569 [accessed 26 April 2013].

Chester Chronicle (2010) Cheshire farmer Huw Rowlands call for Chinese lantern ban after cow
death [online] Available at: http://www.chesterchronicle.co.uk/chester-news/local-chester-
news/2010/02/03/cheshire-farmer-huw-rowlands-call-for-chinese-lantern-ban-after-cow-death-
59067-25754702/ [accessed 26 April 2013]

Farmers Guardian (2012) Battle against Chinese lanterns intensifies after cow deaths [online]
Available at: http://www.farmersguardian.com/home/livestock/battle-against-chinese-lanterns-
intensifies-after-cow-deaths/45270.article [accessed 26 April 2013].

Horse and Hound (2012) Fresh warnings over danger of Chinese lanterns to horses
[online]Available at: http/Aww.horseandhound.co.ukinews/397/313550.html [accessed 26 April 2013].

RSCPA (2005) RSPCA Factsheet Balloon releases [online] Available at:
http://www.rspca.org.uk/ImagelLocator/LocateAsset?asset=document&assetld=1232713930874 &
mode=prd [accessed 26 April 2013].

RSPCA (2012) RSPCA Factsheet Chinese Lanterns [online] Available at:
http://www.rspca.org.uk/ImagelLocator/LocateAsset?asset=document&assetld=1232729639799&
mode=prd [accessed 26 April 2013].

RSBP (2012) Celebrate safely this summer for animals’ sake [online] Available at:
http/Avww.rspb.org.uk/inews/314533-celebrate-safely-this-summerfor-animals-sake [accessed 26 April 2013].

The Telegraph (2011) Farmer wins compensation after Red Nose Day balloon kills cow [online]
Available at: http://www.telegraph.co.uk/earth/agriculture/farming/8494881/Farmer-wins-
compensation-after-Red-Nose-Day-balloon-kills-cow.htm| [accessed 26 April 2013].

The Telegraph (2011) Farmers call for ban on sky lanterns [online] Available at:
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/earth/agriculture/farming/7127935/Farmers-call-for-ban-on-Chinese-
lanterns.html [accessed 26 April 2013].

Welsh government (2010) Welsh Chief Vet warns of Chinese lantern danger [online] Available at:
http://wales.gov.uk/newsroom/environmentandcountryside/2010/4635825/?lang=en [accessed 26
April 2013].

WFU (2011) Chinese lanterns report for Defra [online] Available at: http://www.wfu.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2011/12/Chinese-Lanterns-2011.pdf [accessed 26 April 2013].

Page 100



8.1.2 Marine Life

Andrady, AL (2000) Plastics and their impacts in the marine environment, Proceedings of the
International Marine Debris Conference on Derelict Fishing Gear and the Ocean Environment
[online] Available at: http://www.mindfully.org/Plastic/Ocean/Plastics-Impacts-Marine-
Andrady6aug00.htm [accessed 26 April 2013].

Allsopp, M, Walters, A, Santillo, D and Johnston (undated) Plastic debris in the worlds oceans
[online] Available at:
http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/plastic_ocean report.pdf
[accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2006) Balloon ban call to save turtles [online] Available at:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/lancashire/6076508.stm [accessed 26 April 2013].

Hyrenbach, DW, Nevins, H, Hester, M, Keiper, C, Webb, S and Harvey, J (2009) Seabirds
indicate plastic pollution in the marine environment: quantifying spatial patterns and trends in
Alaska [online] Available at: http://oikonos.org/papers/hyrenbach-Nevins-et-al-2009.pdf [accessed
26 April 2013].

Kent (2004) Marine and coastal litter [online] Available at:
https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/environment-and-planning/marine-and-coastal-litter.pdf
[accessed 26 April 2013].

KIMO International (2010) Economic Impacts of Marine Litter [online] Available at:
http://www.kimointernational.org/WWebData/Files/Marine%20Litter/Economic%20Impacts%200f%2
OMarine%20Litter%20Low%20Res.pdf [accessed 26 April 2013].

Moore, CJ (2008) Synthetic polymers in the marine environment: a rapidly increasing, long-term
threat, Environmental Research 108,2, pp.131-139 [online] Available at:
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S001393510800159X [accessed 26 April 2013].

Lucas, Z (1992) Monitoring persistent litter in the marine environment on Sable Island, Nova
Scotia, Marine Pollution Bulletin, 24, 4, pp: 192-199 [online]Available at:
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0025326X9290529F [accessed 26 April 2013]

Lusher, AL, McHugh, M, Thompson, RC (2013) Occurrence of microplastics in the
gastrointestinal tract of pelagic and demersal fish from the English Channel, Marine Pollution
Bulletin, 67, 1-2, pp: 94-99 [online] Available at:
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0025326X12005668 [accessed 26 April 2013].

MCS (undated) Marine Conservation Society Position Statement [online] Available at:
http://www.mcsuk.org/downloads/pollution/beachwatch/MCS balloons and chinese lanterns poli
cy.pdf [accessed 26 April 2013].

EPA (2010) National marine debris monitoring program lessons learned [online] Available at:
http://water.epa.gov/type/oceb/marinedebris/upload/lessons _learned.pdf [accessed on 26 April
2013].

OSPAR (2009) Marine litter in the North-East Atlantic Region: Assessment and priorities for
response [online] Available at:
http://gsr2010.ospar.org/media/assessments/p00386_Marine_Litter _in_the North-

East Atlantic with addendum.pdf [accessed 26 April 2013].

Ribic, CA, Sheavly, SB, Rugg, DJ and Erdmann, ES (2010) Trends and drivers of marine debris
on the Atlantic coast of the United States 1997-2007, Marine Pollution Bulletin, 60, 8, pp. 1231—
1242 [online] Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0025326X10001116
[accessed 26 April 2013].

Page’?01



8.2

Scottish Government (undated) Marine litter issues, impacts and actions [online] Available at:
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/09/6461/4 [accessed 26 April 2013].

Sheavely, SB and Register, RM (2007) Marine Debris & Plastics: Environmental Concerns,
Sources, Impacts and Solutions (abstract only). Journal of Polymers and the Environment, 15, 4,
pp: 301-305 [online] Available at: http://adaywithoutplastic.blogspot.co.uk/2007/11/marine-debris-
plastics-environmental.html [accessed 26 April 2013].

Ten Brink, P, Lutchman, I, Bassi, S, Speck, S., Sheavly, S, Register, K. and Woolaway, C (2009)
Guidelines on the Use of Market-based Instruments to Address the Problem of Marine Litter
[online]Available at: http://www.nowpap.org/ML-on_global-level.php [accessed 26 April 2013].

Van Franeker, JA, Blaize, C, Danielsen, J, Fairclough, K, Gollan, J, Guse, N, Hansen, PL,
Heubeck, M, Jensen, JK Le Guillou, G, Olsen, B, Olsen, KO, Pedersen, J, Stienen, EWM and
Turner, DM (2011) Monitoring plastic ingestion by the northern fulmar Fulmarus glacialis in the
north sea, Environmental pollution, 159, 10, pp. 2609-2615 [online]Available at:
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0269749111003344 [accessed 26 April 2013]

Vanhooren, S, Maelfait, J and Belphaeme, K (2011) Moving towards an ecological management of
beaches MCRR3-2010 Conference Proceedings [online] Available at”
http://icronline.org/doi/pdf/10.2112/S161-001.70 [accessed 26 April 2013].

WDCS (undated) UK marine litter [online] Available at:
http://www.wdcs.org/submissions _bin/uk_marine_litter.pdf [accessed 26 April 2013].

The Green Blue (2009) What we know about litter in the marine environment [online] Available
at:http://ge3336.pbsmartcodes.co.uk/public/jobs/696/files/4ee4d0de3bd28450709e24af506c418b.
pdf [accessed 26 April 2013].

WWEF (2005) Marine Health Check [online] Available at: http://image.qguardian.co.uk/sys-
files/Guardian/documents/2005/01/18/heathcheck2005.pdf#page=13 [accessed 26 April 2013].

Fire Risk

BBC News (2009) Sky lanterns 'posing fire risk' [online] Available at:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/surrey/8026558.stm [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2010) Chinese lantern causes crop fire near Woodstock [online] Available at:
http:/Amww.bbe.co.uk/news/uk-england-oxfordshire-10826445 [accessed on 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2011) Chinese Lantern blamed for Somerton fire [online] Available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-somerset-13921039 [accessed 26 April 2013].

The Telegraph (2011) Firefighters called 100 times to deal with burning Chinese lanterns [online]
Available at: http://www.telegraph.co.uk/earth/agriculture/farming/8289767/Firefighters-called-100-
times-to-deal-with-burning-Chinese-lanterns.html [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC news (2011) Lantern warning after Holy Island dunes fire [online] Available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-tyne-13006767 [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2011) Michael Eavis calls for UK ban on Chinese lanterns [online] Available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-somerset-14399692 [accessed 26 April 2013].

The Telegraph (2011) Latest fire caused by Chinese sky lanterns increases calls for a ban.
[online] Available at: http://www.telegraph.co.uk/earth/earthnews/8628686/Latest-fire-caused-by-
Chinese-sky-lanterns-increases-calls-for-a-ban.html [accessed 26 April 2013].

This is Leicestershire (2010) Leicestershire Farmer saves crop [online] Available at:
http://www.thisisleicestershire.co.uk/Farmer-saves-crop-lanterns/story-12038658-
detail/story.html#axzz2KIYkX3dC [accessed on 26 April 2013].

Page 102



8.3

8.4

8.5

BBC News (2006) Cathedral fire alert over lantern [online] Available at:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/hampshire/5294240.stm [accessed 26 April 2013].

Littering

Burchette, DK (1989) Study of the effects of balloons on the environment [online] Available at:
http://www.balloonhg.com/fag/deco_releases/release study.html [accessed 26 April 2013].

Cuykens Ann, B, Claessens, M, Maelfait, H, Dewitte, E, Goffin, A, Stienen, EWM and Janssen,
CR (2011) Sea, beach and birds: plastics everywhere [online] Available at:
http://www.vliz.be/imisdocs/publications/218742.pdf [accessed 26 April 2013].

Derraik, JGB (2002) The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. Marine
Pollution Bulletin 44, pp. 842-852 [online] Available at:
http://5gyres.org/media/Derraik_2002 Plastic_pollution.pdf [accessed 26 April 2013]

Keep Wales Tidy (2008) Keep Wales Tidy Policy paper on balloon releases [online] Available at:
keepwalestidy.sequence.co.uk/1242.uploadfile.dld [accessed 26 April 2013].

Keep Wales Tidy Lantern and Balloon Update (2013) personal communication.
NABAS (undated) NABAS code of conduct for balloon release [online] Available at:

http://www.nabas.co.uk/images/downloads/Code%200f%20Conduct.pdf [accessed on 26 April
2013].

Marine Conservation Society (undated) ‘Don’t let go’ [online] Available at:
http://www.mcsuk.org/downloads/pollution/dlg/Dont_Let Go Booklet.pdf [accessed 26 April 2013]

Schuyler, Q, Hardesty, D, Wilcox, C and Townsend, K (2012) To eat or not to eat? Debris
selectivity by marine turtles, PLOS One, 7, 7 [online] Available at:
http://www.plosone.org/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0040884 [accessed 26
April 2013]

The Guardian (2009) What's the environmental impact of a sky lantern? [online] Available at:
http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/ethicallivingblog/2009/jul/31/sky-lanterns [accessed 26
April 2013].

Vanhooren, S, Maelfait, H and Belpaeme, K (2011) Moving Towards an Ecological Management
of the Beaches, Journal of coastal research, 61, pp. 81- 86 [online] Available at:
http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.2112/S161-001.707journalCode=coas [accessed 26 April 2013]

Aviation

BBC news (20 11) Chinese lantern warning issued by Manchester Airport [online] Available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-manchester-12324047 [accessed 26 April 2013].

CAA (2011) Operation of Directed Light, Fireworks, Toy Balloons and Sky Lanterns within UK
Airspace [online] Available at:
http://www.caa.co.uk/application.aspx?catid=33&pagetype=65&appid=11&mode=detail&id=1108
[accessed 26 April 2013].

Coastal

BBC news (2008) Paper lantern sparks major search [online] Available at:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/north yorkshire/7621557.stm [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2010) Chinese lantern 'sparks sea search' in Sussex [online] Available at:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/sussex/8471733.stm [accessed 26 April 2013].

Department of Transport: The Maritime & Coastguard (2009) Public urged to inform coastguard
when using Chinese lanterns [online] Available at: http://www.dft.gov.uk/mca/mcga07-

Page 203



8.6

home/newsandpublications/press-releases.htm?id=FF9DC2D486DC3370&m=8&y=2009
[accessed on 26 April 2013].

HSE (2012) Working together on firework displays [online] Available at:
http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/books/hsg123.htm [accessed 26 April 2013].

FarmingUK (2010) Chinese Lanterns; Think twice says NFU [online] Available at:
http://www.farminguk.com/News/Chinese-lanterns-Think-twice-says-NFU 19112.html [accessed
26 April 2013].

RNLI (2010) Chinese lanterns spark search for red flares off Skegness [online] Available at:
http://rnli.org/NewsCentre/Pages/Chinese-lanterns-spark-search-for-red-flares-off-Skegness.aspx
[accessed 26 April 2013].

RNLI (2011) Sunderland RNLI Lifeboat launches after Flares sighted off Hendon [online] Available
at: http://rnli.org/NewsCentre/Pages/Sunderland-RNLI-Lifeboat-launches-after-Flares-sighted-off-
Hendon.aspx [accessed 26 April 2013]

RNLI (2012) New Quay RNLI chief in new plea over lights in the night sky [online] Available at:
http://rnli.org/NewsCentre/Pages/New-Quay-RNLI-chief-in-new-plea-over-lights-in-the-night-
sky.aspx [accessed 26 April 2013].

Human safety

Al-Qattan, MM and Al-Tamimi, AS (2009) Localized hand burns with or without concurrent blast
injuries from fireworks, Burns, 35, 3, pp.425-429 [online] Available at:
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305417908002143 [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2000) Youth killed by fireworks [online] Available at:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/978499.stm [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC News (2006) Cathedral fire alert over lantern [online] Available at:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/england/hampshire/5294240.stm [accessed 26 April 2013].

BBC news (2010) Warning as child burnt by Chinese lantern in Wrexham [available online]
Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-north-east-wales-11707898 [accessed 26 April
2013].

BBC news (2012) Lantern causes Flintshire conservatory fire [online] Available at:
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-north-west-wales-19621878 [accessed 26 April 2013].

Charnwood Council (2013) Firework nuisance [online] Available at:
http://www.charnwood.gov.uk/pages/fireworknuisance [accessed 26 April 2013].

Cornwall Council, (undated) Safe use of fireworks, legislation and the law [online] Available at:
http://www.cornwall.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=7263 [accessed 26 April 2013].

Singh, DP, Gadi, R, Mandal, TK, Dixit, CK, Singh, K, Saud, T, Singh, N and Gupta, PK (2010)
Study of temporal variation in ambient air quality during the Diwali festival in India (abstract only).
Environmental Monitoring and assessment,169, 1-4, pp.1-13 [online] Available at:
http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10661-009-1145-97LI=true# [accessed 26 April
2013].

Stourbridge News (2011) Wordsley family has lucky escape after lantern starts car blaze [online]
Available at:

http://www.stourbridgenews.co.uk/news/9350649.Wordsley family has lucky escape after lante
rn_starts car_blaze/ [accessed 26 April 2013].

Wang, Y, Zhuang, G, Xu, C and An, Z (2007) The air pollution caused by burning of fireworks
during the lantern festival in Beijing, Atmospheric environment, 41, 2, pp. 417- 431

Page 104



8.7

[online]Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1352231006008351
[accessed 26 April 2013].

Helium resources

The Guardian (2012) Helium stocks run low and party balloons are to blame [online] Available at:
http://m.gquardian.co.uk/science/2012/mar/18/helium-party-balloons-
squandered?cat=science&type=article [accessed 26 April 2013].

The Independent (2010) Why the world is running out of helium [online] Available at:
http://www.independent.co.uk/news/science/why-the-world-is-running-out-of-helium-2059357.html
[accessed 26 April 2013].

The Daily Mail (online) (2010) Scientists say Earth's helium reserves 'will run out within 25 years'
[online] Available at: http://www.dailymail.co.uk/sciencetech/article-1305386/Earths-helium-
reserves-run-25-years.html [accessed 26 April 2013].

The Royal Institution of Great Britain (Dec 2012) Chemist calls for ban on helium balloons this
Christmas [online] Available at:
http://www.rigb.org/contentControl?action=displayContent&id=00000006754[accessed 26 April
2013].

Daily Telegraph (2012) The end of the party [online] Available at:
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/health/healthnews/9557469/The-end-of-the-party-dont-use-helium-
balloons-demands-academic-as-gas-shortage-threatens-medical-equipment.html [accessed 26
April 2013].

New Scientist (2010) We are running out of helium [online] Available at:
http://www.newscientist.com/article/mg20727735.700-nobel-prizewinner-we-are-running-out-of-
helium.html [accessed 26 April 2013].

Page 205



Agenda Iltem 5.6

P-04-398 Campaign for a Welsh Animal Offenders Register

Petition wording:

Please sign in support of a ’Animal Offenders Register’, a central Welsh
database which will consist of name, address and convictions of people who
have been convicted of any form of animal cruelty and abuse within Wales.
Breeders / sellers of animals will be required to check this central database
before allowing any animal they own / bred to go to a prospective owner /
new home; if it is found that someone who has been convicted of animal
cruelty or abuse has an animal the supplier / breeder will be held liable and
prosecuted. At the moment there is no law to stop anyone who has been
convicted of animal cruelty from moving a few miles up the road and then
obtaining another animal to inflict further abuse on. Stricter laws need to be
implemented to help protect animals, heavier fines and longer prison
sentences as well as a Animal Offenders Register.

New York City and various states in the USA have already implemented this
law, what is there to stop Wales taking the lead in the United Kingdom?
You’ve heard of Sarah’s Law, designed to keep sex offenders from striking
again. Now we hope for a law created in the hope of preventing animal
abusers from inflicting more cruelty, or moving on to human victims.
Research has shown that there is a very strong correlation between animal
abuse and domestic violence. Many murderers start out by torturing
animals, and we could end up also protecting the lives of people.

Petition raised by: Mari Roberts & Sara Roberts

Date petition first considered by Committee: 19 June 2012

Number of signatures: 69

Page 106



Agenda Iltem 5.7

P-04-439 : Ancient veteran and heritage trees of Wales to be
given greater protection

Petition wording:

We believe that the ancient, veteran and heritage trees of Wales are a vital
and irreplaceable part of the nation’s environment and heritage.

We call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to
provide greater protection for them, for example by:

o Placing a duty on the new Single Environmental Body to promote the
conservation of such trees by providing advice and support for their
owners, including the grant aid where necessary;

o« Amending current Tree Preservation Order legislation to make it fully
fit for purpose in protecting ancient, veteran and heritage trees, in line
with proposals by Coed Cadw (the Woodland Trust);

« Incorporating the database of trees recorded and verified through the
Ancient Tree Hunt project as a dataset in any successor to the Wales
Spatial Plan, recognising these as ‘Trees of Special Interest’ and
providing this information to Local Planning Authorities in Wales so
that it can be incorporated into their GIS system, for information.

Petition raised by: Coed Cadw Cymru
Date petition first considered by Committee: 4 December 2012

Number of signatures: 5,320

Page 107



Cyfoeth

Naturiol
Cymru
Natural
Resources
Wales

William Powell AM

Chair,

Petitions Committee,

Cardiff Bay,

Cardiff,

CF99 1NA

Your ref: P-04-439
08 May 2013

Deng Willesn )

Thank you for your letter seeking my views on the petition submitted by Coed
Cadw calling for greater protection for ancient, veteran and heritage trees
across Wales. The issues raised by Coed Cadw are matters that Natural
Resources Wales takes seriously. Natural Resources Wales is committed to the
sustainable management, use and enhancement of Wales’ trees and woodlands
as a key delivery partner of the Welsh Government’s Strategy for Woodlands
and Trees.

Whilst the legislation regarding Natural Resources Wales’ functions did not
place additional duties on us in the area of woodland and tree protection, we are
working closely with the Welsh Government to explore how this might be best
achieved. As the Welsh Government has indicated, there are opportunities in
the planned Environment, Heritage and Planning Bills for improvement of tree
protection legislation, management and advisory work. We are listening to our
many interested stakeholders, including Coed Cadw, and we will continue to
work closely with them and others, including teams in Cadw and the newly
established forestry policy team in the Welsh Government, to ensure that we
effectively contribute our collective expertise to these processes.

As stated in our 2013-2014 Business Plan, Natural Resources Wales will
continue to deliver the commitments set out in Forestry Commission Wales’
Corporate Plan 2012-2015. This includes action for trees and woodlands in rural
and urban settings and working with a broad range of stakeholders and
partners. We will continue to encourage public involvement with woodlands for
example through recreation, enterprise and the provision of learning .
opportunities in woodland and about woodland for people of all ages.

Page 108



As part of the development of our Corporate Plan for the next three years, there
will be an opportunity for interested stakeholders to contribute their views on our
future priorities, including the management, conservation and protection of trees
and woodland.

o ety

éW\yf
=

EMYR ROBERTS
Prif Weithredwr, Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru
Chief Executive, Natural Resources Wales

emyr.roberts@cyfoethnaturiolcymru.gov.uk

Natural Resources Wales,
Ty Cambria, Newport Road, Cardiff CF24 OTP

Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru
Ty Cambria, Heol Casnewydd, Caerdydd CF24 0TP

Page 109



Agenda Iltem 5.8

P-04-444 : Dig for Victory
Petition wording:

We call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to
introduce via local Councils a modern day Dig for Victory campaign.

With food prices continually rising and times of a recession, there is a need
once more to grow your own food, just like during ww2 when they
introduced a Dig for Victory campaign to make sure everyone was fed. If the
Welsh Government introduced this via their local councils by giving
householders vouchers or seeds, compost, even chicken arks and chickens
(where suitable) then people would be a little better off financially and also
healthier. It would also cut down on the amount of food we import thus
cutting down on our carbon footprint. Most people have a garden and
people without one can still grow some veg on patios and balconies. So
come on lets Dig for Victory.

Petition raised by: Plaid Cymru Aberavon.

Date petition first considered by Committee: 15 January 2013

Number of signatures: 13

Page 110



7
Alun Davies AC / AM _,.-y‘( fj
Y Gweinidog Cyfoeth Naturiol a Bwyd ")§ / 2/

Minister for Natural Resources and Food _;}B

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref
Ein cyf/Our ref

William Powell
Chair of Petitions Committee

committeebusiness@Wales.gsi.gov.uk

s W, LS May 2013
Petition from Plaid Cymru, Aberavon

Thank you for your letter of 23 January asking for my views on the petition your Committee
received from Plaid Cymru Aberavon, requesting the National Assembly for Wales to urge
the Welsh Government to introduce via local Councils a modern day Dig for Victory
campaign.

Through the Rural Development Plan (RDP), we are supporting a number of projects aimed
at supporting communities and other groups to develop skills in capacity building and the
management of groups of volunteers as well as part of the Community Grown Food
initiative.

In addition, the Community Land Advisory Service in Wales (CLAS) has secured funding
from the Big Lottery’s Climate Change Programme, which is managed by the Federation of
City Farms and Community Gardens. Through this project, community gardens, farms
allotments and orchards will directly benefit and more people will be able to eat healthier.

The Welsh Government is committed to delivering opportunities for local communities to
develop their own food growing projects; whilst recognising the concept of a modern day
Dig for Victory campaign, we are working in partnership across Ministerial portfolios to
ensure that we benefit from the positive impacts of growing such as educating people to eat
a healthier diet whilst reducing food miles.

v " -~ Y € ;
> )

Alun Davies AC | AM
Y Gweinidog Cyfoeth Naturiol a Bwyd
Minister for Natural Resources and Food

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydﬁéﬁi& 111 Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
Correspondence. Alun,Davies@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%) Printed on 100% recycled paper



Our Ref/Ein Cyf:

Your Ref/Eich Cyf: P-04-444
Date/Dyddiad: 11" March 2013
Please ask for/Gofynnwch am: Tim Peppin

029 20 468669
tim.peppin@wlga.gov.uk

Direct line/Llinell uniongyrchol:
Email /Ebost:

William Powell AM

Chair

Petitions Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff CF99 1NA

Dear William
P-04-444 Dig for Victory Campaign

Thank-you for your letter of 23™ January to Steve Thomas which he
passed to me for a response. Please accept my apologies for the
delay in responding.

The concerns about food security expressed in the petition are seen
as a serious issue by the WLGA. As part of our Sustainable
Development Framework we have been working with local authorities
to encourage them to plan ahead for issues likely to become
increasingly significant in future years (further information is available
on our website — see Futures Trends : Sustainable Development
Framework : Environment and Regeneration : Topics : Welsh Local
Government Association). This covers not only food security but also
related issues such as energy security and resilience to severe
weather events. Active consideration of such long term issues will
have to be demonstrated by public bodies once the Sustainable
Development Bill passes into legislation.

In 2012 the Wales Rural Observatory produced a report for the Welsh
Government examining the emergence of community-based food
activities in Wales, and identifying what could be done to promote
and encourage further activity within this field. It categorised
community grown food into four areas of activity: allotment
gardening, community gardens, Community Supported Agriculture
schemes (e.g. where members of the community pay farmers or
producers a predetermined amount in advance in exchange for a
share of the harvest or product) and communal food growing in
schools.

The report showed that there is increasing interest and activity in
relation to community-based, locally grown food, which is
encouraging. Growing concerns over food safety are likely to raise the
level of interest still further. A shift towards more local production and

WLGA-CLILC

Steve Thomas CBE
Chief Executive
Prif Weithredwr

Welsh Local Government
Association

Local Government House
Drake Walk

CARDIFF CF10 4LG

Tel: 029 2046 8600

Fax: 029 2046 8601

Cymdeithas Llywodraeth
Leol Cymru

Ty Llywodraeth Leol
Rhodfa Drake
CAERDYDD CF10 4LG
Ffon: 029 2046 8600
Ffacs: 029 2046 8601

www.wlga.gov.uk

Page 112
The WLGA welcomes correspondence in Welsh or Engllasfg- Mae WLGA yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg

Printed on recycled paper - Wedi'i argraffu ar bapur eildro



consumption of food has the potential over time to contribute substantially to a reduction in
‘food miles’ (and carbon footprint as referred to by the petitioners) compared to the
systems operated by the supermarkets. Encouragement of local food production can also
help in terms of local job creation and improve physical and mental health. Initiatives such
as those proposed by the petitioners therefore need to form part of a wider strategy on
community grown food.

Whilst a good deal in this area can be achieved at relatively low cost, if there is to be a
concerted drive to promote and support community grown food it will need to be properly
resourced. The WLGA would be willing to support any such funded initiative as part of its
Sustainable Development Framework with local authorities. However, without additional
resources this discretionary area of activity unfortunately would be unlikely to be prioritised
in the current financial situation faced by local government.

I trust that this response is of assistance to your committee in its deliberations.

Yours sincerely

r i-._P-tm,-.;_

Director of Regeneration and Sustainable Development

Page 113
The WLGA welcomes correspondence in Welsh or E ﬁsh - Mae WLGA yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg
Printed on recycled paper - Wedi'i argraffu ar bapur eildro



Agenda Iltem 5.9

P-04-403 Saving Plas Cwrt yn Dre/Old Parliament House for
the Nation

Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly of Wales to instruct the Welsh
Government to purchase Plas Cwrt yn Dre also known as Dolgellau’s Old
Parliament House before this national treasure is sold on the open market
and lost for ever.

Additional information: Plas Cwrt yn Dre, also known as Owain Glyndwr’s
Old Parliament House was moved from Dolgellau to the Dolerw Park,
Newtown in 1886. The Quakers, who currently own it can no longer afford
to maintain it and are selling it for £55,000. It is undoubtedly a national
treasure and we think it should be purchased by the Welsh Government for
the nation.

Petition raised by: Sian Ifan

Date petition first considered by Committee: 2 July 2012

Number of signatures: 218 (An additional 10 signatures were collected on
an associated petition)

Page 114



John Griffiths AC /AM
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant a Chwaraeon
Minister for Culture and Sport

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-403
Ein cyf/Our ref JG/00673/13

William Powell AM

Chair Petitions Committee
Ty Hywel

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1NA

committeebusiness@\Wales.gsi.gov.uk

) - gMayZO‘IS
Dew. w VL(_;./&,@,\_
;

Thank you for your letter of 8 April seeking my views on the petition led by Sian Ifan, asking
that the Welsh Government be instructed to purchase Plas Cwrt yn Dre, Newtown.

| have considered the additional information provided by the petitioner with interest.
However, there is nothing contained within this further submission by the petitioner that
compels me to review the decision not to take the property into State care.

As the Minister for Housing, Regeneration and Heritage set out in his letter of 19 July 2012,
the building is listed and the local planning authority is able to protect the character of the
property, when a purchaser is found, through the requirement to obtain listed building
consent for any works of alteration or extension which would affect its character as a
building of special architectural or historic interest.

7%

Vi

_'\ i

John Griffiths AC /| AM
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant a Chwaraeon
Minister for Culture and Sport

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enqguiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdyt!(PFCardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
115 Correspondence. John.Griffiths@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%) Printed on 100% recycled paper



Agenda Item 5.10

P-03-301 Equality for the transgender community

Petition wording
We the undersigned call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the

Welsh Government to ensure that the transgender community is given equal
support and direct assistance, as given to comparable communities such as
Sexual Orientation support groups, to promote equality and awareness for
the transgender community.

Petition raised by: Transgender Wales

Date petition first considered by Committee: 28 September 2010

Number of signatures: 113

Page 116



Agenda ltem 5.11

P-04-362 Ambulance Services in Monmouth

Petition wording:

We believe that Monmouth should be granted the appropriate ambulance
provision. With its population set to rise, and the Minor Injuries Unit at
Monnow Vale recently closed down, demand will increase for the ambulance
service.

National Assembly for Wales:

We request the Health and Social Committee of the National Assembly to
undertake a scrutiny inquiry into the ambulance service in rural Wales. We
would urge the Committee to investigate the particular problems in
Monmouth and the impact of the closure of the Monnow Vale Minor Injuries
Unit on the ambulance service.

Welsh Government:

We urge the Minister for Health and social Care to use her powers to require
the Wales NHS Ambulance Trust to provide a uniformly high standard of
ambulance provision throughout Wales and especially rural areas such as
Monmouthshire.

Welsh Ambulance NHS Trust:

We urge Welsh Ambulance NHS Trust to increase provision for Monmouth in
real terms, with a high dependency unit and/or ambulance based within
Monmouth town.

Petition raised by: Mathew Davies
Date petition first considered by Committee: 7 February 2012

Number of signatures: Approximately 450 signatures.

Page 117



A Strategic Review of
Welsh Ambulance Services

‘nr\ut\u -m >
April 2013 “‘ : k

Professor Siobhan McClelland




© Crown Copyright 2013

Digital ISBN: 978-0-7504-XXXX-X Page 119
WG17762



Contents

Foreword

Glossary

Executive Summary
Approach
Background:

i) A History of the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust
i) NHS Wales — A Whole System Approach

Part 1 — Literature Review

Part 2 — Review Findings

Structure of Ambulance Services

Funding of Ambulance Services

Organisation and Management of Ambulance Services
Demand for and Performance of Ambulance Services
Part 3 — Key Conclusions

Options and Recommendations

Appendices

Appendix 1: Terms of Reference

Appendix 2: List of Previous Reviews
Appendix 3: List of References

Appendix 4: Stakeholder List

Page 120

12

16
22

29

38

39

44

50

56

64

81

84

86

87



Foreword

The Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust (WAST) has come under significant and
frequent scrutiny since its establishment as a national organisation in 1998.

There has been concern about the way the Trust is funded and managed, and the
impact this may have had on the ability to meet performance targets set by the Welsh
Government.

The former Minister for Health, Social Services commissioned this Review to establish
where improvements can be made to deliver high quality ambulance services, within the
context of NHS Wales’ strategic direction.

This is a strategic Review focusing on the wider challenges facing the ambulance service.
The Review focuses on the ambulance service but recognises its place within a whole
system approach to the delivery of care.

Ambulance services are one part of health and social care and, as such, they are just

as much impacted upon by that system as they themselves impact upon it. The whole
of the Unscheduled Care System is under very severe pressure affecting the staff who
deliver, and patients who receive health care services. While the recommendations within
this Review aim to help with this, they have to be considered together with other urgently
required measures.

The Trust and NHS Wales in general are facing significant challenges notably in the
increasing demand for health and social care services: an ageing population who have
a diverse range of needs; public expectations; increasing costs of technology; and a
challenging financial position.

WAST has been the subject of many Reviews, possibly more than any other part of

NHS Wales, and this in itself has contributed to the issues the organisation faces. | was
conscious that this work was seen by some as “yet another Review” creating anxiety and
uncertainty and with little chance of significant improvements for patients. | feel strongly
that this Review should result in decisive actions and a collective commitment to allow
the decisions and changes that flow from them to mature.

| would like to thank the Review Team who supported me in undertaking this work
alongside their other duties in what has been a very busy and challenging time. | would
also like to thank everyone who took time to talk to us in interviews or focus groups.
There are always more people we would like to have spoken to during the Review but |
hope that we have been as inclusive as possible.

Finally | would like to pay tribute particularly to the hard work of the staff of the ambulance
service, who work day in day out to deliver services to the people of Wales. We need to
create an environment in which they can provide services of the highest quality resulting
in the best outcomes for patients. | hope that this Review will help with achieving that.

Professor Siobhan McClelland
Review Chair

Page 121



Glossary of Terms

Page 122



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Executive Summary

Following longstanding concern about the delivery of ambulance services in Wales,
the former Minister for Health and Social Services announced in November 2012
that a Review would commence in January 2013. The Review was tasked with
making recommendations to enable high quality and sustainable ambulance services
for the people of Wales.

To do this, the Review has focused on appraising the effectiveness of current
funding, accountability and governance arrangements, and identifying resilient
options for the future strategic structure for ambulance services.

The efficacy of current targets and the performance of ambulance services in Wales
were also assessed, alongside considerations of the management of WAST as an
organisation.

The Review was conducted over a short period of time and took a targeted and
pragmatic approach to gathering and analysing evidence. A rapid literature review
was conducted to analyse best practice within the UK and internationally, and
analysis of previous Reviews of ambulance services in Wales was undertaken,
including progress against the recommendations of those Reviews.

Evidence was also gathered from engagement with a wide range of stakeholders,

including WAST staff, political representatives and Union members, and evidence

was thematically analysed to generate understandings of the key issues facing the
ambulance service.

This report contains 12 recommendations that invoke the requirement for an agreed
vision for ambulance services, and identify the key challenges which need to be
mitigated.

It sets out a range of suggestions which will enable progression towards delivery of
robustly managed, sustainable ambulance services which play a central role in an
integrated, whole system approach to the delivery of unscheduled care.

The ambulance service has probably been reviewed more than any other part of NHS
Wales, and in part this constant cycle of Reviews has created some of the problems it
seeks to resolve.

It has also been difficult to establish the extent to which the recommendations from
previous reviews have been fully enacted and is, therefore, imperative that the cycle
of review upon review is broken to allow the future model for the delivery of
ambulance services to mature. Ultimately, any future recommendations need to be
accompanied by a clearly measurable work programme.

Page 123



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Articulating and agreeing a clear vision for ambulance services is the key to any
recommendations and future developments which may commence as a result of this
Review. Everything else, including how services are planned, delivered and funded
should flow from this vision.

Further, ambulance services will play a key role in the shaping of future models of
service delivery, and it is vital that they are considered as part of the wider context
of any plans for service change for NHS Wales.

The vision for Emergency Medical Services (EMS) - that is emergency ambulance
response service - is for the delivery of a robust, clinical service that is a fundamental
and embedded component of the wider unscheduled care system.

Aligned to an agreed vision for the EMS element of ambulance services, is the future
of Patient Care Services (PCS), which deliver planned, non-emergency transport for
patients to outpatient, day treatment and other services at NHS Wales hospitals.

PCS should be locally responsive, cost effective and provided on clear eligibility and
accessibility criteria, and similarly to EMS, should be seen as a core part of service
change proposals. They should also be considered a high priority for whoever is
responsible for their delivery.

This Review should be read in conjunction with the Griffiths Review of Non
Emergency Patient Transport in Wales (2010), and the three-year national
programme of non-emergency patient transport pilots. Decisions regarding future
direction for PCS should be linked to the outcomes of these pilots.

The Review found a fundamental problem with the current accountability and
governance arrangements for ambulance services in Wales which are multiple,
complex and lacking in clarity and transparency. This needs to be addressed to
create arrangements which are simple, clear and aligned to the agreed vision for
service delivery.

Current arrangements require strategic commissioning but the mechanics and levers
for achieving this, such as service specifications, Service Level Agreements (SLAs) and
contract management, are not being used. Moreover, there is limited capacity and
capability to undertake effective commissioning within NHS Wales.

The structural , organisational and systematic problems experienced by WAST make
it difficult to establish whether current funding is sufficient or used as effectively and
efficiently as it might be. There are, however, some particular problems with funding
for capital development. Any future funding formula should be clearly linked to the
achievement of the vision for the delivery of ambulance services.

Previous Reviews and actions have placed significant focus on changes to the detail
of organisation and management of ambulance services, and the number of changes
WAST has experienced at the most senior management levels in particular. Despite
7

Page 124



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

this many of the problems previously identified remain. This suggests a much more
fundamental problem with the organisation itself and how the system it has
operated within has impacted on it. This is a difficult and complex issue which does,
however, need to be clearly addressed.

There are a number of structural options which could address the current problems
which all have advantages and disadvantages and this report sets out three potential
strategic options to improve on existing arrangements: a ‘Strategic Health Board’
model, a LHB Commissioning Model and an LHB Delivery and Management Model.

These options should be assessed against a series of core guiding principles to ensure
form follows function. Any future direction of travel should be firmly embedded in
an agreed vision for the delivery of ambulance services within the wider health care
system.

There is no ‘magic bullet’ that will resolve the structural difficulties. However, it is
important to make a clear decision on the most suitable model, co-create the
development of the details of the model with key stakeholders, and implement and
allow the arrangements to mature.

Further, there are significant opportunities for NHS Wales to build on existing,
alternative care pathways to reduce pressure on overburdened Accident &
Emergency (A&E) departments, and ensure patients receive the most appropriate
care, from the right clinician, at the right time and in the right place.

Aligned to the development of care pathways is the need for a skilled workforce to
make appropriate decisions. To this end, there is a general consensus that the
development of a clinical service requires an up skilled workforce with greater levels
of autonomy and clinical decision making. It also requires a high level of clinical
understanding, support and leadership from within the ambulance service and from
other clinicians working in unscheduled and primary care.

The national response time target, which requires 65% of patients categorised as
‘life-threatened’ to receive a response within 8 minutes, is currently the primary
focus for performance management. It is, however, a very limited way of judging and
incentivising the performance of ambulance services. Speed is particularly important
for some conditions such as cardiac arrest but there is little clinical evidence to
support the blanket 8 minute national target.

There is a general consensus that a more intelligent suite of targets and standards
which incentivise change and provide a greater focus on patient experience and
outcomes should be developed, and these should form part of a range of measures
across the unscheduled care system.

Accurate and easily accessible data is fundamental to facilitating rigorous
performance management and understanding demand and there is a clear lack of
integrated data across the patient journey. Improving data systems and information

8

Page 125



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

on patient outcomes should be progressed as a priority to support the delivery of
emergency ambulance services within a whole system context.

Further, there is limited useful comparative information available to assess
performance, quality of care, efficiency and effectiveness, and although WAST has
plans in place to ensure more regular and accurate benchmarking, this mechanism
needs to be widened to include other comparison measures.

Given the common challenges faced, additional comparative and collaborative
research across the UK and internationally should also be supported and
encouraged.

Finally, regardless of the future strategic direction and structure of ambulance
service delivery, it is imperative that resilient and universally agreed interim
arrangements are put in place during any transitional period, to ensure clinically safe
services continue without difficulty.

The review makes a number of key recommendations which should be
underpinned by a clearly articulated and commonly agreed vision of the future
delivery of ambulance services.

Any changes to the ways in which ambulance services are structured, funded,
organised and performance managed should be clearly related to the
achievement of that vision.

Recommendation 1

Welsh Government and NHS Wales should agree that Emergency Medical
Services (EMS) be operated as a clinical service and embedded in the
unscheduled care system. This will need to be a key part of the service change
agenda.

Further, Patient Care Services (PCS) should be locally responsive, cost effective
and provided on clear eligibility and accessibility criteria.

Recommendation 2
Work should begin to disaggregate PCS from the EMS element of Welsh
ambulance service delivery, with PCS becoming a routine function of Local

Health Boards’ (LHBs) business.

Consideration should be given to providing a form of national co-ordination to
ensure the resilience and benchmarking of effective PCS across Wales.

Page 126



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Recommendation 3

The future delivery model for NHS Direct Wales (NHSDW) should be further
considered within the context of the options for changes in structure and
accountability for the ambulance service.

The wider context of the development of the 111 non-emergency number and
other advice services also needs be considered.

Recommendation 4

The fundamental problem with the non-alignment of current
accountability, funding and governance arrangements for ambulance
services in Wales needs to be addressed.

There are also deep rooted problems with WAST itself and issues also
persist in WAST’s relationship with partners. Both of these issues need
to be addressed.

Recommendation 5

Three main structural options should be considered for the future delivery of
EMS: a ‘Strategic Health Board’ Model, an LHB Commissioning Model and an
LHB Management and Delivery Model. Options should be assessed against a
series of core guiding principles to ensure form follows function and a clear
decision made on the future direction of travel.

Recommendation 6

Robust workforce planning should be put in place to deliver an up skilled and
modernised EMS workforce enabling greater levels of autonomy and clinical

decision making.

This should be developed in partnership with the NHS, Higher Education
Institutions and Regulatory Organisations.

Recommendation 7

Care pathways and protocols should be further developed across the

unscheduled care system to allow patients to be treated at the right time and in
the right place and reduce unnecessary pressure on A&E. There are considerable

benefits associated with alternative care pathways - not least for patients - and

all parties should work together to accelerate their development as a priority.

Page 127

10



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Recommendation 8

The Welsh Government should consider moving from a primary focus on the 8
minute response time standard to a more intelligent suite of targets and
standards which work across the whole unscheduled care system.

This should include a greater emphasis on patient outcomes and experience.

The Welsh Government’s recently formed Measures Group could provide an
opportunity to establish this suite of measures, recognising the co-dependencies
across the system.

Recommendation 9

Consideration should be given to developing speed based standards in areas
where the clinical evidence demonstrates a clear impact on outcomes, for
example formalising the standard for 4 minute responses to calls categorised as
cardiac arrest and publishing it on a monthly basis to encourage improvement.

Consideration should also be given to developing a wider threshold analysis of
the 8 minute target.

Recommendation 10

Consideration should be given to introducing incentive based targets, for
example a non-conveyance or appropriate rate target to incentivise greater
development and use of alternative pathways, and reduction in inappropriate
conveyance of patients to A&E.

Recommendation 11

More joined up and granular data is required across the patient journey through
primary, community, acute and social care. This could also be taken forward by
the Welsh Government Measures Group

Recommendation 12

Consideration should be given to making a clear decision on the future
structural model, accompanied by a robust time-bound work plan for taking
that forward. This should be taken forward and co-created with key
stakeholders.

Welsh Government and NHS Wales should also put resilient interim
arrangements in place during any transitional period to ensure clinically safe
services continue without difficulty.

11

Page 128



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Approach

The Review was conducted over a relatively short period of time commencing on 14
January 2013 and concluding on 31 March 2013. The Review was established as a
Ministerial Review with governance processes from the Chair of the Review through
to the Minister for Health and Social Care. It was led by the Chair, Professor Siobhan
McClelland and supported by a Review team drawn predominantly from officials
within the Welsh Government Department for Health and Social Services.

The approach to the Review was by necessity highly focused and pragmatic and
aimed to be as robust, rigorous and inclusive as possible. Whilst placing the
ambulance service within the wider health and particularly unscheduled care
context, the Review’s focus had to be on the Terms of Reference (see Appendix 1)
set by the former Minister for Health and Social Services for the Welsh Government.

A technical document, which includes a compendium of data, detailed stakeholder
analysis and further international benchmarking information, is available and can be
used to read alongside this report.

A broad methodology was developed and followed for the Review comprising the
following components:

Literature Review

A rapid review was conducted of the literature on the provision of ambulance
services within the UK and internationally. The primarily web based literature search
focused on locating documents that provided practical analysis as opposed to
academic discourse.

Given the dynamic nature of the provision of ambulance and health care services,
the search focused on documents produced in recent years.

The literature was analysed against the key headings of the Terms of Reference,
together with identifying any models of good practice in the strategic provision of

ambulance services within the UK and internationally.

A summary of the Literature Review is provided in Section 1 of the Review with a full
list of the references provided in Appendix 3.

Analysis of Previous Reviews of the Ambulance Service
WAST has been the subject of a significant number of Reviews, both internal and

external, since its inception in 1998. These range from broad Reviews of the service
through to more detailed Reviews of operational efficiency and effectiveness.

12

Page 129



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Previous Reviews were analysed against the Terms of Reference and the extent to
which recommendations from previous Reviews had been acted upon were
established, although it was not always easy to find a definitive answer.

The summary of the Review’s findings are provided in Part Two of this report and a
full list of Reviews considered is set out in Appendix 2. More detailed analysis of
previous Reviews can be read in the technical document.

Data Analysis

We analysed ambulance service performance, workforce and financial data and also
undertook some comparative analysis of performance although it should be noted
that this is limited by data not necessarily being directly comparable (for example in
the point at which response times start to be measured).

Whilst this data analysis need to be placed in the wider context of data on demand
and performance for unscheduled care, we focused on the data that specifically
relates to the ambulance service, and the majority of this data was provided by
WAST.

A wider analysis of demand and performance across the unscheduled care system
has been undertaken by the Wales Audit Office (WAO) which is due to report to the
National Assembly for Wales’ Public Accounts Committee in the near future. Their
report and this Review can be read as complementary documents.

Importantly, there are limitations in the data available across the whole healthcare
system (from primary care through to hospital services), in particular integrated data
across the patient journey, which impedes meaningful whole systems analysis.

Stakeholder and WAST Staff Engagement

Stakeholder and staff engagement were seen as integral elements within the Review
process and this took place at three levels as outlined below. All stakeholders were
interviewed either face-to-face or via the telephone using a semi-structured topic
guide in line with the Review’s Terms of Reference. This process ensured issues
raised by the interviews were relevant to the Review.

A detailed review of potential stakeholders was undertaken with WAST and Welsh
Government officials and agreed by the Minister, to ensure that the stakeholders
interviewed were representative of the areas they operate in. This process also
ensured there was sufficient understanding of the issues and challenges facing a
modern day ambulance service. In total 88 stakeholders were interviewed.

Assessing Stakeholders’ Influence and Importance

It is important to understand that individuals and groups behave differently
in different situations and the impact stakeholders can have on the Review is

13

Page 130



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

dependent on their relationship to either WAST itself or the issues of concern, or
both.

Once a list of possible stakeholders was created, a matrix was developed to estimate
their influence and importance, and key stakeholders were identified as those that
could potentially affect or be affected by the Review.

Stakeholder interests were then assessed against the power and influence matrix
and the potential impact of the Review on these interests, and the following main
stakeholder groups were interviewed:

Stakeholders within WAST

Interviews were conducted with the Chief Executive and Chair of the Trust, members
of the Board and members of the Senior Management Team. Trade Union
representatives were also interviewed.

Stakeholders outside WAST

A number of ambulance service stakeholders were interviewed including politicians,
representatives of the police and fire services, the Wales Air Ambulance charity,
Local Government, the third sector, Community Health Councils, First Responders,
representatives from LHBs including key clinicians, employees of the Welsh
Government and Chairs and Chief Executives of LHBs.

Informants outside NHS Wales

Interviews were conducted with key informants who had particular expertise and
experience in the provision of ambulance services outside Wales. This included key
individuals in England, Northern Ireland and Scotland. These interviews focused on
experiences, benchmarking, and models of good practice in the strategic provision of
ambulance services across the UK.

Focus Groups

WAST staff were invited to attend one of nine focus groups held between 19
February and 5 March 2013, and each lasted 90 minutes. Staff were selected at
random through a vertical slice of the WAST payroll to ensure focus groups were
representative of the organisational structure below senior management level.

Each of the focus groups followed an agreed proforma to ensure consistency. The
background, purpose and areas covered by the review were shared with each of the
focus groups and the participants were assured of confidentiality. All facilitators
were independent of WAST.

14

Page 131



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The focus groups were asked about the three main challenges currently facing the
ambulance service and were guided towards discussions around the following four
areas in specific:

e Structure;

e Funding;

e The organisation and delivery of ambulance services; and
e Performance, demand and targets;

The participants were asked to suggest the top three ways to improve the
ambulance service, and facilitators took notes and encouraged participants

to express their opinions in their own words by using flip charts on tables. Where
participants came with notes from other colleagues they were asked to ensure all
areas had been covered and each session had a 'final thoughts' session.

Weritten Submissions and Correspondence

The Review did not seek written submissions or evidence given the timescale and
approach. Written submissions were received from WAST and UNISON following the
face to face interviews conducted between the Chair and WAST and UNISON
representatives. A range of correspondence was also received and this is
summarised in the technical document.

Analysis

Interviews were conducted in a confidential environment with assurance given to
stakeholders that comments would not be attributed.

Stakeholder and focus groups’ verbal and written comments were typed up and
merged into a large document for analysis against the Terms of Reference. The long
document was read and then discussed by the Review team to establish common
themes, and this provided the basis for the findings featured in Part Two of this
document. The longer document is summarised in the separate technical document.

15

Page 132



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

I) Background: A History of WAST

WAST was established in 1998 following the All Wales Ambulance Service Review
(1998) which recommended the creation of a single ambulance service by the
amalgamation of four existing ambulance Trusts, and the ambulance service
provided by Pembrokeshire and Derwen NHS Trust.

The 1998 Review concluded that this move would deliver benefits by removing
artificial boundaries between organisations, improving resource management,
developing expertise and sharing best practice and enhancing quality and cost

effectiveness.

In 2007, NHSDW became part of the Trust following its previous hosting
arrangement with the Swansea NHS Trust.

Facts and Figures

WAST serves a population of 3.1 million, across 7,969 square miles, employs 2,576
staff and had a budget of £158million in 2012/13 (WAST Annual Report 2011/12).

Funding and Accountability

WAST is funded by LHBs through the Welsh Health Specialist Services Committee
(WHSSC) who agree service requirements for LHB areas. WAST is formally
accountable for the delivery of services to the Welsh Government.

Services Delivered

WAST provides clinical care and health related transport as part of its two core
services:

= Unscheduled Care Services

Emergency and urgent care services which are not pre-planned by the patient,
available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week and dealing with patients who have illnesses
ranging from immediately life-threatening to a minor injury. The emergency
ambulance response element of WAST services are known as EMS.

In 2011/12, the Trust received 760,000 direct calls, of which 430,000 were
emergency 999 calls and provided 52,000 journeys to hospital following a call from
patients’” GPs.

NHSDW provides a 24 hour health advice and information service, signposting the
people of Wales to the most appropriate level of healthcare for their needs. In
2011/12, the Trust received 326,048 NHSDW calls, with a further 963,767 website
hits (WAST Annual Report 2011/12).

16

Page 133



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

= Planned PCS

Planned PCS or non-emergency patient transport is the provision of transport for
patients to a variety of planned hospital appointments and outpatient clinics. This
includes transport to dialysis, chemotherapy and diabetic clinics.

In 2011/12 the Trust transported patients to their hospital appointments on over 1
million occasions and transported 10,000 non-emergency patients to 200 treatment
centres throughout Wales and elsewhere (WAST Annual Report 2011/12).

The Health Courier Service also forms part of WAST’s PCS work, supporting
communities across Wales with daily contact to GP surgeries supporting needle and
clinical waste disposal, syringe exchange schemes, pharmacists and working with
Health Boards in the safe and dynamic movement of hospital items. HCS works in
close partnership with Local Health Boards to proactively implement and develop
service improvement programmes

Workforce
The Trust employs in the region of 2,576 staff. Staff members are employed in:

EMS;

PCS;

Control and Communication;
NHSDW;

Management; and
Administrative support.

Figure 1 Full Time Equivalent Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust Staff (Source: WAST)

FTE Staff as at January 2013

W Additional Clinical Services

m Admin and Clerical

m Allied Health Professionals

M Estates and Ancillary

® Medical and Dental

m Nursing and Midwifery Registered

17

Page 134



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Infrastructure and Fleet

The Trust has over 300 vehicles, 90 ambulance stations, three control centres, three
regional offices and five vehicle workshops.

Other Providers

A range of other organisations provide PCS for those eligible for the service across
Wales which is funded via individual SLAs with LHBs, which are all different although
operate under an overarching, national SLA. Further details on PCS delivery
arrangements are featured on page 21.

The Wales Air Ambulance Charity works in partnership with the Trust to take
patients with life threatening injuries in difficult to reach locations rapidly and
comfortably direct to specialists without having to go to a local A&E and wait for
transfer.

There are three ‘helimed’ crews based in the North (Caernarfon), Mid (Welshpool)
and South (Swansea) of Wales. Each crew has one pilot and two advanced life
support paramedics who are trained in the latest techniques in pre hospital
emergency care to ensure the patient receives the most effective treatment.

The Charity is funded through charitable donations and Welsh Government provides
additional funding to WAST (via LHBs) to fund the costs of WAST employed
paramedics who travel on board the air ambulance.

Emergency Service co-responders provide emergency medical cover in areas that
have been identified as having a greater need for ambulance cover. Mid and West
Wales Fire and Rescue Service provides co-responder cover for WAST from 14
stations across the region.

The aim of a co-responder team is to preserve life until the arrival of either a Rapid
Response Vehicle (RRV) or an EMS vehicle. Co-responder vehicles are equipped with
oxygen and automatic external defibrillation (AED) equipment.

Community Support

Community First Responder Groups volunteers attend 999 calls where appropriate
and provide first hand emergency care to people in their own community. First
Responders operate in the same way as co-responders.

Previous Reviews

WAST has come under significant scrutiny since its establishment as a national
organisation in 1998. There has been widespread concern about the way in which
the Trust is funded and managed and the impact these issues may have had on its
inability to meet performance targets set by the Welsh Government.

18

Page 135



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

This has resulted in at least 13 Reviews or audits into the delivery of services by
WAST since 2006. This Review was not conducted in isolation from previous reviews
which were analysed as a means of understanding the current situation and
potential future directions of travel.

A focused literature review was performed to establish if there were any lessons to
be learned from previous reviews which could inform the findings of this report (a
full list of reviews considered can be seen in appendix 2), and to establish how far
the recommendations of previous reviews had been taken forward.

The analysis of previous review work raised a number of consistent themes for the
ambulance service, the Welsh Government and Local Health Boards and which are
factored into the findings section of this report.

Key Points

The Ambulance Service has been reviewed probably more than any other part
of the NHS.

In part this constant cycle of reviews has created some of the problems it seeks
to resolve. Further, it is difficult to establish the extent to which all the
recommendations from previous reviews have been enacted.

The cycle of review upon review needs to be broken and any future
recommendations need to be accompanied by a clearly measurable work
programme.

WAST’s Strategic Direction

Previous reviews have helped to shape the Trust’s current operational delivery and
planning and the organisation’s most recent five year strategic framework Working
Together for Success was published in December 2010.

The framework set out the following vision for the organisation: ‘An ambulance
service for the people of Wales which delivers high quality care wherever and
whenever it is needed;

And a strategic aim: ‘We will move from being perceived as simply a transport service
to a provider of high quality health care and scheduled transport services’.

The strategy document also focuses on three strategic objectives:

1. To achieve all of the national quality standards and clinical requirements;

2. To provide the right service with the right care, in the right place, at the right time
with the right skills; and

3. To provide high quality planned patient care services which are valued by users.

19

Page 136



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Unscheduled Care Services Strategy

The Trust, through its strategy, set out criteria for success for patients using the
unscheduled care service:

e Ensure patient calls are answered promptly;

e Safely and effectively assess patients clinical needs;

e Instantly provide patients with (or direct them to) the right service;

e Respond quickly to patients with immediately life-threatening conditions,
with four minutes being the norm for cardiac, stroke and serious trauma
cases;

e Treat more patients over the phone;

e Treat more patients at the scene of their accident;

e Provide more treatment options for patients in their homes and support
them in remaining there;

e Share patient information routinely with partners;

e Develop evidence based clinical practice and care pathways;

e Stop patients being taken to or attending an A&E department unnecessarily
and reduce the number of patients who are admitted to hospital;

e Routinely measure success against a range of clinical outcomes and patient
experience; and

e Beviewed as excellent by the public, patients, partners and peers.

The delivery of the strategy is supported by a number of key enabling strategies and
plans including those for ICT, workforce, fleet and notably a clinical strategy. The
Trust implemented a new way of responding to calls to its 999 service in December
2011. The ‘clinical response model’ aims to provide the right service with the right
care, in the right place, at the right time and with the right skills, ensuring that the
sickest patients in Wales receive a timely response.

The implementation of the clinical model was also intended to have a positive
impact on performance against the national 65% standard. However, after an
immediate improvement in performance where the target was met consistently for a
number of months, performance has subsided resulting in a period of nine
consecutive months where the target has been missed (June 2012 — February 2013).

Patient Care Services (PCS): Griffiths Review

In addition to delivering emergency services, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS
Trust is also responsible for the provision of non-emergency patient transport. This
service is used to transport patients, with medical need, to and from hospitals.
Following a number of critical audit reports of the Trust and examples of poor

patient experience a review on non-emergency patient transport, led by Win
Griffiths, was undertaken, concluding early in 2010.

20

Page 137



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Following the Review and public consultation, a three-year national programme of
non-emergency patient transport pilots commenced, involving the Trust, LHBs and
the voluntary sector, to test out different models of transport provision and identify
evidence based methods for improving non-emergency transport for service users.

As part of the Review’s recommendations, the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust
commenced its PCS Modernisation Plan which identified key elements of the existing
service which could be built upon and improved.

The Minister for Health and Social Services is expecting to receive a report detailing
the outcome of the pilots in June 2013.

NHSDW and Emerging Service Developments

NHSDW provides a national 24 hour health advice and information service, both
telephone and web based; this includes a dental helpline for a number of LHBs.
Management of NHSDW was transferred from Swansea NHS Trust to WAST in April
2007 to provide a more integrated unscheduled care service in Wales.

Since 2011, NHSDW has also provided a nurse led clinical triage service for Category
C (non-emergency) 999 calls. All callers to 999 and 0845 are provided with an initial
assessment to ensure that calls are prioritised in accordance with the clinical need of
the patient.

As the only national telephony platform in Wales, NHSDW also provides support for
other health initiatives and currently answer calls to the smokers' helpline number.

There are plans to develop the over 50s health checks and there have been early
discussions with NHSDW, with a view to ensuring the emerging programme
complements the work of NHSDW and vice versa. There are also plans for an on-line
resource for expectant and new parents with the potential for NHSDW to host this.

NHS 111 is the 24/7 free to call number for non-emergency NHS healthcare currently
being introduced in England. A national group is considering how the 111 number
could be used to deliver a range of telephone and web based services in Wales.

The group is developing a service model which in the short term aims to address the
immediate pressures on GP Out of Hours services, the ability to dispatch an
ambulance if needed, and the advice and information services currently provided by
NHSDW. In the longer term, the service aims to deliver an integrated approach to
planning urgent care, chronic conditions management and social care.

21

Page 138



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Il) The Context of NHS Wales — A Whole System Approach

NHS Wales Organisation

In October 2009, the previous NHS Wales structure of 22 Local Health Boards (LHBs)
and seven NHS Trusts was replaced with seven integrated Local Health Boards,
responsible for all health care services.

In addition, a new unified public health organisation, Public Health Wales NHS
Trust, became fully operational, and Velindre NHS Trust, the specialist cancer
Trust, continued along with WAST as established providers of goods or services for
the purposes of the NHS.

The new simplified structure was intended to transform the NHS into an integrated
health care system which works closely with Local Government and the Third Sector
through partnership working and ensuring that public health is central (NHS in Wales
- Why We Are Changing the Structure (2009).

Fig 2 NHS Wales’ Seven Local Health Boards

Betsi Cadwaladr University
Local Health Board

< L

Powys
Teaching
Local Health

Board

Hywel Dda
Local Health Board

Aneurin Bevan
Local Health

Abertawe Bro

22

Page 139



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

NHS Wales’ Strategic Direction

It is important to read this report in the context of NHS Wales and the Welsh
Government’s strategic policy direction for the delivery of healthcare services in
Wales, and, more specifically, the wider policy context for urgent and emergency
care services — which form the core business for the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS
Trust.

The Welsh Government’s wider vision for the delivery of health services
best suited to Wales but comparable with the best anywhere by 2016 is set out in its
Together for Health (2012) document.

The document outlines the challenges facing the health service and the actions
necessary to ensure it is capable of world-class performance. It is based around
community services with patients at the centre, and places prevention, quality and
transparency at the heart of healthcare.

The Welsh Government states its intention to achieve world-class health and social
services by organising all local services as part of a single ‘co-ordinated’ system,
where all elements work seamlessly and reliably to offer a personalised response.

Together for Health (2012) suggests that this vision is to be achieved through:

° Improving health as well as treating sickness;

° Delivering one system for health;

° Hospitals for the 21st century as part of a well designed, fully;
° An integrated network of care;

° Aiming at Excellence Everywhere;

° Absolute transparency on performance;

° A new partnership with the public; and

o Making every penny count.

Specifically, the 2012 document sets out this overarching NHS vision for better
access and improved patient experience is intended to be achieved through the
following improvement:

° Easier access to primary care services;

° Developed pathways of care across the NHS to improve patient experience and
effectiveness of services;

° Improved links across primary, community, acute and social care in line with
the Setting the Direction document — Figure 3 sets out how an integrated
healthcare concept looks;

° More services available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year;

° More information on services and on health issues available by telephone
through the 111 non-emergency number; and

23

Page 140



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

° Reduced inappropriate demand on emergency care services by educating the
public about the range of health and social care services available to them
through the Choose Well campaign.

Figure 3 Integrated Healthcare System Concept Diagram

Community &
Primary Care

Hospital
Care

Emergency ‘ Mental
Care Health

To support the delivery of this whole system vision, the Welsh Government has
worked in partnership with NHS Wales to produce a number of enabling strategies
and policies including the Annual Quality Framework, Annual Quality Plan, Standards
for Health Services for Wales, Setting the Direction and the 1000 Lives (Plus)
Programme.

NHS Wales Service Change Plans

NHS Wales has recently completed or is undergoing a range of public consultations
over the future configuration of health services, with a view to changing the models
of delivery of some services.

24

Page 141



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The plans include the South Wales Programme (covering LHBs in South Wales), Your
Health, Your Future (covering Hywel Dda Local Health Board), Changing for the
Better (covering Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board), Healthcare in
North Wales is Changing (covering Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board) and
New Directions (covering Powys teaching Health Board).

These plans are currently the subject of ongoing debate and it would not be
appropriate to comment further within this report however it is clear that
ambulance services should be seen as a key component in delivering service change
as part of a whole system stretching from primary and community care through to
the provision of tertiary specialist services.

Key Point

Ambulance services will play a key role in the shaping of future models of
service delivery, and it is vital that they are considered as part of the wider
context of any plans for service change for NHS Wales.

Current and Emerging Challenges for Health and Social Care

Together for Health (2012) suggests the principal challenges faced by NHS Wales are
rising demand, increasing patient expectations, and financial constraint and
recruitment difficulties.

Further, many of the causes of poor health are deep-rooted and they are often
difficult to tackle. Along with other countries, Wales faces an obesity epidemic and
rates of smoking, drinking and substance misuse continue to cause concern. Clinical
practice is also changing, and in some areas NHS Wales is facing acute difficulties in
recruiting specialist staff.

Allied to these problems, Together for Health (2012) suggests that within two
decades it is estimated almost one in three people in Wales will be aged 60 or over.
By 2031, the number of people aged 75 or over will have increased by 76 per cent.
Older people are more likely to have at least one chronic condition — an iliness such
as diabetes, dementia or arthritis - and have more as their age increases.

The impact of such chronic conditions on people’s lives and services in Wales is of
growing concern and Wales has the highest rates of long-term limiting illness in the
UK accounting for a large proportion of unnecessary emergency admissions to
hospital (Designed to Improve Health and the Management of Chronic Conditions in
Wales: An Integrated Model and Framework 2007).

In recent years rising demands and expectations were largely matched by increased
budgets but the current financial situation means that NHS Wales is delivering

25

Page 142



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

services in a ‘flat cash” environment. NHS organisations continue to plan on the basis
of a flat-cash settlement for the 2013-14 and for future years beyond that.
Organisations need to balance the need to find sufficient savings year on year to
offset cost pressures of around 5% while at the same time generating sufficient
headroom to make transformational service improvements.

The impact of cost pressures and service improvements will vary from organisation
to organisation. Whilst ambulance services will not experience many of the cost
increases facing the integrated health boards, they will nevertheless have their own
specific pressures which they will need to continue to plan to meet through
efficiencies.

NHS Wales’ Strategic Direction for Urgent and Emergency Care

The Delivering Emergency Care Services (DECS) Strategy was published in 2008 and
set out the need for an integrated approach for delivering unscheduled care in
Wales.

One of the main principles of the DECS Strategy was to ensure that people have a
better understanding of the range of unscheduled care services that are available to
them and clearly understand how to access these services quickly and appropriately.
DECS also aimed to provide a framework for action focusing upon re-balancing the
system to deliver an effective and efficient service which was coming under
increasing pressure.

In 2010, as part of implementing the 5 year Service Workforce and Financial
Framework 2010/11 (SWAFF), which co-ordinates and oversees the key priorities for
the new NHS, eleven National Programmes were established including the National
Unscheduled Care Programme by the Welsh Government.

The Programme Boards were established to support the delivery of the opportunities
identified in the restructured NHS. A National Programme Board for Unscheduled
Care was established to ‘Support NHS and local Communities adopt a system-wide
approach to change, engaging partners throughout acute, primary and community
Care and the voluntary sector, to redesign unscheduled care processes and systems
across the total patient journey’ (Terms of Reference, Unscheduled Care Programme
Board 2010).

The Board’s output included the “10 Transformational Steps” document which sets
out a 10 step approach to delivering a co-ordinated approach needed to reduce
pressure on A&E and ambulance services, and ensure immediately life-threatened
patients have access to time critical treatment.

The Board was renamed the National Urgent and Emergency Care Board in 2012 and

has developed the ‘transformational steps’ into ten high impact areas. The ten areas
are designed to provide a resource to support improvement changes, generate ideas

26

Page 143



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

and create the climate of innovation required to deliver safe, effective and efficient
services for unscheduled care.

National Urgent and Emergency Care Board “10 High Impact Areas”

High impact area

1. There is a shared vision for USC across all stakeholders

2. We have defined together with stakeholders how we will measure
improvement and monitor it regularly together and act upon it

3. We have improved telephony and care co-ordination so they are no longer a
system constraint on USC improvement

4. We have improved access to primary care so it is no longer a constraint on
USC improvement

5. OOH services are no longer a constraint on the USC system

6. We are satisfied that we have got the messages right to USC system users
and Health and Social Care staff and they are acting upon them

7. We know and actively manage in primary care patients by risk and have
active care co-ordination and packages managing all our high risk groups
including frequent users

8. We have optimised flow through ED, into the hospital and through to
discharge

9. We have a discharge planning process agreed with stakeholders that is
keeping patients who are medically fit from staying unnecessarily in hospital

10. We know our most important pathways within USC, have shared plans with
stakeholders to manage these pathways effectively to avoid admissions and
bypass ED when appropriate

Source: Welsh Government

The ten high impact areas work will be complemented by a work programme for
unscheduled care designed to accelerate improvements and alleviate pressure on
emergency care services through greater collaboration across the whole
unscheduled care system.

Welsh Government ‘Measures Group’

The Welsh Government established the Measures Group to provide an opportunity
to discuss how to measure the NHS and determine what the measurement system
should look like for 2013/2014 and beyond. The Group also aims to develop a cross
cutting measure system that includes Social Services, Children & Families which

27

Page 144



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

focuses on prevention; experience & access; quality, safety and outcomes;
integration; and sustainability.

WAO Review of Unscheduled Care

The WAO intends to publish a report on unscheduled care shortly which aims to
track progress made since the publication of Unscheduled Care: a Whole Systems
Approach (2009).

The 2009 report expressed concerns about the effectiveness of urgent and
emergency care delivery in Wales and detailed a series of recommendations towards
delivering a whole systems approach to their delivery.

The latest review will seek to understand whether there has been progress in
transforming unscheduled care services to address the issues previously identified in
WADO publications.

The Francis Report

The Francis report, released in February 2013, made recommendations on patient

safety and quality of care following failures at Mid Staffordshire NHS Trust and has
clear implications for the future of service delivery for NHS Wales.

28

Page 145



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Part 1 — Literature Review

Introduction

A literature review search was undertaken for reports on international ambulance
service best practice and recent documents produced on ambulance services in the
UK and internationally. This section of the Review summarises the analysis of the
literature with some comparative data used in the second section of the report.
Details of the source references are provided in Appendix 3.

Care does need to be taken in attempting to compare ambulance services
internationally particularly in the benchmarking of data given the different methods
of data collection, methods of measuring performance, varying organisational and
policy contexts, definitions of service (which often have a wider definition of EMS)
and varied methods of funding and providing services.

This applies even within the UK and becomes more challenging outside the UK.
Comparison is perhaps more helpful in more specific areas of operational practice
than in strategic direction.

The current evidence base for ambulance performance measures is sparse although
the majority of literature available indicates that systems are moving from single
target focus to set of performance indicators. Despite a well developed literature on
reducing demand, there is little prospective research looking at reducing demand.
The issue is widely recognised.

The literature search found a limited amount of recent documents explicitly about
ambulance services to inform the findings of this review. Articles and reports were
generally single country focused providing limited opportunity for robust and
systematic comparison.

The most often cited comparative document was the SHA “Emergency Services
Review: A comparative review of international Ambulance Service best practice”
(2009). The focus of this work was on international comparisons, response time
targets, performance indicators (and benchmarking) and dealing with increased
demand.

The report summarised that Ambulance Services within the UK were considered
“amongst the high-performing medical services from around the world” and
confirmed our findings that there was limited research from which to directly
compare services internationally, stating that “At present the inability to directly
compare pre-hospital healthcare systems makes it impossible to identify system
factors that would obviously improve performance, quality of care or efficiency and
effectiveness”.

29

Page 146



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The report did, however, draw out the following key points:

e Two main systems of pre-hospital care were identified: Paramedic led (with
medical governance) and Physician led. Neither obviously outperformed the
other;

e The problems of increasing demand for services, both pre-hospital and
emergency department care, are universal and very few strategies have been
robustly tested to combat such increases. Despite a well developed literature
on reducing demand, there is little prospective research looking at reducing
demand;

e Systems seem to be moving from a single target focus to a set of
performance indicators; and

e The current evidence base is sparse and the most convincing evidence for
pre-hospital care relates to defibrillation and providing advanced life support
as quickly as possible to those needing it.

UK Ambulance Services

The development of ambulance services within the UK has been strongly influenced
by the Department of Health’s strategy ‘Taking Healthcare to the Patient’ (2005).
This identified that ambulance services are playing an increasingly central role in the
provision of care to patients in the NHS, not just providing a rapid response to 999
calls and transporting patients to hospital but becoming “a mobile healthcare service
for the NHS”.

The use of modern technology and wider clinical skills has enabled an increasing
range of care to be provided from a mobile environment (an ambulance) to a wider
range of patient groups — those who require an emergency response, those who
have an urgent care need, those who can be treated in a primary care setting,
through effective and co-ordinated multi-disciplinary team working and those who
could be provided with definitive advice and treatment over the phone.

England

There are currently 11 regionally-based Ambulance Trusts providing emergency and
urgent healthcare and some patient transport services in England, with separate
arrangements for the Isle of Wight. Ambulance Trusts have been merged over recent
years into larger provider based organisations. As part of a commissioner/provider
system ambulance services have been commissioned from their Trusts by Primary
Care Trusts and at present ambulance commissioning and contract management
capability lies within PCT clusters.

Ambulance Trusts in England have a membership that reflects the requirements for
successful application for Foundation Trust status and this means it is possible to
have no ambulance professional on the board. The membership includes a Chief

30

Page 147



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Executive, often from a non-ambulance service and sometimes even from a
non-health service background; Director of Operations, who also may not have an
ambulance service or an operational background; Director of Finance [and

IT]; Director of Human Resources; Director of Nursing; and a Medical Director. There
are also a number of Non-Executive Directors selected for their expertise, and
Foundation Trusts have Members from a wide background across the community

they serve.

Figure 4 Ambulance Trust regions and the population they serve

Ambulance Trust

Population serving

East Midlands Ambulance Service

4.8 million

East of England Ambulance Service

Over 5.83 million

London Ambulance Service

Over 7.5 million

North East Ambulance Service

2.66 million

North West Ambulance Service

7 million

South Central Ambulance Service

Over 4 million

South East Coast Ambulance Service

Over 4.5 million

South Western Ambulance Service

Over 5.3 million

West Midlands Ambulance Service 5.4 million
Yorkshire Ambulance Service Over 5 million
Isle of Wight Primary Care Trust 140,000

(Great Western Ambulance Service Trust was merged into the South Western
Ambulance Service Trust in February 2013.)

In most areas PCTs have a formal agreement as to how they will work together on

ambulance commissioning, backed up with shared governance arrangements. There
are lead commissioners (one for each region) and associate commissioners (one for
each PCT or PCT cluster in a region) involved in the process. Both lead and associate
commissioners — usually meet as part of an ambulance commissioning consortium —
are responsible for agreeing strategic plans, priorities and funding across their PCTs.

The lead commissioner translates this into commissioning intentions and then
negotiates contracts and specifications for ambulance services while also managing
the performance of ambulance Trusts.

These arrangements are currently in a period of transition and uncertainty as the
new arrangements for the NHS in England with the creation of Clinical
Commissioning Groups come into place.

The following clinical performance criteria are used within England:

e Cardiac arrest return of spontaneous circulation at hospital

e Cardiac arrest survival to discharge

e Compliance to provision of ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction
(STEMI) care bundle including reperfusion

31

Page 148




A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

e STEMI 30 day mortality

e Stroke - proportion of FAST test positive patients arriving at acute stroke
centre

e Proportion of calls closed with telephone advice

e Proportion of patients discharged without transportation

e Re-contact rate following closure with telephone advice

e Re-contact rate following non-conveyance

e C(Calls abandoned before answered

e Mean time to answer calls

e 'Service experience narratives'

e Time to call answering (initial assessment)

e Time to treatment

e Category A 8 minute response (revised)

e Unexpected mortality rate following discharge of care by telephone or
face-to-face.

The House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts published “Transforming NHS
Ambulance Services” in September 2011. This report summarised the following
conclusions and recommendations:

e Ambulance services provide a valuable service that is held in high regard for
the care it provides for patients, but more could be done to improve
efficiency and value for money;

e Under the NHS reforms it is not clear who will be responsible for achieving
efficiencies across ambulance services or intervening if an ambulance service
runs into financial difficulties or fails to perform. It was also not clear who
would be responsible for commissioning ambulance services under the
reforms to the English NHS;

e Performance information on ambulance services is not always comparable,
making it difficult to benchmark services and identify the scope for efficiency
improvements;

e Focusing on response time targets has improved performance but has also
led to some inefficiencies;

e Delays in handing over patients from ambulances to hospitals lead to poor
patient experience and reduced capacity in ambulance services; AND

e Ambulance services do not collaborate sufficiently with other emergency
services to generate efficiency savings

NHS 111 has been implemented in parts of England and strong evidence suggests
that there has been a significant increase in 999 ambulance workload as callers who
would not have presented themselves to the ambulance service have been
transferred to it by 111's triage system. The national roll out of NHS 111 in England
is currently under consideration.

32

Page 149



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Scotland

The Scottish Ambulance Service (SAS) is a Special Health Board and a national
operation based at over 180 locations in five Divisions. The Service is now co-located
with NSS Scotland, NHS 24, NHS Boards’ Out of Hours services and within hospital
and GP practice premises.

It covers the largest geographic area of any ambulance service in the UK. The SAS
provides scheduled, unscheduled and anticipatory care for patients in remote, rural
and urban communities across Scotland.

The Strategic Framework “Working Together for Better Patient Care 2010-15" was
published in 2010. The Strategy sets out the aims to be patient centred, clinically
excellent and leading-edge. In its Annual Review of 2011/12 SAS cites the following
key achievements:

e Improved Category A response times from 72% in 2010/11 to 73% in
2011/12;

e Increase from 14.5% to 16.9% ROSC across Scotland for patients in cardiac
arrest;

e Emergency response within 8 minutes for patients in cardiac arrest improved
from 77.4% to 78.3%;

e % of hyper-acute stroke patients taken to hospital within 60 minutes
improved from 75.5% to 78.4%;

e Responses to emergencies within the highly rural Island Boards improved;

e Significant reduction in number of scheduled care cancelled journeys;

e Increase of 0.8% of emergency incidents treated at scene;

e Significant internal redesign of scheduled care service with the introduction
of mobile technology within all patient transport services;

e Evaluation of a more consistent alternative care referral pathways for frail
and elderly fallers developed in partnership;

e Joint approach with NHS Highland for paramedic delivered health checks as
part of the wider anticipatory care programme which helps maintain
paramedic skill levels in remote areas as well as boosting primary care
resources;

e Development with NHS 24 of new clinical content to support implementation
of a Single Clinical Triage Tool;

e Opening of Scottish Ambulance Academy and development of BSc in
Paramedic Practice;

e Investment in clinical advisors within Ambulance Control Centres to enhance
clinical support and decision making; and

e Implementation of formal professional-to-professional advice line within NHS
Borders and NHS Lothian with plans to roll out nationally

33

Page 150



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The Review identifies the following key challenges:

e Response time against Category B and one hour GP urgent calls has fallen;

e Overall emergency demand has increased particularly in Category B;

e Implementing new rest break arrangements; and

e Managing attendance levels which continue to be lower than the national
average and agreed targets.

Northern Ireland

The Northern Ireland Ambulance Service (NIAS) has a similar structure and scope of
service provision as English ambulance services. It does however act as a one nation
service although the population of Northern Ireland is the smallest of the home
nations. It does not focus on clinical performance indicators instead focusing on the
time-based standards previously used in England.

As a regional ambulance service NIAS operates from one Emergency Ambulance
Control (EAC) Centre based at Ambulance Headquarters in Belfast. NIAS has an
operational area of approximately 5,450 square miles and is serviced by a fleet of
over 300 ambulance vehicles.

NIAS responds to the needs of a population in Northern Ireland in excess of 1.7
million people in the pre-hospital environment. It directly employs over 1,100 staff,
across 57 ambulance stations/deployment points, two Ambulance Control Centres
(Emergency and Non-Emergency), a Regional Training Centre and Headquarters.

NIAS reports its performance for 2011/12 as follows:

During 2011/12 the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service received 142,026
emergency calls and 35,386 Doctors Urgent calls from across Northern Ireland.

An emergency ambulance attended and delivered care to the patient for 132,447
emergency incidents, arriving within 8 minutes for 82,787 of those calls requiring an
ambulance.

International Countries (non UK)

In the significant majority of ambulance services throughout the developed world
the geographical scope of organisations are coterminous with municipalities rather
than states or countries. This is also true for fire and police services, for public health
services, and for the providers of public amenities.

One consequence of this is that service managers from one organisation are more
likely to be in the same position of decision making and authority when in meetings
with managers from other emergency or health service providers. Another factor to
consider is that there tend to be variations in culture on a regional or perhaps even a

34

Page 151



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

smaller scale, and this has implications for how staff identify with an organisation
and subsequently how they are best managed.

Much of the debate internationally has been on the benefits of merging emergency
services. There is little evidence to support the merger of emergency services,
despite this being a common model in the USA. It tends to result in unhelpful
over-resourcing of at least some emergency calls and, whilst not addressed in the
discussion above, frequently results in the fire division asset-stripping the ambulance
service.

Certainly one of the most recent and major mergers of New York City's formerly
'third service' ambulance division with its fire department resulted in increased EMS
response times and ongoing industrial relations problems with its paramedics and
fire fighters.

In Melbourne, Australia the dispatch centres of Police, Fire and Ambulance were
emerged and outsourced to the private sector for a period of time: again this proved
to be dysfunctional and a more traditional model has been re-adopted.

However, none of this is to suggest that the fire service could not contribute to the
provision of an emergency medical service. In the UK the majority of fire engines
carry an automated external defibrillator (AED) with at least one fire-fighter trained
and able to use it. Both have been paid for through public funding, but neither is
likely to be put to good use. The fire service's case for this equipment is to treat
cardiac arrest in fires or at road traffic accidents if they arrive before the ambulance
service although in reality (it has been argued by some) such patients do not have
the type of heart dysrhythmia that responds to an AED.

So a case could be made for putting the Fire Service’s defibrillator to good use, if the
fire service were to be routinely dispatched to cardiac arrest calls in urban and
sub-urban areas where there are staffed fire stations. Their response time may be
faster than the ambulance service's and more likely to fall within the five minute
window for successful treatment. Such an arrangement for example can be found
outside the USA, for example in Melbourne, Australia, where it has been running
successfully for years.

It is not unreasonable to suggest that for most 999 calls with a genuine medical
problem clinical, caution demands a face to face examination of a patient

before the difficult decision can be made to refer them to a non-emergency health
practitioner or to discharge them from NHS care altogether. This is demonstrated by
the relatively high proportion of 999 calls that are transferred to NHS Direct which
are transferred back to the ambulance service for an emergency response -
ultimately most of these patients do not have a time-critical problem.

In the current clinical response model of EMS delivery, around 42% of calls are
categorised as ‘life threatening’ or Red 1 calls. The remaining calls fall into the non-
life threatening nor serious, or ‘Green’ calls category. Green calls do, however, often
35

Page 152



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

require some form of transport to hospital or another healthcare provider. The
system also acts as a safety net for calls categorised as low priority but under further
clinical triage are upgraded to Red 1 calls.

The phenomenon of numbers of ambulances queuing outside Emergency
Departments unable to offload their patients for extended periods of time is seen in
a number of countries in addition to the UK, including Australia, Canada, New
Zealand and the USA.

Only two interventions seem to be effective. One is to have a unit situated next to
the emergency department staffed by GPs on a 24-hour basis, so that appropriate
patients can be triaged to them at the door of the ED. The other strategy, likely to be
more successful, is for the ambulance service to bring a lower proportion of their
999 cases to ED because they have either treated and discharged them in the field or
referred them to more appropriate NHS services.

In terms of performance targets, different countries seem to have varying response
times but compliance standards are not always available so it is difficult to make
comparisons. The 8 minute target is used most generally despite the limitations of
clinical evidence to support this target. However, in some countries there have been
attempts to move away from this including work in Canada suggesting a move toa 5
minute target (for 90% of people) could increase lives saved and also suggesting
measuring survival outcome in hospital discharge rather than Return of Spontaneous
Circulation (ROSC).

Signs of ROSC include breathing (more than an occasional gasp), coughing, or
movement and for healthcare personnel, signs of ROSC may also include evidence of
a palpable pulse or a measurable blood pressure. Data is collected on ROSC at the
time of the event and until admission and transfer of care to medical staff at the
receiving hospital.

Survival to hospital discharge is measured at the point at which the patient is
discharged from acute care. Using this measure would indicate survival to discharge,
including a possible rehabilitation period in a local hospital before long-term care
and home care.

It is as stated difficult to make robust international performance and benchmarking
comparisons. One of the main challenges is around timing (when measurements
start and end) and how accurate and comparative these are. Despite these
limitations there do however appear to be a number of jurisdictions where response
standards are poorer than in Wales, for example in Australia.

The main and perhaps most important issue to emerge on benchmarking is that it is
widely recognised that sole reliance on response times is restrictive and a poor
reflection of ambulance service work.

Few ambulance services around the world provide non-emergency patient transport
36

Page 153



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

services in the same manner as in the UK. Often services outside the UK will provide

semi-planned transfers, discharges and admissions, but not the full range of
outpatient and day patient transport services. The functional split within the UK
Ambulance Service in the 1980s allowed each service to develop separately, and
opened PTS to competitive tendering exercises.

Key Points

There is limited comparative evidence on most effective strategic and
organisational models for the planning and delivery of ambulance services.
There has been a general international direction of travel to increasing the
organisational size of ambulance services (which generally comprise EMS) while
much debate has focused on co-location of emergency services.

There is limited useful comparative information available to compare
performance, quality of care, efficiency and effectiveness. The WAST project to
ensure more regular and accurate benchmarking needs to be widened to
include other comparison measures.

Given the common challenges faced further comparative and collaborative
research across the UK and internationally should be supported and
encouraged.

Page 154

37



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Part 2 — Review Findings

The Vision for Welsh Ambulance Services

Whilst the focus of the Review was welcomed by many stakeholders, it was generally
felt that rather than just look at the ambulance service in isolation, there is a need
for Wales to take a whole system view of unscheduled care within which ambulance
services need to be located.

A large number of stakeholders concluded that it was important to make some
decisions about what we want from an ambulance service in Wales. The following
guestions were posed:

= Do we want an emergency service?

= Do we want a 999 emergency transport service?

= Do we want a mobile medical service?

= Do we want a transport service (scoop and run)?

= Do we want a taxi service or a clinical service?

There was a general consensus that EMS should be a clinical rather than
transportation service and this supported the view that it had to be considered as

part of the wider unscheduled care system, both in terms of the services it provided
and the development and organisation of the workforce.

Key Points

Articulating and agreeing a clear vision for ambulance services is the key to any
other recommendations and future developments.

The vision for EMS Services is a clinical service that is a fundamental and
embedded component of the unscheduled care system. PCS services should be
locally responsive, cost effective and provided on clear eligibility and
accessibility criteria.

38

Page 155



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Structure of Ambulance Services in Wales
Current NHS Wales Structure

Prior to 2009, the NHS structure in Wales was characterised by a division of
responsibilities between LHBs as commissioners of health services and NHS Trusts as
providers of such services.

Following the restructure of NHS Wales in 2009, seven LHBs - responsible for securing
and improving services for their population in their area in a specified area of Wales —
and three NHS Trusts — responsible for providing goods or services for the purposes of
the NHS — were established, replacing the previous structure of 22 LHBs and seven
Trusts.

Current Ambulance Services Structure

The planning of emergency ambulance services is currently driven by Welsh
Government policy and WAST are accountable to the Minister for Health and Social
Services for a suite of key service standards which are set out in the Welsh
Government’s Annual Quality Framework.

Figure 5 Current Commissioning, Accountability and Governance Arrangements

Commissioning, Accountability and Governance of Welsh Emergency
Ambulance Services

WG LHBs WHSSC
Governance Accountability Commissioning
WAST

Strategic commissioning of services was previously the responsibility of Health
Commission Wales (HCW) which was superseded by WHSSC in 2010 and commissioned
services from WAST on behalf of LHBs. Commissioning in healthcare is a very well
recognised process of assessing the needs of the population and putting in place

39

Page 156



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

services to meet those needs. It is a proactive and strategic process that has the
potential to fundamentally redesign and change the way services are offered to
patients.

Existing performance management arrangements are twofold: WAST is performance
managed by both WHSSC and the Welsh Government, which holds bi-monthly
performance meetings with the WAST Director of Service Delivery and a 6 monthly
meeting at Director General and Chief Executive level.

The planned patient care service element of the Trust’s business is funded and managed
via individual SLAs with seven LHBs which are all different although operate under an
overarching, national SLA. NHSDW are funded from within the Trust’s budget allocation.

Previous Reviews Findings on Ambulance Service Structure

The WAO Ambulance Services in Wales Review (2006) suggested that national
commissioning should be maintained and supplemented with more advanced
relationships between services at a local level. There is no evidence to suggest that
this has been achieved at a local level despite the appointment of Heads of Service
Delivery by WAST.

The independently commissioned Lightfoot Review suggested that WAST and LHBs
would benefit from developing a jointly owned financial and strategic plan for
ambulance services. Although WAST and LHBs have engaged at a superficial level
over finance, there is little evidence of engagement at a strategic level over
ambulance service planning fit to respond to local needs.

The Lightfoot Review also recommended that the Welsh Government should work in
conjunction with LHBs to develop and agree the future planning and delivery
arrangements for WAST, ensuring a clarity and focus upon outcomes and
performance. This was superseded by the establishment of WHSSC in 2010 although
this work was not taken forward as part of the delivery and commissioning
arrangements between LHBs and WAST.

The establishment of the new LHB structure in 2009 was cited as an opportunity for
improving performance management structures by the Lightfoot Review which
suggested the existing Welsh Government performance management arrangements
were unclear in respect of how WAST was held to account for delivery of services.
The Review suggested the LHB re-structure presented an opportunity for the
appointment of a nominated LHB to act as lead commissioner and performance
manager for WAST.

The same Review also concluded that the commissioning arrangements for WAST did

not facilitate clear lines of accountability between the organisation and its
commissioners for the delivery of EMS.

40

Page 157



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The WAO Follow-up Review of Ambulance Services in Wales (2008) also stated that
the overlap between the respective performance management responsibility of the
Welsh Government and the principal commissioning role of WHSSC (then HCW)
made it more difficult to stimulate improvement in performance.

Stakeholder and Focus Group Findings on Structure of Welsh Ambulance Services
Commissioning

Stakeholders felt that there was little evidence of sound commissioning practices or
accountability and performance management of the Trust’s contractual delivery
lacked ownership and co-ordination.

It was felt that LHBs had insufficient input at planning and budget allocation stages
which resulted in delayed agreements over elements of the Trust’s budget creating
difficulties with delivering consistent and well thought out unscheduled care
services.

The commissioning of the Lightfoot Review in 2009 was cited by some as requiring a
fully costed joint planning approach but this level of joint financial planning has not
been achieved despite the clear and significant opportunities associated with more
integrated commissioning of the Trust’s unscheduled care services.

There was general feeling that the commissioning arrangements through WHSCC
were not effective and the absence of any meaningful SLAs between WAST and the
LHBs did not support effective performance.

Accountability

Within the current accountability and governance structures it was stated that there
was a significant lack of accountability to the LHBs that WAST serve. It was also felt
that the accountability to WHSCC was not transparent.

The governance framework (WAST to Welsh Government and the Board to the
Minister) was well understood and seen as a well accepted model of governance.
However it was felt that the individuals involved are the key to making this effective
and there was a feeling that the Board members at WAST were not as engaged and
informed as they could be.

It was felt by some stakeholders that WAST needed to be more transparent and
accountable to the public on a range of measures, in a similar approach to that
adopted by the fire services’ all-Wales Dwelling Fire Response Charter (see page 62
for further detail).

A range of stakeholders thought the accountability arrangements for PCS and
NHSDW were not transparent. A number of stakeholders felt accountability
arrangements could be improved through SLAs, effective commissioning

41

Page 158



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

arrangements (patients should be at the heart of this framework) and clear lines of
accountability within the organisation.

Structure

Stakeholders felt that the decisions on structures should follow a decision about
what ambulance services should be delivered in Wales. It was felt that “form must
follow function” and that until the strategic issues concerning what Wales actually
wants from an ambulance service have been agreed, that structure should not be
decided.

Notwithstanding the importance of agreeing what Wales requires from an
ambulance service, all those interviewed had views about the current structure and
the different parts of WAST.

Stakeholders put forward a number of other opinions and suggestions for the future
structuring of ambulance services. These included:

= WAST being structured in line with LHBs with a national oversight being achieved
through the creation of a Ministerial Board;

= WAST being established as a regional structure aligned to other emergency
services;

= WAST remaining as a national all Wales organisation but embedded within one
LHB and operate as a division within this organisation, serving the whole of
Wales (it was felt this would remove the management overhead to the service
being delivered);

= EMS operated as a national body with a Chief Operating Officer reporting to the
Minister and PTS split and integrated into the LHBs; and

= There was a general view that the headquarters needs to be Cardiff based.

Some thought that the three core parts of WAST (EMS, PCS and NHSDW) were not
regarded as a good fit and it was suggested that these services may be better
delivered through an alternative structural model; others viewed NHSDW as a poor
fit with both EMS and PCS;

One suggestion was for NHSDW to become a local service and the resources invested
locally within each LHB to create an improved Out of Hours service linking it with
A&E triage based on clinical support teams; and that EMS and PCS should be
integrated into the LHBs, enabling paramedics to be integrated into the Minor
Injuries Unit and result in a different model.

Finally, it was also felt that control centres need to be reduced to a maximum of two
and that they could cover the whole pathway and have direct patient accountability.
It was believed this could be achieved through the integration of NHSDW into the
control centres and engaging GPs through the Out of Hours service for effective
triage.

42

Page 159



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Many reiterated the need for agreement to be reached on the core functions of
WAST before considering issues concerning structure and accountabilities.
Notwithstanding the importance that form follows function, it was generally felt that
the current structure was not effective and that there was a serious lack of clinical
support within the organisation.

Some felt there were too many layers in the structure resulting in a lengthy decision
making process, a general lack of empowerment, low motivation levels, high sickness
levels and poor internal communications.

There were general views across one of the focus groups that the governance and
accountability arrangements were too complicated and that more transparency was
required. Some group members suggested there was too much Welsh Government
interference in the way the Trust is operated.

There were also concerns expressed about the range of services delivered by WAST,
with suggestions that the EMS and PCS services were too much for the organisation
to deliver.

A range of suggestions were made by focus group members for a change in structure
including support for aligning with the fire service, maintaining a national body but
delivering ambulance services locally, aligning with LHBs and forming new regional
organisations based on the South Wales Programme and other service change plans.

Key Points

There is a fundamental problem with the current accountability and
governance arrangements for ambulance services in Wales which are
multiple, complex and lacking in clarity and transparency. This needs to be
addressed to create arrangements which are simple, clear and aligned to the
agreed vision for service delivery.

Current arrangements require strategic commissioning but the mechanics and
levers for achieving this, such as service specifications, service level
agreements and contract management, are not being used. Moreover, there
is limited capacity and capability to undertake effective commissioning within
NHS Wales.

There are a number of structural options which could address the current
problems and these all have advantages and disadvantages. Options should
be assessed against a series of core guiding principles to ensure form follows
function. There is no ‘magic bullet’ that will resolve the structural difficulties
but it is important to clearly decide on the most suitable model, co-create the
development of the details of the model, implement and allow the
arrangements to mature.

43

Page 160



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Funding of Welsh Ambulance Services
Introduction

The efficacy of current funding mechanisms together with some consideration of the
sufficiency of current funding was primarily considered although the latter, together
with analysis of the effective allocation of existing resources, has been an important

area for previous reviews.

Current Funding Mechanisms

The structural arrangements for funding have remained consistent since 1998 with
WAST’s unscheduled care services financed through the Welsh Health Specialist
Services Committee (WHSSC) — previously Health Commission Wales (HCW).

WHSSC receives this annual funding allocation directly from the seven LHBs from
within their discretionary budget allowances, which is provided to them on an
annual basis by the Welsh Government. The Welsh Government does not fund WAST
directly.

The PCS element of the Trust’s business is funded via individual SLA with LHBs, which
are all different although operate under an overarching, national SLA.

Figure 6 Unscheduled Care Services Funding Mechanism

Weksh > >
Government LHBs WHSSC

Funding Funding

WAST

Funding

44

Page 161



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The financial contract between WHSSC and WAST is a basic arrangement. The
contract is ‘rolled over’ on an annual basis with an inflationary ‘uplift’ applied. There
is also an ‘inflator/deflator’ mechanism built into the contract which requires the
Trust to absorb any new activity (demand) of 15% or less on an annual basis before
any additional resources are applied by WHSSC.

Figure 7 WAST Budget Allocations 2012/13

Welsh Government Specific allocations (Impairments & Provisions): £9.6m
— ——
Planned Patient Care
l WAST

funding: £23m

LHBs > WHSSC
Unscheduled
Care: £116m

Other Invoices
& Payments:
£10m

The Trust received £158.6million from WHSSC for 2012/13, based on the number of
calls, attendances and incidents undertaken. WAST also receives funding from a
number of other sources including the Welsh Government for capital programmes,
meaning there is currently no one organisation responsible for funding the fully
loaded cost of providing the EMS service.

In view of concerns about the efficacy of funding arrangements, WAST and HCW
jointly commissioned the Lightfoot (2009) Review to understand the adequacy of
funding and whether it was sufficient to meet national performance targets. At the
same time, the 2009 Review aimed to establish whether there were opportunities
for WAST to improve the efficiency of its operations.

Previous Reviews Findings on Funding Mechanisms

The Lightfoot Review suggested funding arrangements have been unclear in the past
and require clarification in the new NHS structure, so that the link between funding
and service delivery can be made transparent. The Review also stated that WAST had
sufficient overall revenue and staff resources but questioned how efficiently
resources were deployed.

45

Page 162



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The 2009 Review recommended that WAST should complete a review of the fully
loaded cost of providing EMS and PCS in order to establish a sound basis for
establishing the funding requirements and the contract currency for the two
services. It appears that this has not been followed up by WAST.

The Review recommended that WAST and the LHBs should develop a fully costed
plan to implement the actions required to deliver the new delivery model and should
establish a joint programme management framework to oversee the implementation
of the plan. This does not appear to have been fully acted upon.

The report also pointed to the potential for efficiencies from modernisation and
matching resources to demand, but that this, the Review stated, required capital
investment, particularly to develop a modern and integrated communications
infrastructure.

The Lightfoot Review also recommended the Trust should develop robust business
cases for all capital investments, including performance gains and revenue savings
over a reasonable and achievable timescale and that these should be assessed by
Welsh Government. This has been somewhat achieved with a capital assessment
process in place although there are still outstanding capital issues notably in the
replacement of the Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) system — the method of
dispatching emergency ambulance vehicles by computer.

The Lighfoot Review suggested the majority of ambulance trusts in England either
have introduced or are currently planning to introduce the current generation of
CAD systems and it is on these systems that CAD providers are currently focusing
their development efforts. WAST currently operates with an outdated CAD system
that has been superseded by a more up to date system from the CAD provider.

As a result, although the system will be maintained, it will not benefit from the
enhancements that will be applied to the later system and over time the
performance of the current system will lag behind. Consequently the system will
have to be upgraded or replaced in the near future if WAST is to maintain a level of
performance that is comparable with other Trusts.

The ORH Review of Control Services (2012) also stated effective use of resources can
lead to better performance. The report suggested substantial performance
improvements could be obtained by WAST through strengthening the management
of the Control function, reviewing its capacity for ensuring a robust audit,
compliance, training and mentoring processes for call-takers and improving control
room layouts. This report made further recommendations in respect of efficiencies
for management of staff and resources which are featured under the Organisation
and Management section on page 49.

46

Page 163



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The Lightfoot Review carried out a comparative analysis of the funding allocated to
WAST and similar Ambulance Trusts in England and reported that WAST received 9%
less income per call than South Western Ambulance Service and 22% less than East
of England Ambulance Service (2007/08 data).

It also reported that WAST received 8% more EMS calls than South Western
Ambulance Service but 14% fewer calls than East of England Ambulance Service, and
dividing the EMS income by the number of calls gave the following figures:

= WAST - £195 per call
= South Western Ambulance Service - £209 per call
= East of England Ambulance Service - £250 per call

The Review suggested making comparisons of the efficiency of an ambulance Trust is
difficult because of the range and mix of resources available to each organisation. It
carried out additional studies to consider a range of additional measures, in order to
gain a full understanding of other factors that affect the ambulance service, as well
as the efficiency with which the service is operated.

Fig 8 Average Income per Call Received (2007/08)

Average Income per call received

B Welsh Ambulance
Services Trust

B South Western
Ambulance Services Trust

m East of England
Ambulance Services Trust

Within the additional analysis, WAST scored highest in the ‘number of incidents
responded to per member of front line staff’ and the ‘measurement of income per
member of frontline staff’. The Review concluded that this reflected inefficiency in
the way WAST rostered staff, with high levels of overtime and low levels of relief,
and recommended running the service with fewer frontline staff.

47

Page 164



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Stakeholder and Focus Group Findings on Funding Mechanisms

There was a strong consensus that funding of ambulance services need to match
aims and objectives for their delivery and reflect decisions about the future structure
and model of ambulance service delivery in Wales.

Generally it was felt that the Trust receives sufficient funding to deliver effective
unscheduled care services, although there were some who felt that funding was
insufficient particularly to achieve the 8 minute target. Efficiencies were suggested
in areas such as staff rostering, demand management and reducing lost ambulance
hours to fully capitalise on the available resources, which it was felt would result in
considerable resources being released.

Key Points

There is a fundamental problem with current funding mechanisms which are not
clearly linked to the development of service specifications or SLAs, nor to the
performance management of ambulance services. Current arrangements lack clarity
and transparency and future funding mechanisms need to address this.

Any funding formula needs to reflect the vision and objectives for the delivery of
ambulance services. Currently, the achievement of the 8 minute performance target is
a key driver for funding and an agreed vision for a clinical EMS model, with patient
outcomes at the heart, would require funding to be appropriately allocated to meet
that vision, and to assess whether there is sufficient funding.

The fundamental structural , organisational and system problems experienced by
WAST make it difficult to establish whether current funding is sufficient or used as
effectively and efficiently as it might be.

In common with the rest of the NHS estate in Wales there are challenges with ensuring
the appropriate level of capital funding for example to replace the CAD that need to be
addressed.

The Trust’s current funding mechanisms were seen by stakeholders as complex,
unclear and unnecessarily time consuming. It was suggested that the added value of
previously funding WAST through WHSCC was unclear and it was felt that the current
system was not transparent. The funding formula, based on a rollover of the
previous years allocation was thought to be out of date and there was a view that an
appropriate commissioning framework needed to be introduced.

A number of stakeholders felt any future commissioning and funding framework
would need to be based on future needs, incorporating issues such as deprivation,
rurality, age of the population and future demand projections. It was suggested
there were opportunities for SLAs to be put in place with each Health Board
alongside effective performance management arrangements.

48

Page 165



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The one year funding cycle was not seen to be effective in supporting an
organisation that is seeking to implement long-term structural change, as it
encourages short term thinking and it was suggested that a three or five year
funding cycle may be more appropriate.

A number of members of the focus groups also suggested that existing funding was
not allocated fairly on a regional basis, suggesting that although the South East deals
with 68% of activity, it was not allocated 68% of resources.

The need for any future funding mechanisms to consider the impact of service
change was discussed, particularly in the context of the increased travel times for
ambulance staff and resources. A number of focus group members expressed a lack
of confidence that an increase in funding will make a difference to operations,
indicating they were not convinced management would effectively manage the
additional resources.

49

Page 166



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services
Organisation and Management of Ambulance Services in Wales

Current Welsh Ambulance Services Organisation and Management Mechanism
WAST delivers EMS, PCS and Health Courier Services and hosts NHSDW. The
organisation is overseen by an Executive Board, illustrated in figure 7, which is

directly accountable to the Chair, Stuart Fletcher.

Figure 9 Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust Executive Structure

Chief
Executive
| | | | | | | | | |
Director of Medical & Director of Director of Director of _ Nurse Director
WEOQOD Clinical Service Finance & ICT Strategy Planning

. . & Performance
Director Delivery

The Trust Board formally comprises 13 members, all of whom have voting rights
inclusive of a Chairman, seven Non Executive Directors, a Chief Executive and four
Executive Directors.

The Board’s role is to:

e Set the policy and strategic direction of the Trust;

e Manage the Risk;

e Manage its people and resources;

o Establish governance systems to enable it to effectively measure progress
and performance, and to make sure this is achieved; and

e Work in partnership with key stakeholders, both internal and external.

The non-Executive Directors role involves monitoring the Trust’s overall strategy and
performance and liaising widely with Executive Directors and other key staff.

In 2012, the Trust restructured its management team beneath Board level, moving
from a regionally managed approach to the appointment of a Head of Service for
each integrated LHB region, in addition to Heads of Service for Resource, Care
Coordination Services and a National Staff Officer. Figure 8 overleaf illustrates the
WAST Service Delivery Structure.

50

Page 167



89T abed

Figure 10 WAST Service Delivery Directorate

Director of
Service
Delivery
PA
Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of
Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service
BCU Powys HD ABMU AB cT cv Resource cce Nat. Staff
Officer
Locality Locality Locality Locality Locality Locality Locality Resource Utilisation
Manager Manager Manager Manager Manager Manager Manager Mgr Mgr
x3 x3 X2 x3 x3
CTL x33 { CTL x9 CTL x20 { CTL x19 { CTL x19 { CTL x11 CTL x15




Delivering the Clinical Strategy

The Trust appointed a full time Medical Director in 2011, to lead the Medical and
Clinical Directorate and WAST’s wider clinical strategy detailed in the Working
Together for Success document. The strategy aims to ‘ensure patients’ experience of
care and outcomes are the best the Trust can provide’, and WAST implemented a
clinical response model to drive the delivery of this goal.

The Medical Director is supported by a network of clinical and non-clinical staff
across the service delivery and clinical directorates, with additional support from a
part time Nurse Director as part of WAST’s clinical governance arrangements.

As part of the clinical response model, a ‘Clinical Contact Centre’ strategy was
developed in 2012 and located at its Vantage Point House Headquarters in the South
East Region. The Contact Centre is staffed by multi-disciplinary clinical teams made
up of call takers, nurses, paramedics and GPs who support control room staff by
managing incoming demand through application of clinical critical thinking.

The Clinical Contact Centre is supplemented by clinical assessments undertaken by
Advanced Paramedic Practitioners (APPs) at the scene on a ‘see and treat’ basis. This
clinical leadership approach aims to ‘foster a culture of clinical leadership and
excellence through professionalism across the organisation’.

Specialist and Advanced Paramedic Practitioners are now know as Advanced
Practitioners (APs) and Trainee Advanced Practitioners (TAPs) and WAST currently
employ 19 Advanced Practitioners and 10 Trainee Advanced Practitioner. Both are
able to deliver a range of advanced clinical services which can assess, diagnose, refer
and treat patients definitively at scene or signpost them to the most appropriate
place for their care.

Previous Reviews Findings on Organisation and Management

Previous Reviews of WAST have focused on specific and detailed organisational and
management issues at an operational level. This review is focussed on the strategic
aspects, but some common and vital operational findings do arise and have been
considered as part of the review.

The 2008 internal Review of WAST’s emergency response service indicated that the
Trust’s corporate governance had improved although clinical governance needed
further improvement. The Review suggested the Trust should maintain its progress
towards integrating clinical and corporate governance, embed and disseminate key
policies and develop clinical governance structures to support new models of
service.

The ORH Capacity Review (2012) identified that management of Control Room

functions should be stronger and more consistent across Wales. Performance
management is uneven and ineffective at present and urgently requires

Page 169



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

improvement, with a common system of reporting against key performance
indicators, and regular feed back to staff. An effective performance management
system was also identified as a key area for improvement in earlier Reviews.

Another common issue raised across the range of reports is poor communication
between management and operational staff. The requirement for a clear and
effective communications strategy which made roles and responsibilities clear and
aid policy and strategic developments featured in the WAO Review of Ambulance
Services in Wales (2006).

The ORH Review also highlighted the importance of addressing and mitigating
current and projected increases in demand on ambulance services by increasing
staffing capacity. It was felt that the South East area is most in need of additional
staff numbers although recruitment across other regions was also required

The Lightfoot Review also suggested there was a shortage of staff in certain areas
which prevented WAST from undertaking sufficient ongoing professional training.
The Review estimated that the cost of additional staff required if WAST were to
operate with no reliance on overtime to cover shifts would be in the region of
£8.5million.

This overreliance on overtime was identified as a weakness by the Lightfoot Review
which suggested it did not provide a robust mechanism for managing rosters or
represent an appropriate HR policy. The Review identified that it would be
imprudent to continue to rely on such high levels of overtime.

The WAO Follow-up Review of Ambulance Services in Wales (2008) also suggested
staff rosters were inconsistent and resulted in a lack of capacity at peak times,
indicating rosters should be based around the needs of patients.

The level of relief built into planning was identified as a weakness by the Lightfoot
Review which stressed the importance of building relief into resource planning to
cover factors such as leave, sickness, training and other planned and unplanned
absence. The Review set out that WAST would benefit significantly from increasing
its relief factor from a current rate of 28% to the Department of Health’s
recommended relief factor of 35% to cover issues such as sickness and training.

Sickness absence issues and their longstanding and ongoing impact on operational
efficiency were also identified by ORH and the WAO Review of Ambulance Services
(2006). The recommendation for more robust management of sickness absence is a
common theme across the breadth of the reports considered. WAST’s sickness
absence levels remain the highest of all NHS Wales organisations at 7.23%
(December 2012) against an all Wales average of 5.42%.

The WAO Follow-up Review of Ambulance Services in Wales (2008) report set out the
importance of clarifying roles and responsibilities for executive and non-executive

53

Page 170



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Board members with more emphasis suggested for active roles for non-executives.
There is little evidence to suggest that non-executives roles have become more clear
or central to the Trust’s delivery of services.

Stakeholder and Focus Group Findings on Organisation and Management

Concerns were expressed, specifically by some frontline staff, during focus groups
about the visibility and leadership skills of both the senior Executive team and the
Board. Some focus group members also suggested senior staff were not engaging at
appropriate levels across Wales.

It was felt by some stakeholders that senior management focused on current
operational issues rather than develop the organisation in a strategic manner.

Further, a number of frontline staff felt the organisation’s structure contained too
many management tiers, stating that this organisational structure reduced
accountability and encouraged inefficiencies in operations and decision making.

There was a general feeling that there is a lack of clinical governance and support
within the organisation. An element of focus group members felt that the senior
team operate very much in their own silos and are too far removed from those
delivering the service. It was also stated by an element of staff at a focus group that
staff morale was at rock bottom and anecdotal evidence of bullying was mentioned
on a number of occasions.

It was felt by some stakeholders that WAST should be led by an individual with
medical and/or paramedic experience and it was suggested that consideration
should be given to creating a Chief Ambulance Officer to be housed within Welsh
Government.

An element of representatives at focus groups felt there is a general culture of fear
amongst sections of the organisation. Concerns were expressed by some
stakeholders that staff do not feel empowered or comfortable with making decisions
as they feel there is little or no support from management.

Other stakeholders perceived the organisational culture as negative and suggested
there was no positive experience of change which resulted in a resistance to it.
WAST was seen as a military style organisation by sections of WAST staff.

It was felt by some stakeholders that the current structure, policies and strategies
are not appropriate for a modern ambulance service and a section of focus group
members felt there were not enough human and vehicle resources — qualified
paramedics, ambulances, uniform, essential kit or NHSDW call centre staff.

A proportion of staff said they do not feel part of an all Wales organisation as a
result of the different procedures in operation across parts of Wales. There were

Page 171

54



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

also concerns raised about the senior management structure which was deemed
inefficient in some quarters.

Air Ambulance Services

Recommendations and analysis of the strengths and opportunities for greater use of
the air ambulance service was not considered as part of this strategic review in view
of the emerging Emergency Medical Retrieval Service (EMRS) work programme for
Wales. The charitable status of Wales Air Ambulance / Ambiwlans Awyr Cymru was
also factored into these considerations.

The EMRS is in use in Scotland and involves the deployment of a medical team from
a specialist centre to a smaller healthcare facility with limited on site resources. The
aim of the service is to resuscitate and transfer critically ill patients directly to
definitive care.

Given the transfer times of less than 30 minutes across Wales a service of this kind
could offer alternative solutions for both rural and specialist health services.
However, the Welsh Government has advised that Wales Air Ambulance /
Ambiwlans Awyr Cymru has never previously sought capital funding and it would not
be appropriate to make recommendations on an issue that is not within the scope of
the Terms of Reference.

Key points

Previous reviews and actions have placed significant focus on changes to the detail of
organisation and management of ambulance services. In particular the organisation
has experienced a number of changes at the most senior management levels.
However, despite this many of the problems previously identified remain.

This suggests a much more fundamental problem with the organisation itself and how
the system it currently, and has previously, operated within has impacted on it. This is
a difficult and not always tangible issue which does, however, need to be clearly
addressed.

A clinical model for the delivery of EMS requires the up skilling of paramedics as part
of the unscheduled care workforce. This should be achieved by more detailed
workforce planning conducted with key partners in the NHS and Higher Education.

There is a general consensus that up skilled paramedics should develop greater levels
of autonomy and clinical decision making. This requires the development of pathways
and protocols to support this that recognise the wider nature of risk management and
partnership working with regulatory organisations in the development of the
paramedic profession. It also requires a high level of clinical understanding, support
and leadership from within the ambulance service and from other clinicians working in
unscheduled and primary care.

Page 172



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Performance

The WAQ'’s forthcoming report on unscheduled care includes a comprehensive study
of demand on NHS Wales’ urgent and emergency care services. In view of this work,

and because this strategic review was not tasked with analysing demand in its Terms
of Reference, a detailed analysis of this issue has not been provided.

However, it is important to reference the impact of demand because of the
implications a significant increase in activity can have on performance.

Current Demand on Ambulance Services

In common with other unscheduled care services, WAST has faced rising levels of
demand over recent years, resulting in increased pressure and the potential for
diminished patient experience and safety. For information on the reasons for
increasing demand on unscheduled care services please see the ‘current and
emerging challenges’ section on page 24.

Call volumes to WAST have increased significantly in the past ten years. This increase
has been caused by a range of factors additional to the ‘standard’ increasing
pressure referred to above. Call volumes increase significantly during weekends,
public holidays and during sporting weekends.

Call volumes have risen by 68% between 2001/02 and 2012/13 and there has been a
29.6% increase in calls categorised as life threatening between 2005/06 and
2012/13. The increase in call volume demand is illustrated in chart 1 which shows an
increase in calls from 430,565 to 530,496 over the past 7 years:

Chart 1 Call Volumes 2005/06 — 2012/13 (Source: Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust)

Demand for services

Call Volume 2005 - 2013

2012/2013 530,496

2011/2012

498,833

2010/2011 487,470

2009/2010

2008/2009

2007/2008

WAST Call volume has
increased over the past
7 years from 430,565 in

2006/07 to a forecast of
530,496 at 2012/13
yearend (+23%)

2006/2007

2005/2006 430,565

350,000 370,000 390,000 410,000 430,000 450,000 470,000 490,000 510,000 530,000 550,000

Page 173

56



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Overview of Current Performance

The Welsh Government’s Annual Quality Framework 2012/13 requires WAST to
achieve a range of national standards and targets which demonstrates the quality of
service delivered to patients in Wales.

The principal national performance target requires WAST to respond to 65% of all
calls categorised as ‘life threatening’, known as Category A until December 2011 and
now known as Red 1 or 2 calls, within eight minutes. A separate target for 60% of
responses to the same category of call within eight minutes exists on a Unitary
Authority basis. ‘Life threatening’ calls include cardiac arrest, stroke and heavy blood
loss. In addition to increasing demand levels, WAST face a number of challenges to
its ability to achieve these targets:

= Geographical challenges in rural and sparsely populated places, where it is
extremely difficult to accurately predict the focus of demand,;

= Difficulties during the winter months when inclement weather can cause
dangerous driving conditions, resulting in reduced speed;

= Challenges with the topography of some areas resulting in limited access,
making it difficult to achieve timely responses;

= Lengthy patient handover delays (or lost ambulance hours) at A&Es in Wales
cause particular problems for ambulance vehicles to respond to other calls in
the community as they are tied up for extended periods, particularly during
times of peak demand. Lost ambulance hours are an international problem
but are a significant issue in Wales and the impact of lost ambulance hours
on performance in Wales is illustrated in Chart 2 below:

Chart 2 Category A Performance vs. Lost Ambulance Hours (Source: WAST)

Cat A Ambulance Performance v Lost Hours (Turnaround)
7,000 1

6,000 |

[ 80%

- 70%

Page 174

T
c
3
<]
- o
g 60% 3
2 5,000 | g
£ >
3 ©50% @
o
& 4,000 B
g 2
3 - 40% @
£ 3,000 - %
2 - 30% 5
2 00
£ 2,000 - 2
s} T 20% @
o]
t
3 1,000 - L 10%
0 T T T T T T T 0%

2 8 8 83 8 9 % 9 9 9 9 9 % g 3 9 38 8 8§ 9§ 8 o9

5 £ % 5 g $ 5 5 ¥ 8 ¢ 8 5 5 % 5 g & 5 5 ¥ 5 g 3

< 2 & 0 o ¢ « 2 & 0o o & « 2 &£ 0o o & € 2 2 o o <&

Lost Hours - Turnaround After 20 Mins % Responses Within 8 Mins




A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Performance against the eight minute target has deteriorated over 2012/13 as
illustrated by chart 3.

Chart 3 WAST National A8 Performance (%) 2012/13 (Source: WAST)

Ambulance Category A Performance in 2012 - All Wales

100%
90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

% Responses Within 8 Mins

30%
20%

10%

0% T T T T T T

Jan-12 Feb-12 Mar-12 Apr-12 May-12 Jun-12

Jul-12  Aug-12 Sep-12 Oct-12 Nov-12 Dec-12

This performance does not compare favourably with previous years as

demonstrated by Chart 4 below.

Chart 4 WAST National A8 Performance (%) 2009 — 2013 (Source: WAST)

Ambulance Cat A 8 Min Response Times - All Wales

80%

0, VS  —
70% =\ D
:&m( — — — —_—f — —— — _——
wv
f=
s 60% )~ 4 .
)
f=
= 50%
=
o 40%
wv
f
2
) 0,
2 30%
o
x
20%
10%
0% S S e e T S e N H L s s e e o L e e e e e L S B e e e e e e S e N E L !
DD DD DDO O OO OO 000000 T T T~ T~ T e o ANANNNNNNNNNNNOO
OO0 000000 O r i T NN - - C T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T v ox- x
ejolololololololololololololololololololololololo oo lololo o oo oo o Nolo oo oo oo oo o)
AR ANRIAARAARFARARAANRAAARAARAAAQRARAQFARAAQARAARFAQAF QAR A
S>c SO >0 cas s >CS0OaD 20 cass >SS0 >0 cas>csoan =0 ca
Q—m:—3,:wé’)owmw‘“o-m:—3,:wé’)owmw‘“o-m:—z,:w80wmw‘“°—m:—3,:w80wmw
=57 IO zAa-SL=<=5"Zn0za5wL=<=5"2n0zaL=<s5"ZnO0za>1
% Responses Within 8 Mins = o Target

Page 175



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Performance in Wales does not compare favourably with England and Scotland
either as illustrated by chart 5 below although it should be acknowledged that it is
difficult to compare like with like with such a different level of resources at the
command of ambulance service in each country.

Chart 5 WAST Performance 2012 (Source: WAST)

% Responses Within 8 Mins

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Ambulance Category A Performance - 2012

\)_WH;: ———\
\/‘ ~——
e —

Jan-12 Feb-12 Mar-12 Apr-12 May-12 Jun-12 Jul-12 Aug-12 Sep-12 Oct-12 Nov-12 Dec-12

Wales === England

Scotland (est)

WAST has also set itself a target of reaching 52% of patients categorised as suffering
from cardiac arrest, with a defibrillator within four minutes. Between 2008-09 and
2011-12 the Trust had never met this target and the best annual performance was
35.6% in 2011-12. In November 2012 performance deteriorated to 25.8%.

Whilst the eight minute target has been viewed as the principal ambulance
performance indicator there are a range of other standards which WAST has
consistently failed to achieve. These include:

For calls categorised as Green 1 and 2 the Welsh Government requires a
paramedic to arrive at the scene within 30 minutes in 95% of cases. Between
April 2012 and February 2013 performance has typically been around 80%.

Calls classified as Green 3 do not receive a paramedic response. These calls
are transferred to NHSDW for clinical telephone assessment and Welsh
Government has set a target that the patient should receive this assessment
within 10 minutes in 90% of cases. This target has not been met since March
2012.

Urgent calls from GPs are the most common call received by the ambulance
service in Wales. In such calls, the ambulance service uses a protocol known
as Card 35 which aims to ensure all calls from GPs are not treated with the

Page 176

59



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

same urgency. The ambulance call taker runs through a set of questions with
the GP and together they decide upon an appropriate response time. The
Welsh Government target requires WAST to comply with this agreed
response time in 95% of cases. Between December 2011 and February 2013,
WAST’s best monthly performance was 69.7%.

Previous Reviews Findings on Performance

A number of the key reviews, including the Ambulance Services in Wales (2006) and
Lightfoot Review identified the need for the ambulance service and LHBs to agree a
range of measures and standards that can be used to benchmark performance
against ambulance services around the UK. To date, there is little evidence of a
robust system being put in place to achieve this.

The WAO Ambulance Services in Wales Review (2006) recommended that WAST
should work with LHBs to improve the way they monitor their performance, through
a robust, accurate and balanced system of measuring and reporting against key
performance indicators. Although the Welsh Government revised the national
reporting standards in 2011 there has been a lack of progress in regard to
development of outcome measures to support the 65% national standard.

The same Review identified that rural areas of Wales pose their own unique
challenges for delivering emergency ambulance services and suitable, regional
strategies were required to address local issues, but which align with the national
plan.

The Lightfoot Review identified that hospital delays have a significant impact on
WAST’s ability to meet its performance targets, suggesting that an additional 900
ambulance hours per week were needed in order to compensate for the delays in
handing over patients at hospital. The number of lost ambulance hours accrued each
week has remained constant since the release of the report with the latest available
figures showing WAST ‘lost’” over 5000 hours waiting to handover patients at A&E in
March 2013 alone.

The WAOQ'’s Follow-up Review of Ambulance Services in Wales (2008) suggested that
LHBs should be more pro-active in tackling long patient handover delays which
impinge on ambulance service performance.

Stakeholder and Focus Group Findings on Performance

Whilst some focus group members were of the view that time based targets were
not appropriate, some thought that there was a role for time based targets as a
measure of internal performance and improvement, and that these should not be
made public. They felt the approach used by the Fire Service to monitor
performance is effective as they have recently moved from a time-based response
for emergencies to an approach based on outcomes and quality. This move came in

Page 177

60



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

response to a Welsh Government expectation that fire and rescue authorities will
develop service standards for responding to dwelling fires in their area. An all-Wales
Dwelling Fire Response Charter was developed to provide a framework by which all
three fire and rescue authorities can communicate their specific commitments to
their local communities.

The framework outlines the level of prevention, protection and response that
communities can expect on dwelling fire risk and does not include time based
targets, instead focusing on:

= Welsh Government performance indicators relating to fire deaths, injuries,
accidental dwelling fires and home fire safety checks.

= Local performance indicators relating to operational competence levels of
fire and rescue personnel.

= Local performance indicators relating to any serious injuries sustained by fire
fighters at dwelling fires (under RIDDOR criteria).

= Local performance indicators relating to working time lost as a result of those
injuries.
= Local performance indicators relating to response criteria (including response

time) to dwelling fires.

Many stakeholders and focus groups believed that current targets were not
regarded as effective and were not seen as clinically sensible, with a strong view that
targets need to be outcome focused and shared with LHBs as part of an integrated
pathway. Concerns were expressed bys about the lack of an evidence base for an 8
minute target which was deemed to lack patient focus.

It was also suggested that consideration should be given to setting targets for key
pathways, such as stroke and cardiac conditions, subject to more refined triage at
the call handling stage.

The general view was that the current performance management framework within
which WAST operates is resulting in some negative behaviour and is not assisted by
the lack of consideration for outcome based measures such as patient survival.

The most consistent discussion topic from frontline staff was in relation to the
disproportionate amount of focus placed on achievement of the eight minute target
by management. Group members expressed concern that colleagues were
complimented for achieving the target despite the eventual death of a patient but
were reprimanded by managers for failing to achieve the target despite saving a
patient’s life.

Page 178

61



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

The following example was quoted by many stakeholders:

e |f an ambulance arrives within 9 minutes and the patient survives, they have
failed the target; and

e If an ambulance arrives within 7 minutes and the person dies, the target has
been achieved.

In addition to the above, focus group members consistently pointed to the increase
in demand as a factor in deteriorating performance. They felt failure to roster staff
effectively to meet demand was also a contributing factor towards a failure to
achieve the eight minute target.

Key Points

The eight minute target is currently the primary focus for performance
management. This is a very limited way of judging and incentivising the
performance of ambulance services.

Speed is particularly important for some conditions such as cardiac arrest but
there is little clinical evidence for the blanket eight minute target.

A more intelligent suite of targets which incentivise change and provide a greater
focus on patient experience and outcomes should be developed. These should
form part of a suite of targets across the unscheduled care system

A clinical model for the ambulance service within the unscheduled care system
requires the development of care pathways and protocols which facilitate the
delivery of EMS within the unscheduled care system.

There is a lack of integrated data across the patient journey and specifically on
outcomes, and this should be addressed to facilitate rigorous performance
management across the system.

It was also felt that WAST was overused by the public and GPs in general. There
were fears that the public appear to be relying on WAST when they are unable to get
appointments at their local doctors and GPs are using WAST to transport patients to
hospital when other options may be more appropriate. As a consequence of this
conveyance levels are higher than they should be and WAST staff do not feel
empowered to take decisions that will result in a patient not being transported to
A&E.

Page 179



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Some suggested more focus needs to be given to monitoring conveyance rates and
the reasons for patients being transferred to hospital. As part of an effective
performance management system, it was suggested by some that this could identify
those who should have been treated elsewhere and take appropriate action to
resolve poor practice among paramedics.

Many felt that improved access to an assessment and triage system through the
primary and community care setting (i.e. GPs, Out of Hours and NHSDW) would
reduce the demand on the ambulance service and improve performance.

A number of group members felt media scrutiny and political expectations were
impinging on performance by increasing pressure on staff.

Page 180

63



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Part 3 - Key Conclusions and Recommendations

A New, Whole System Vision for Welsh Ambulance Services

The ambulance service and the wider NHS in Wales know they need to change.

The unscheduled care system needs to change how it identifies people at increased
risk of a need for urgent or emergency care treatment, and to manage that risk with
services, care and support at or close to home to prevent emergency hospital
admissions where they are not needed.

The scale and pace of change will increase for NHS Wales over the coming years and
this Review was undertaken in that context, with a focus on placing ambulance
services within a whole system.

A new vision for Welsh ambulance services which is clearly defined, realistically
achievable and aligned to the whole system direction of travel for unscheduled care
services needs to be agreed as a first step. Everything else, including how services
are planned, delivered and funded should flow from this vision.

A Robust, Clinical Model for Emergency Medical Services

WAST’s current clinical strategy aims to build strong clinical leadership towards
delivering a patient focused clinical service. This is a progressive and clear vision.

However, this clinical model cannot be delivered effectively unless efficiencies are
made elsewhere allowing for the delivery of a streamlined EMS, which operates
from a whole system perspective.

Realistic assessment of whether the current levels of clinical and nursing skills are
able to provide an appropriate clinical response will also need to be made in building

towards a truly clinical model.

Recommendation 1

Welsh Government and NHS Wales should agree that WAST Emergency Medical Services

(EMS) be operated as a clinical service embedded in the unscheduled care system. This will

need to be a key part of the service change agenda. Patient Care Services (PCS) should be
locally responsive, cost effective and provided on clear eligibility and accessibility criteria.

Page 181

64



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Locally Provided and Cost Effective Patient Care Services

Careful consideration has been given to the findings of previous Reviews concerning
aspects of PCS, specifically the Griffiths Review of Non-Emergency Patient Transport
in Wales (2010) and the subsequent three-year national programme of non-
emergency patient transport pilots.

Recommendations and conclusions made in this report should not preclude anything
that will come out of the Griffiths Review which is due to report to the Minister for
Health and Services with the outcome of the pilots in June 2013. However, the
recommendation outlined below can be considered within a variety of
organisational structures.

Ultimately the provision of PCS is a core part of service change proposals and it is
important that these services are considered a high priority by whoever is
responsible for their delivery, and to avoid the risk of being seen as marginal.

Further, in determining the future role for PCS, it is important to consider whether it
fits with any changes to the way EMS are delivered and whether they should
become a routine function of LHBs delivery of services.

Stakeholder views captured as part of the Review have indicated a clear preference
for local delivery of PCS that would result in separation from EMS, allowing it to
focus solely on the delivery of a clinical model.

This is also reflected in the international literature. In order to achieve this, PCS will
need to be physically removed from the national emergency medical service and it is
worth noting that there may be legal and workforce issues to contend with if this
approach is taken.

Recommendation 2

Work should begin to disaggregate PCS from the EMS element of Welsh ambulance service
delivery, with PCS becoming a routine function of Local Health Boards’ (LHBs) business.

Consideration should be given to providing a form of national co-ordination to ensure the
resilience and benchmarking of effective PCS across Wales.

65

Page 182



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

NHS Direct Wales Should Continue to Provide Triage and Public Health Advice

NHSDW provides a 24 hour health advice and information telephone and web based
service in addition to a nurse led clinical triage service for calls to 999 categorised as
non-emergency nor urgent. The ‘triage’ and ‘public health advice’ are the principal
elements of NHSDW’s existing service.

Integration of NHSDW with EMS services enables a significant strategic advantage
for the delivery of integrated urgent and emergency care services.

Paramedics and NHSDW nursing staff can work together within multi-disciplinary
teams to provide patients with a wide range of clinical advice, guidance and
treatment. Further, the nursing workforce play a pivotal role in identification of
different needs of the public, provide evidence based support and information to
enable self care as a result of telephone consultation or web-based services.

There are various options in terms of where the functions of NHSDW should sit. The
Public Health “advice” function could be provided by a different organisation (for
example Public Health Wales) or could build upon LHB developments in providing
phone and web based advice.

However, there is emerging work regarding patient access to initial “telephone
triage” support which may involve the establishment and integration of the 111 non-
emergency number and Communications Hubs.

NHSDW and the services it offers are a core part of this emerging work and it would
not be appropriate to make recommendations on its function within this evolving
policy context.

It is important to note, though, that while the two main functional elements of
NHSDW can theoretically be disaggregated, they are part of an overarching,
integrated service and this presents challenges, particularly in terms of human
resources and how to best use the skills of these staff in the future.

Further, and similarly to the future options for the delivery of PCS, any changes to
the delivery of NHSDW functions are also dependent on the service delivery model
for EMS.

Recommendation 3

The future delivery model for NHS Direct Wales (NHSDW) should be further considered within
the context of the options for changes in structure and accountability for the ambulance
service. The wider context of the development of the 111 non-emergency number and other
advice services also needs be considered.

66

Page 183



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Funding and Accountability Arrangements Must Change

There are compelling arguments for change based on stakeholder feedback, the
available literature and analysis of a significant number of previous reviews, which
itself is symptomatic of a need for change.

The existing funding mechanism is complex, opaque and time consuming, and does
not allow Welsh ambulance services to match aims and objectives for their delivery.

Decisions are required about the future structure and model of ambulance service
delivery in Wales.

The complexity of funding arrangements is exacerbated by weak commissioning
arrangements with an apparent absence of service specification for national
ambulance standards which set out the quality of service required.

There is also no evidence of development of SLAs or frameworks for required
activity levels during any given financial year, resulting in a lack of direction to WAST
regarding the shape of current and future services at a commissioning level.

Further, the apparent absence of commissioning arrangements has hindered
accountability and governance structures.

Performance management arrangements also require fundamental improvement
under a more robust commissioning structure with evidence suggesting there have
been infrequent performance meetings held between WAST and WHSSC over the
past three years, with no evidence of a planned timetable in place for meetings
between the two organisations.

During the Review it has become clear that ‘doing nothing’ is not an option, with the
evidence identified suggesting there are real problems around accountability,

delivery and morale.

Any proposed structure should, therefore, be assessed against the following guiding
principles, and whether it will:

e Reflect current organisational responsibilities for the delivery of population
based services;

e Be based on and incentivise the delivery of a Clinical Model;
e Have simple and transparent accountability;

e Fit within delivery of a wider Unscheduled Care pathway;

Page 184

67



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Place the management of financial risk in the most appropriate place;

Fit with wider strategies within Health and Wellbeing in Wales;

Be resilient, nationally and locally;

Facilitate a local focus by working with local partnerships; and

Provide enough recognisable change from the current arrangements;
Recommendation 4

The fundamental problem with the non-alignment of current accountability,
funding and governance arrangements for ambulance services in Wales needs to

be addressed.

There are also deep rooted problems with WAST itself and issues also persist in
WAST’s relationship with partners. Both of these issues need to be addressed.

Page 185

68



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Options for Changing the Strategic Model for Welsh Emergency Medical Services

A number of strategic models capable of delivering a robust, clinical model for EMS
were considered, and three models have been identified as viable options.

International research suggests there is little evidence to support the merger of
emergency services (see page 33) and the number of disadvantages associated with
this strategic model outweighed advantages by some distance.

International research also suggests the general direction of travel is towards larger
organisations of ambulance services, and both the Scottish and Northern Ireland
ambulance services are nationally organised.

However, as previously alluded to, maintaining the current arrangements should not
be viewed as a viable option in view of the longstanding problems with funding,
accountability, governance and the culture within the organisation.

There are three distinct strategic models which would address these main challenges
and all models have advantages and disadvantages that need to be considered
against the guiding principles outlined on page 62.

OPTION 1: A “Special Health Board” Model

This model would involve retaining national service provision, delivered by a to-be-
established Special Health Board, that would be funded and performance managed
directly by the Welsh Government.

The Special Health Board could have a role in the process of national Government,
but would not act as a Government department or part of one, and which
accordingly operates to a greater or lesser extent at arm's length from Ministers.

In simple terms, this would mean ambulance services could be delivered by a
national or regional public body, carrying out its day-to-day functions independently
of Ministers, but for which Ministers are ultimately accountable.

This approach would see the dissolution of WAST in its current guise as a Trust and a
provider of health services on behalf of LHBs and the establishment of a Special
Health Board, a deliverer of services in its own right on a national basis with all the
equal and comparable organisational arrangements held by the Health Boards.

In theory there would be parity in negotiations and transactions similar to the
specialist tertiary services mechanisms currently in existence between LHBs for
services such as cardiac and neurological surgery.

Page 186

69



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

This would alter the current commissioner / provider relationship, and although
tertiary arrangements are not as mature as required it would represent a familiar
ground to both LHBs and a new Special Health Board.

Essentially this option would seek to place ambulance services on the same footing
as Health Boards with the same funding, performance and accountability
mechanisms and expectations.

Advantages

This model will retain a national organisation and will, therefore, be resilient
and flexible in terms of logistical delivery and redeployment of resources to
match changes in demand / situations.

The direct reporting to Welsh Government will provide simple and
transparent accountability that matches the way the funding is provided.

Current arrangements for call management, control rooms and deployment
would provide continuity of core services.

Retaining a national organisation will be relatively quick and straightforward
to implement.

Disadvantages

Whilst a national organisation might deliver logistical benefits, it is has
struggled to implement the change to a more clinically focused delivery
model. There is currently a strategic shift towards retaining accountability
for delivery of Health services within the NHS, and therefore placing
accountability with WG seems to go against this, and the management of the
financial risk would not be well-placed within WG.

Unscheduled care pathways are being developed locally, and a national
service may not have the local focus to be fully integrated within these.

Retaining a national service may not deliver sufficient change, both real and
perceived, in terms of improving working practices and culture, and the
extent to which the Review is seen as worthwhile.

A new Special Health Board would need to be created. WG don’t necessarily

have the planning and managing skills that would provide an effective
relationship with an ambulance service.

70

Page 187



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

OPTION 2: Commissioning Model

WAST is currently engaged as a provider with its partners and suppliers, although
the arrangements are fundamentally flawed. There are no tangible contracts or SLAs
in existence which ensure demand for services are understood, benchmarked and
planned as part of partnerships with WHSSC and Health Boards.

Further, the current arrangements are blurred with an apparent absence of
accountability for ensuring resources are matched to demand effectively, and there
are limited performance management arrangements in place to act as a
performance improvement enabler.

If the preferred model for the delivery of EMS is a commissioner/provider
relationship with LHBs it is essential that any new arrangement is different to what
has gone before thus ensuring effective use of resources that have a whole system
health economic benefit.

This will involve working together at the highest level within each organisation to
sustain and improve provision that meets the changing needs of both the population
and the health economy. This will require commissioners and the provider to engage
in regular, constructive performance discussions to ensure continuous service
improvements.

Effective commissioning will move the emphasis from spending on services to
investing in health and well-being outcomes. It is crucial that agreed objectives meet
the needs of the whole health economy and are developed within an environment
of clinical engagement.

Service delivery plans will need to be developed at an all Wales level in the first
instance but with the flexibility to deliver local needs. The local delivery plans must
work in conjunction with the national plan and have no detrimental impact to any
individual partner or the all Wales plan.

To facilitate the system benefits as outlined, the following process would need to be
in place:

e Agree service model for EMS and NHSDW with all commissioners;

e Sign-up to the principle of a clinical ambulance service able to deliver an
integral clinical service;

e Sign-up to LHB responsibility as both a commissioner and a provider;

e Agree a medium term service and financial framework that links to WG
standards and targets;

e Recognises the 7 LHB strategic needs assessment;

e Agree tolerances around handover delays and financial consequences; and

Page 188

71



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

e Commissioning must be directly with a LHB(s) as the current arrangement
with WHSSC has proved unsuccessful, in part because WHSSC is so far
removed from unscheduled care.

Figure 9 demonstrates the commissioning cycle required to optimise value for the
whole health economy.

Figure 11 Optimal Commissioning Cycle

ffanag=

porf i ace B

Surrer |
Prove s on

Cralilezns
Jtcomes

Agres
Srioritizs

This model would need to ensure that funding, accountability and performance
management are an integral part of the commissioning framework and various
combinations of commissioners may be considered further under this option at a
local, regional and national level.

Finally, implementing this option would mean WAST itself would no longer act as a
Trust as defined by the NHS (Wales) Act 2009. A new organisation would be formed
without accountabilities to government although retaining similar status to Trusts.
The new organisation would essentially act as a type of Executive Agency which will
remain within NHS Wales.

Advantages

= This model will have the benefits of delivering the service through a national
organisation with the added benefits of creating a local focus and would be
easiest to transition to.

= A strong commissioning framework will put in place simple and transparent
accountability that should drive forward improved delivery in terms of
performance and efficiencies.

= The local focus will fit with the development of Unscheduled Care pathways
and partnership working.

72

Page 189



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

= Financial risk would be appropriately managed within the NHS. Having a
stronger regional identity would highlight areas where performance needed
to improve.

= Greater consistency and fairness in patient access to emergency ambulance
services to Welsh patients.

= Better health outcomes for patients through empowering ambulance
services to deliver high quality, clinically-effective, evidence-based services
which deliver far more than a ‘scoop and run’ service for life threatened
patients.

= Greater efficiencies in the delivery of ambulance services through the
introduction of standardised frameworks and operating procedures.

Disadvantages

= There is currently a low supply of commissioning skills and experience within
Wales and restricted levers to ensure effective commissioning.

= Whilst a national organisation might deliver logistical benefits, it has
struggled to implement the change to a more clinically focused delivery
model.

=  There will potentially be increased transactional costs associated with the
commissioning process.

= There is currently a strategic shift towards retaining accountability for
delivery of health services within the NHS, and therefore placing
accountability with Welsh Government seems to go against this, and the
management of the financial risk would not be well-placed within Welsh
Government.

= Retaining a national service may not deliver sufficient change, both real and
perceived, in terms of improving working practices and culture, and the
extent to which the Review is seen as worthwhile.

Page 190



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

OPTION 3: Local Management and Delivery Model

This model would see the dissolution of WAST as a Trust and move EMS and PCS
services from an all-Wales delivery model and place responsibility for them with the
seven LHBs.

LHBs would have a statutory responsibility for planning, designing, developing and securing
EMS and PCS services in addition to their existing responsibilities for primary, community and
secondary care health services, including mental health and specialist tertiary services, for
their local populations. This would also include taking a strategic approach to developing
ambulance service workforce and estate matters.

The ambulance services provided by each LHB will need to meet local needs and be delivered
within the national policy and framework set out by the Minister for Health and Social
Services and the Welsh Government. This will include meeting the locally defined targets as
set out by the Welsh Government. Ambulance services would be provided on the same basis
as all other services as part of the routine funding and delivery functions of a LHB. A national
co-ordination mechanism will need to be established:

= to provide a platform for identifying and articulating local priorities, challenges and
best practice to eradicate any barriers that may be presented by cross border issues;

=  To determine research priorities, facilitate research work and use findings to inform
policy reform and new developments; and

= To mobilise financial and technical resources from all stakeholders and solicit their
support in implementation, monitoring and evaluation processes.

Advantages

= This would be a significant change, both real and perceived, in terms of the
way the ambulance service is delivered,

=  There would be complete local focus and integration with development of
unscheduled care pathways, through the clinical role that the ambulance
service would provide.

=  There would be no need for a separate Board, and all accountability would sit
with the LHB within their role of providing a health service to their local
population, and is therefore simple and transparent.

=  There would be reduced transactional costs and levers for change would be
consistent with those for the rest of the NHS Wales system.

= Perceived “competition” in terms of performance between LHBs may
improve overall performance.

74

Page 191



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

=  The ambulance workforce would be fully integrated within the LHB and
therefore perceived entrenched poor culture and working practises would be
dissipated.

= This model would facilitate better working with local partnerships and act as
a driver for greater involvement for ambulance services to be involved with
service development at a local level.

Disadvantages

=  WAST would need to be dissolved, and its workforce reallocated to LHBs.
This may have legal implications and would not be quick or straightforward
to implement.

=  There would be potentially reduced economies of scale or critical mass
across an ambulance service which may lead to poor resilience and non-
flexibility in terms of reallocating resources to suit delivery requirements,
and create cross boundary issues.

=  There would be potential for inconsistency in practice and delivery across
LHBs.

= Provision of call taking control rooms and despatch functions would need to
be fully examined to understand the implications in terms of both expertise
and cost.

= Responsibility for delivery of NHSDW functions would need to be considered
in the context of emerging work programmes, in regard to legality around
workforce changes and in regard to the triage function currently provided.

= The role and clinical skills of the ambulance service may not be clearly
understood by LHBs, particularly in relation to the skills, competences and
clinical scope of practice.

It is important to note that there are a range of organisational permutations for both option
2 and 3. These options, and their advantages and disadvantages would need to be
considered in more detail once a direction of travel has been determined.

Recommendation 5
Three main structural options should be considered for the future delivery of EMS:
‘Strategic Health Board’ Model, LHB Commissioning Model and the LHB Management and

Delivery Model. Options should be assessed against a series of core guiding principles to
ensure form follows function and a clear decision made on the future direction of travel.

75

Page 192



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

A Robust, Clinical Model Requires a Highly Skilled and Committed Specialist
Workforce

Fundamental changes are required to promote relevant training and education programmes
to better equip staff to provide an enhanced range of clinical services. Developing and
improving clinical competence among front line staff to allow increased treat and referral
rates are paramount to the development of a robust clinical model.

Frontline staff need to be up skilled to have the clinical confidence to reduce the number of
patients transported to hospital inappropriately, and ensure they are seen by the most
appropriate clinician or service for their needs.

The clinical development within WAST has advanced over recent years through the Advanced
Practitioner Paramedic (APP) role and the specialist care at a scene or at a patient’s home it
offers.

However, it has been difficult to attract candidates to study for the qualification and more
needs to be done to design and deliver educational and training programmes in collaboration
with higher education organisations.

Recommendation 6

Robust workforce planning should be put in place to deliver an up skilled and modernised
EMS workforce enabling greater levels of autonomy and clinical decision making. This
should be developed in partnership with the NHS, Higher Education Institutions and
Regulatory Organisations.

Recommendation 7

Care Pathways and protocols should be further developed across the unscheduled care
system to allow patients to be treated at the right time and in the right place and reduce
unnecessary pressure on A&E. There are considerable benefits associated with alternative
care pathways not least for patients and all parties should work together to accelerate their
development as a priority.

76

Page 193



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Performance Measures Need to Go Beyond Speed Based Targets

A case can be made for a new all-Wales target for the time taken for an ambulance
response in cases where a patient needs transport. There is no clinical evidence to
suggest an eight minute response makes any difference to the outcome of the
patient in all circumstances.

Further, the current target for 60/65% of responses means that there is an
“allowable” 40/35% tolerance to responses that are outside of this target (not taking
into account appropriateness of response). It is also important to understand the
factors influencing performance against time targets, for instance rurality, and other
influences within the unscheduled care system.

However, setting different targets by LHB is not tenable because of operational
considerations, unless such targets are constructed on an all-Wales basis and reflect
the logistical issues in responding to rural as opposed to urban areas (e.g. Scotland
differentiates targets by LHB density).

There is evidence that a quicker response can make a big difference to patients with
acute clinical conditions such as cardiac, stroke and trauma although future
measures should also relate to the outcome of the patient’s care. International
evidence suggests early access to emergency care for patients who have suffered
cardiac arrest, known as the ‘Chain of Survival’, increases opportunity for survival.

The American Heart Association suggests that each of the following four links must
be put into motion within the first few minutes of cardiac arrest to provide the best
opportunity for survival

= Early Access to Emergency Care must be provided by calling 999;

= Early CPR should be started and maintained until EMS arrive; and

= Early Defibrillation is the only one that can re-start the heart function of a
person with ventricular fibrillation (VF). If an automated external defibrillator
(AED) is available, a trained operator should administer defibrillation as
quickly as possible until EMS personnel arrive.

For the Chain to be effective, quick execution of each and every link is critical. With
each minute that passes, the likelihood of survival decreases 7-10%.

WAST has set itself an internal target of reaching 52% of patients categorised as
having suffered cardiac arrest with a defibrillator within four minutes. However,
performance against this internal target has at times deteriorated to as low as 25%.
Consideration should be given to supplementing a cardiac target with further in-
hospital and post-hospital measures to reflect the whole patient pathway and
provide essential patient outcome information.

Page 194

77



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Further work should also be carried out on developing a suite of appropriate
measures that are outcome-focused and reflect the clinical vision for ambulance
services in Wales. This reflects the international direction of travel for measuring the
quality of ambulance service delivery. Time critical conditions such as stroke and
fractured neck of femur should be considered for pathway long outcome measures
using 1000 Lives plus methodology.

There is an opportunity to include incentive based targets —i.e. targets designed to
act as a lever to incentivise secondary solutions, which act to improve performance
across the system - such as a target around the proportion of ambulance responses
that result in patients being transported to A&E.

A non-conveyance rate target would encourage cross unscheduled care organisation
exploration of alternative pathways for more appropriate treatment to callers
needs. It may also increase use of on-scene assessment in place of automatic
conveyance to Emergency Departments.

Recommendation 8

The Welsh Government should consider moving from a primary focus on the eight minute
response time standard to a more intelligent suite of targets and standards which work
across the whole unscheduled care system. This should include a greater emphasis on
patient outcomes and experience. The Welsh Government’s recently formed Measures
Group could provide an opportunity to establish this suite of measures recognising the co-
dependencies across the system.

Recommendation 9

Consideration should be given to developing speed based standards in areas where the
clinical evidence demonstrates a clear impact on outcomes for example in formalising the
standard for four minute responses to calls categorised as cardiac arrest and publishing it
on a monthly basis to encourage improvement. Consideration should be given to
developing a wider threshold analysis of the eight minute target.

Recommendation 10

Consideration should be given to introducing incentive based targets for example a non-
conveyance or appropriate rate target to incentivise greater development and use of
alternative pathways and reduction in inappropriate conveyance of patients to A&E.

Recommendation 11

More joined up and granular data is required across the patient journey through primary,
community, acute and social care. This could also be taken forward by the Welsh
Government Measures Group.

Page 195

78



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Next Steps: Achieving the Vision

The scale of the challenges facing NHS Wales and the Welsh Government to create a high
quality and robust clinical model for EMS in Wales will take time but is achievable. Embedding
ambulance services as an integral part of the whole unscheduled care system will require
clearly defined funding, accountability and governance lines, aligned with improved planning
at a local and national level.

Further, considerations need to be made about the future role of PCS, whether it fits with any
changes to the way EMS are delivered and whether they should become a routine function of
Health Boards delivery of services.

It is important for the Minister to make a decision on the future strategic and structural route
map for ambulance services to address the fundamental issues.

Making a timely decision is important, as is the involvement of key stakeholders in co-creating
the details of the direction of travel. Once a decision is made about the future strategic and
structural model for ambulance services, all stakeholders must work together and act quickly
to agree how the vision can be achieve, to re-shape pre-hospital care and move towards
enabling the delivery of high quality ambulance services in Wales.

It is likely that a work programme will need to be put in place immediately to shape the
changes required to deliver the changes in structure and this will require robust management
and clear timescales to ensure the pace of change is maintained and the desired
improvements are achieved as quickly as possible.

Any decisions made about the strategic and structural delivery of ambulance services may
result in a period of consultation and discussions about legal issues. A sub group of the
National Urgent and Emergency Care Board may need to be established to oversee the
implementation of a new strategic model, to consult on the Review findings and implement
an associated action plan.

It is imperative that resilient, well defined and agreed arrangements are put in place to
ensure continuity of clinically safe ambulance services during any transitional period. LHBs
and WAST will need to show strong leadership at all levels and Welsh Government will need
to clearly define its expectations of organisations and services throughout this period.

Recommendation 12
Consideration should be given to making a clear decision on the future structural model

accompanied by a robust time-bound work plan for taking that forward. This should be
taken forward and co-created with key stakeholders.

79

Page 196



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Conclusion

Ultimately, there are three components which need to be addressed to deliver high quality
ambulance services.

Agreeing a clear vision for ambulance services is fundamental. Future developments resulting
from this Review, including how services are planned, delivered and funded should flow from
this vision. EMS should be a clinical service that is embedded within the wider unscheduled
care system and delivered by staff with the appropriate clinical skills.

To deliver the vision, the most suitable structural model for ambulance services in Wales
needs to be determined. While there is no ‘magic bullet’ that will resolve the current funding
and accountability challenges, consideration should be given should be given to how best to
develop the structural model, working with key stakeholders. These new arrangements
should then be allowed to mature

Finally, ambulance services need to play a key role in the shaping of future models of service

delivery, and it is vital that they are considered as part of the wider context of any plans for
service change for NHS Wales.

80

Page 197



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Appendix 1 — Terms of Reference

A Review of Welsh Ambulance Services
Terms of Reference
1. Background
1.1 On 7 November 2012 | announced my intention to commission a
comprehensive review of the Welsh Ambulance Services Trust (WAST). This
review will make recommendations to enable high quality, sustainable
ambulance services.
2. Current position
2.1 The Welsh Ambulance Services Trust provides a national service for both
emergency responses and non-emergency patient transport, and is responsible
for the services provided by NHS Direct Wales.
2.2 The Trust is funded by Local Health Boards (LHBs) via the Welsh Health
Specialised Service Committee (WHSSC) who agree service requirements for
LHB areas. It is formally accountable for the delivery of services to the Welsh
Government.
3. Areas of Focus within the Review

3.1 Relationships with Local Health Boards

The review will appraise the current arrangements whereby Health Boards,
through WHSSC, provide funding to WAST to ensure Welsh Government

standards and targets are met. The effectiveness of these arrangements will be assessed as

will possible alternative funding models.
3.2 Organisational Structure

The review will appraise the current arrangements — an all Wales organisation
providing all aspects of Ambulance Services and NHS Direct Wales. It will
consider and assess alternative structural models. These options will take
account of a number of factors including:

= Geography;
= Relationship between emergency and non-emergency services;
= Position of NHS Direct Wales; and

= Relationship with relevant NHS services provided by NHS Health Boards.

Page 198

81



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

3.3 Performance

It is assumed the Trust will continue to be accountable to the Welsh

Government for its performance. The review will appraise the current

Standards and targets which apply to the Ambulance Service and consider options for
improvement.

4. Process
4.1 The Review will:

= Consider relevant previous external and internal reviews of the Welsh Ambulance
Service Trust;

= Engage extensively with WAST staff;

=  Engage with LHBs;

= Engage with relevant stakeholders; and

= Take account of relevant good practice in other health systems

5. Timeframes

5.1 It is intended the initial report will be completed within ten weeks and start in January
2013.

6. Chair Person

6.1 The review will be Chaired by Professor Siobhan McClelland. Professor
McClelland is a respected academic with a strong interest in health matters in
Wales.

7. Welsh Government Role

7.1 Welsh Government officials will facilitate and support Professor McClelland
during the course of the review by:

= Providing supporting materials and background information;

= Providing contact details for stakeholders to be contacted during the

scoping phase;

= QOrganising meetings as appropriate; and

= QOrganising the presentation of the results to the Minister, Welsh

= Government officials and key stakeholders;

7.2 Full details will be agreed with Professor McClelland prior to the beginning of the review.

8. Outputs

82

Page 199



A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

8.1 The Report will be provided to the Minister for Health and Social Services and will make
recommendations relating to the areas of focus in 3 above.

Page 200

83



TOg abed

Appendix 2 - List of Previous Reviews and Other Reference Documents

Doc Number Review Title/Date Owner
1 Ambulance Services in Wales Review / 2006 WAO
2 Special Assurance Review / 2007 HIW
3 Review of WAST’s Emergency response Service / May 2008 WAST CHAIR
4 Follow up Review — Ambulance Services in Wales / 24 June 2008 WAO
5 Ambulance Services in Wales — WAO Further Update to NAWAC / October 2008 NAWAC
6 Unscheduled Care — Patient Handovers at Hospital Emergency Departments / April 2009 WAO
7 NAW, Audit Committee, Ambulance Services in Wales Inquiry / July 2009 NAWAC
8 Lightfoot Efficiency Review / 2009 WAST/HCW
9 Procurement Review: Tender 0212 (Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust) / January 2012 WAO
10.1 ORH Reviews (2 separate reviews) / 01 November 2012 Review of Control ORH / WAST




20z abed

A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Doc Number Review Title/Date Owner
10.2 Operational and Capacity review / 01 November 2012 ORH / WAST
11 NHS Direct Wales / 15 September 2009 WAO
12 The Griffiths” Review — Non Emergency Patient Transport in Wales — April 2010 Win Griffiths
Chair
ABMULHB

85




Appendix 3 — References Section

WAST Annual Report 2011/12 (2012)

NHS in Wales - Why We Are Changing the Structure (2009)
Together for Health (2012)

Designed to Improve Health and the Management of Chronic Conditions in Wales: An
Integrated Model and Framework (2011)

Delivering Emergency Care Services (DECS) Strategy (2008)
Terms of Reference, Unscheduled Care Programme Board (2010)
Unscheduled Care: a Whole Systems Approach (2009)

Emergency Services Review: A comparative review of international Ambulance
Service best practice (2009)

Department of Health ‘Taking Healthcare to the Patient (2005)

National Ambulance Commissioners Group/NHS Confederation Briefing November
(2012)

Transforming NHS Ambulance Services (2009)

Delivering safe, effective, person centred care: Scottish Ambulance Services Annual
Report and Accounts 2011/12 (2012)

Working Together for Better Patient Care 2010-15 (2010)

NHS (Wales) Act 2009

Page 203



Appendix 4 - List of Stakeholders

Name Role Organisation
Elwyn Price-Morris CEO WAST
Stuart Fletcher Chair WAST
Director of Strategy, Planning and WAST
Performance
Sara Jones Nurse Director & Assistant Nurse WAST
Aileen Evans Director
Medical & Clinical Services
Directorate
Central & West Region
Paul Hughes Medical Director WAST
Sue Jenkins Director of Service WAST
Carl James Director of Strategy and Delivery WAST
David Sissling Chief Executive NHS / Director Welsh Government
General , Department of Health and
Social Services
Kevin Flynn Director of Delivery, Department of | Welsh Government

Health and Social Services

Andrew Goodall

Chief Executive

Aneurin Bevan HB

Paul Roberts

Chief Executive

Abertawe Bro Morgan
UHB

Mary Burrows

Chief Executive

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB

Adam Cairns

Chief Executive

Cardiff & Vale UHB

Allison Williams Chief Executive Cwm Taf HB
Trevor Purt Chief Executive Hywel Dda HB
Andrew Cotto Interim Chief Exec Powys tHB

Simon Dean

Chief Executive

Velindre NHS Trust

Page 204




A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Name Role Organisation
Dr Alan Willson Director of Research NLIAH
and Development and Joint
Director
Bob Hudson Chief Executive Public Health Wales NHS
Trust
Susan Thompson Project Lead Non Emergency Patient
Transport Pilot Projects /
Griffiths Review
Chair Wellbeing Best Practice
Jan Williams & Innovation Board
(sponsored by PHW)
Stuart Davies Head WHSCC
Dan Phillips WHSCC
Stephen Harrhy WHSCC
Dr Chris Jones Chair Cwm Taf
Andy Richards Regional Campaigns & UNITE

Communications Co-ordinator

Unite the Union, 19 High
St, Swansea SA1 1LF

Dawn Bowden
Darren Dupre

Head of Health Cymru

Health Cymru (UNISON)

RCN Wales

Ty Maeth, King George V

Drive East
Cardiff CF14 4XZ

Dr Richard Lewis

Welsh Secretary of BMA Cymru
Wales

BMA

Adrian Hughes

Chief Executive

Retained Firefighters

Union
Darren Millar Health Lead Conservative
Elin Jones Health Lead Plaid Cymru
Kirsty Williams Health Lead Liberal Democrates
Mark Drakeford Health Lead Labour

Peter Bradley,

Chief Executive,
St. Johns, New Zealand

UK Ambulance expert

and advisor to UK
government

Pauline Howie,

Chief Executive

Scottish Ambulance

Service

lan Williamson

Julie Mcllroy

Dep. Performance Manager:

Health Dept, Scottish

Government

88

Page 205




A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Name

Role

Organisation

Liam Mclvor,

Chief Executive

Northern Ireland
Ambulance Service

Anthony Marsh

West Midlands
Ambulance Trust

Professor Matthew Cooke

DH Advisor

Robert Morton

National Ambulance
Service, Ireland (Based in
Kildare, Mid-Ireland)

Anthony Marsh

Chairman and Chief Executive of
West Midlands Ambulance Service
NHS Trust

- West Midlands
Ambulance Service NHS
Trust

Della Cannings QPM

Director and
Chair of Yorkshire Ambulance
Service NHS Trust

- Yorkshire Ambulance
Service NHS Trust

Michael Dinan

Director and Director of Finance of
London Ambulance Service NHS
Trust

- London Ambulance -
Service NHS Trust

Ken Wenman

Director and Chief Executive at
South Western Ambulance Service
NHS FT and Interim Chief Executive
at Great Western Ambulance
Service NHS Trust

- Great Western
Ambulance Service NHS
Trust

Hayden Newton

Director and Chief Executive at East
of England Ambulance Service NHS
Trust

- East of England
Ambulance Service NHS
Trust

Steve Irving

Temporary Lead and Executive Staff
Officer of

London Ambulance Service NHS
Trust

- London Ambulance
Service NHS Trust

Martyn Salter Finance Manager at AACE - AACE

Louise Wilson Programme Manager at AACE - AACE

Helen Medlock, Chair Ambulance
Commissioning Group

89

Page 206




A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

(based in Kent)

Name

Role

Organisation

Steve Thomas CBE, CE

WLGA

Gabe Conlan and Phil Evans

Social Services

Stephen Allen

Cardiff and Vale of
Glamorgan Community
Health Council

Richard Smith Mid and West Wales Fire

Huw Jakeway Fire & Rescue Service, South Wales | Fire

Simon Smith, North Wales, Fire

Jackie Roberts, Chief Constable, Dyfed Powys Police | Police
& Chair JESG

Mark Polin Chief Constable - N Wales Police Police

Carol Lamyman-Davies CHCs

Andrea Matthews

Sir Paul Williams OBE, DL

Trustee

WRVS - Women's Royal
Voluntary Service

Graham Benefield

Welsh Voluntary Council
in Wales

David Heyburn

Manager, Welsh Renal Clinical
Network

Renal Network

Angela Hughes

Chief Executive

Welsh Air Ambulance

Peter Hollins

Chief Executive

British Heart Foundation

Keith Dunn

Chief Executive

St John

Peter Thomas

Aneurin Bevan HB

Medical clinician

Grant Robinson

Aneurin Bevan HB

Medical clinician

Mark Poulden

Abertawe Bro Morgan UHB

Medical clinician

Dr Sarah Spencer

Abertawe Bro Morgan UHB

Medical clinician

Aruni Sen

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB

Medical clinician

90

Page 207




A Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

Nigel Davies

Senior Service Manager

British Red Cross

Name

Role

Organisation

Charlotte Jones

Deputy Chair

General Practitioners
Group

Brian Foley

Adviser

Community First
Responder, Barry
(Jane Hutt's
Constituency)

Dr Pauline Griffiths

College of Human &
Health Sciences

Frank Mansell

Patient Safety

NLIAH

Kate Chamberlain

HIW

Dave Thomas

Director of Health & Social Care

Wales Audit Office

Emma Logan

First Responder based at
Welsh Government
Office, Llandudno
Junction

Donna Mead

University of South
Wales

91

Page 208




Agenda ltem 5.12

P-04-451 : Save the Royal Glamorgan Hospital Services.

Petition wording:

We call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to
save our health services at the Royal Glamorgan Hospital

A decision is being made by that, if implemented, this will result in the loss
of some paediatric, obstetric, neonatal, and accident and emergency care.
Put simply, if you require intensive care, have a very sick child or are likely to
have a pregnancy that is not straight forward you will have to travel to
Cardiff, Merthyr, or Bridgend. For RCT residents reliant on public
transportation, this could result in travel times in excess of 2 hours to attend
vital appointments. We the undersigned residents of Rhondda Cynon Taff
strongly support option 5.2 under the proposals outlined in the consultation
document for the reconfiguration of health services, "Matching the Best in
the World - Challenges facing Hospital Services in South Wales. "We further
support the retention and development of the Royal Glamorgan Hospital
facilities and services to ensure the people of Rhondda Cynon Taff can
receive and access the services they deserve within these Count Boundaries.

Petition raised by: Clir Mark Adams

Date petition first considered by Committee: 29 January 2013

Number of signatures: 1077

Page 209



~

C -,':/

~

Your ref/eich cyf:

G IG Bwrdd lechyd Our ref/ein cyf: AW/KB
N H S

0" Cwm Taf Date/Dyddiad: 19 April 2013
Fax/ffacs:
Email/ebost: Allison.Williams4@wales.nhs.uk
Dept/adran: Chief Executive

William Powell AM

National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1NA

Dear William,

| refer to your letter dated 8 April 2013 regarding the petition linked to service
reconfiguration within Cwm Taf and confirm that this has already been
considered as part of the response to the engagement phase of the process
and that it will also be considered as part of the final consultation.

Yours sincerely

\ M@Mxm

Mrs Allison Williams
Chief Executive/Prif Weithredydd
Cwm Taf Health Board/ Bwrdd lechyd Cwm Taf

Page 210

L//)/



Agenda Item 5.13

P-04-456 Dementia - This Could Happen to you

Petition wording:

We, the undersigned, call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the
Welsh Government to:

i. Bring to an end the discrimination against dementia sufferers in Wales who
apply for N.H.S. Continuing Care Funding, by allowing for the cognition
category of need (known as the domain ) to go up to the level Severe in
the Welsh version of the Decision Support Tool. This would bring it in line
with the English version; and

ii. Direct Local Health Boards to implement the National Framework for
N.H.S., Continuing Care Funding correctly in terms of patient eligibility and
without regard to budgetary constraints.

Petition raised by: Helen Jones

Date petition first considered by Committee: 19 February 2013

Number of signatures: 1413

Page 211



Lesley Griffiths AC / AM A\./ (ﬁ

Y Gweinidog lechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol .
Minister for Health and Social Services _ ,JI,\A

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-456
Ein cyf/Our ref LG/00995/13

William Powell AM
Chair
Petitions Committee

Naomi. stocks@wales.gov.uk D)
[ ) March 2013

AL OUUA
Thank you for your letter of 27 February following a petition from Helen Jones regarding the
provision for Dementia sufferers in Wales.

The responsibilities of Health Boards regarding Continuing NHS Healthcare are set out in
the 2010 National Framework for Implementation in Wales. This Framework sets out the
requirements to undertake assessments in a timely manner. It is designed to ensure the
individual and their family/carers are appropriately engaged in the process, with their views
properly captured and considered.

The Decision Support Tool (DST), although not an assessment in itself, captures and
collates information from a range of assessments into one document to support decision
making. It outlines the levels of care within each domain to reflect a range of needs. The
DST also records information not captured anywhere in the document, such as the advice
and views of a person’s family and those staff in assessing individuals. Although not all
domains have a severe or priority level, the levels set out in the DST provide sufficient
information to capture a comprehensive picture of a person’s needs.

| recognise, however, arrangements to determine and provide CHC need to be effective.
The Wales Audit Office (WAO) is currently finalising its national study relating to the present
arrangements. As part of this work it will consider the effectiveness of the DST as well as
the CHC National Programme, the 2010 National Framework and the systems which
support them (including the training of staff). The WAO is due to publish the findings of its
study in the near future. Its report will contain recommendations for Welsh Ministers as well
as for Health Boards and Local Authorities. As part of this process my officials are engaged
with the WAO to discuss high level issues as they emerge. | understand the WAQ is aware
of concerns raised in relation to the DST and is, as part of its study, considering its
appropriateness.

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydd « Cardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
CF99 1NA Correspondence. lesley. Griffiths@wales.gsi.gov. uk

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi'i ailgylchu (1p9§)ge 212 Printed on 100% recycled paper



| have my own commitment to undertake a review of the CHC Framework and to address
outstanding issues related to it. This review will follow the publication of the WAQO's findings
to allow any relevant recommendations made from it to be considered.

I| ]

I, \ [ \. '?.
L- \ ) g - II|’.'
Lesley Griffiths AC / AM
Y Gweinidog lechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol
Minister for Health and Social Services

Page 213



Alzheimer’s Society Leading the

o 9. | fight against
Devon House Alzheimer’s | ementia
58 St Katherine’s Way .
London Society
E1W 1JX

T 020 7423 3683
F 020 7423 3501

28" March 2013

Dear Sir/Madam

Thank you for your letter requesting our views on the petition received from Helen Jones.
Alzheimer’s Society strongly supports the recommendations within Helen Jones’ petition.
People with dementia have experienced particular difficulties trying to obtain NHS Continuing
Care funding (NHS CC). The artificial distinction made between care provided by the NHS
(free of charge) and social care arranged by social services (means tested) is at the heart of
the problem. We would like to submit the following comments:

1. “Bring to an end the discrimination against dementia sufferers in Wales who apply
for NHS Continuing Care Funding, by allowing for the cognition category of need
(known as the domain) to go up to the level Severe in the Welsh version of Decision
Support Tool. This would bring it in line with the English version.”

The purpose of an NHS Continuing Care assessment is to determine whether a person has a
‘primary health need’ and therefore whether the NHS is legally obliged to fund care to meet
that need. The decision support tool supports this assessment and should ensure consistent
decision making.

A person has a primary health need if the nursing or health services they require are “more
than incidental or ancillary to the provision of accommodation which a social services authority
is, or would be but for a person’s means, under a duty to provide; or “Of a nature beyond
which a social services authority whose primary responsibility is to provide social services
could be expected to provide.”

A 2010 WAG circular on CHC urges the following to be key factors in determining whether
care is beyond the power of a local authority to provide: nature (physical / mental /
psychological), intensity (extent and severity), complexity and unpredictability of the
condition.

The Decision Support Tool portrays need are based on 12 care domains which are each
subdivided into statements of need which represent: no needs, low, moderate, high severe or
priority levels of need. Not all of the care domains include all these levels.

A multidisciplinary team carrying out the assessment should consider which description of
need for each domain best represents the individual. Once the DST is completed, the MDT

Foundedin 1979 gs the Alzheimer s Disease Seciety. Royal Patron: HRH Princess Alexandra, The Hon Lady Ogilvy KG GCVO, President Emeritus: Sir Jonathan Miller CBE,

S s Ao i e R A S L L K AT R s

(EH/ML/018/1 0) y 2010



should consider the overall level of need and the interaction between needs in different care
domains, bearing in mind the four factors described above. It is the totality of a person’s day to
day care needs that determine whether they have a primary health need.

In the Welsh DST the highest rating in the cognition domain is ‘high’. It does not include a
severe level. This domain is problematic for two reasons.

Firstly, Alzheimer’s Society believes that the descriptive terms used within the ‘high’ band do
not capture the severity of need or level of risk experienced by a person with very severe
dementia. For example a person who scores ‘high’ is judged to have “awareness of only a
limited range of needs and basic risks.” While everyone experiences dementia differently, a
person who is very severely cognitively impaired may have no awareness at all of need and
basic risks. They may be completely incapacitated. This is not captured within the descriptive
terms within the ‘high’ band. Because the Welsh DST is not able to capture the full range of
the need of someone with dementia we believe it cannot effectively inform NHS CC
assessments.

Secondly, having only a ‘high’ band within the cognition domain suggests that cognitive
impairment does not contribute significantly to a person’s overall health need. This tips the
balance within the Welsh DST towards the physical aspects of healthcare. A very high level of
impairment of the mental processes of the brain, including thinking, judgement, etc., clearly
presents a severe and complex need in itself. In addition, the interaction of severe cognitive
impairment with other health needs (as commonly experienced by the elderly) will often result
in a very challenging set of needs. However, with only ‘high’ level of needs available within the
domain for the assessor to consider makes it more difficult for someone with a primary health
need due to dementia to obtain NHS CC funding than it would for someone with a health need
arising from a physical condition.

In contrast the English Decision Support Tool contains a ‘severe’ band within the cognition
domain. The descriptive terms better capture the extent of cognitive impairment in an
individual with severe dementia:

“The individual is unable to assess basic risks even with supervision, prompting or assistance,
and is dependent on others to anticipate their basic needs and to protect them from harm,
neglect or health deterioration.”

The English DST therefore is much better able to capture the needs of a person with dementia
and provides a better balance between mental and physical health needs. It is much better
placed to assist a fair and effective assessment. We fear that in Wales people with very
severe dementia are denied the funding that is their right and local authorities are providing
care that is beyond their power to provide because the tool is not able to assess their level of
need.

Alzheimer’s Society urges the Welsh Assembly Government to end the discrimination faced
by people with dementia in Wales by including a ‘severe’ band within the cognition domain.

Page 215



2. Direct Local Health Boards to implement the National Framework for N.H.S
continuing Care Funding correctly in terms of patient eligibility and without regard to
budgetary constraints.

The Alzheimer’s Society NHS Continuing Care Volunteer Support Group offers direct support
to people who wish to appeal when someone with dementia has been turned down for NHS
Continuing Care funding. The volunteers have personal experience of appealing an NHS
Continuing Healthcare cases for their own family members and are passionate about helping
others that are in similar situations to them.

Through their work the Volunteer Support Group collect evidence of problems with the
implementation of NHS Continuing Care policy within Wales. It is their experience that it is
becoming increasingly difficult to obtain NHS Continuing Care funding and thresholds for
eligibility are being gradually raised without statutory authority, i.e. the benchmark standard
provided by the Coughlan case is being ignored. There are also frequent problems with the
implementation of the Framework, for example a failure to provide family members with advice
in relation to the process as required by the Framework and as a consequence they are
unable to make a meaningful contribution to the assessment process. The Welsh
Ombudsman has noted cases where no reasons were provided to families, and no minutes
were available to document the reasoning behind the decisions of LHB panels.

We recognise the current financial situation, but it is important that individuals are awarded the
funding and support that is their right. The appeal process is incredibly complex and stressful,
and can be very emotionally challenging, usually for people who also have the substantial
burden of caring for someone in the later states of dementia. NHS Continuing Care
assessments that follow the Framework correctly would help to avoid this stress and also the
need to direct resources towards appeals.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you would like any further information. | look forward to
learning the outcome of the Committee’s discussions.

Yours sincerely

Samantha Sharp
Senior Policy Officer

Page 216



Agenda Item 5.14

P-04-458 Keep Further Education in the Public Sector

Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government
to ensure:

1. Further education, along with publicly funded assets, is retained within
the public sector.

2. Colleges continue to be bound by the national agreements in FE, such as
the national pay scales.

3. The introduction of an all-Wales contract for FE lecturers.

4. Welsh Ministers do not dissolve colleges and give colleges the ability to
transfer the property, rights and liabilities to another body.

Petition raised by: UCU Crosskeys Branch
Date petition first considered by Committee: 19 February 2013

Number of signatures: 246

Page 217



Leighton Andrews AC / AM A\/ (f?

Y Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau o
Minister for Education and Skills »J)

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-458
Ein cyf/Our ref LA/01201/13

William Powell AM

Naomi.stocks@wales.gov.uk
Noor W Mg

Thank you for you letter of 24 April regarding my response of 12 March in relation to the
petition from the UCU Crosskeys branch highlighting their concerns with the proposals
outlined in the Further and Higher Education (Wales) Bill 2013.

£ May 2013

The Further and Higher Education (Governance and Information) (Wales) Bill 2013, which |
introduced to the National Assembly for Wales on 30 April will give the governing bodies of
further education corporations the power to dissolve the corporation. This power, however,
will be regulated to protect publicly funded assets.

In the 2014/15 academic year | propose to consult on secondary legislation that will regulate
the transfer of a corporation’s rights and assets on dissolution by specifying the type of
persons or bodies to whom a corporation can transfer their assets. Assets transferred will
also have to be used for charitable purposes which are exclusively for educational
purposes. To reiterate what | said in my introductory statement to Assembly Members on 30
April, | expect colleges to continue to take responsibility to ensure that they not only fulfil,
but exceed the expectations and aspirations of their wide ranging customers. Our objective
is to build a Wales that gives our young people the very chances in life that is at the heart of
the Welsh Government's vision.

There is no policy intention in Wales to establish Academies and privately-run institutions.

S /L}C-:;,u/*ﬂ o CL’\{UJ‘j \

Leighton Andrews AC / AM
Y Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau
Minister for Education and Skills

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydd » Cardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
CF99 1NA Correspondence. Leighton. Andrews@wales. gsi.gov.uk

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (1 Printed on 100% recycled paper
ge 218



P-04-458 Keep Further Education in the Public Sector- Correspondence from
the petitioner to the Chair, 20.05.13

UCU Crosskeys Branch would like to submit the following points for consideration by the Petitions
Committee:

1)

3)

The Minister’s letter states there are no plans for Academies and privately-run institutions in
Wales. If governing bodies are given the power to dissolve the corporation and transfer a
corporation’s rights and assets to a person or bodies, to whom could these responsibilities
and assets be transferred to if the Minister has already ruled out privately-run institutions in
his letter dated 8" May?

The Minister has not explained why it might be necessary for a FEI to dissolve itself, and the
power to transfer its property, rights and liabilities to another body. Providing examples,
what situations might this be necessary?

In the Bill’s Explanatory Memorandum a cost benefit analysis is provided. For Option 3:
Introduce an Assembly Bill it outlines the risks on page 24, stating “That the legislation does
not give the ONS Classification Committee the assurances needed that key steps have taken
place to increase the autonomy of FE colleges and the reversal of the public sector
categorisation for national account purposes fails.” 1t is possible the Minister could be
pressing ahead with this Bill that would not resolve the ONS classification issue.

Can the Minister confirm if he has consulted the Welsh Labour National Policy Forum on this
Bill, given it goes against the commitments outlined in the 2011 Welsh Labour National
Assembly for Wales election manifesto?

We would be grateful if the Petitions Committee would consider asking the Minister to clarify these
above questions.

Yours truly

UCU Crosskeys Branch

Page 219



Agenda Iltem 5.15

P-03-240 Improvements to the A40 in Llanddewi Velfrey

Petition Wording

Due to the increasing levels of traffic, especially heavy goods
vehicles, on the A40 and due to the inadequate provision of safe
pavements and pedestrian crossings acknowledged by the Trunk
Road Agency through research on behalf of the Welsh Assembly
Government we, the undersigned, hereby demand the Welsh
Assembly Government, as a matter of urgency, improve road safety
in the village of Llanddewi Velfrey, Narberth, Pembrokeshire
through implementation of the following measures:

1. Improve the inadequate pavement along the southern side of the
A40 between Llandaff Row and the far eastern end of the village
to ensure that it meets current safety standards, that it is
sufficiently wide for the safe use of pedestrians, pushchairs and
wheel chair users taking into consideration the proximity of
heavy goods traffic passing by at speeds often in excess of the
current limit of 40mph.

2. Install speed cameras at the eastern and western ends of the
village.

3. Utilise the existing electrical installation for road crossing signs
to provide flashing warning lights at times when children will be
crossing the A40 to catch their school bus.

4. Install traffic calming measures at each end of the village and at
road junctions to emphasise the need to reduce speed.

5. Reduce the speed limit to 30mph.

Petition raised by: Llanddewi Velfrey Community Council
Date petition first considered by Committee: September 2009

Number of signatures: 154

Page 220



Edwina Hart MBE OStJ AC / AM -3‘( f?
Gweinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth a Thrafnidiaeth A&/ \?

Minister for Economy, Science and Transport &)

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref P-03-240
Ein cyf/Our ref EH/00820/13

William Powell AM
Chair of Petition Committee

committeebusiness@VWales.gsi.gov.uk

Ol May 2013

Dear William,

Thank you for your letter of 8 April regarding safety improvements to the A40
trunk toad at Llandewi Velfrey.

I am happy to confirm that the bid for safety improvements at Llandewi Velfrey
was successful and money has been allocated in the 2013/14 programme.

The works are likely to be completed by the end of November this year and will
include an upgrade of 40mph repeater signs and gateway enhancements at
either end of the village.

EEer—

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300

Caerdydd « Cardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
CF99 INA Correspondence.edwina.Hart@Wales. gsi.gov.uk

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100 Printed on 100% recycled paper
age 221 P



P-03-240 Road safety on the A40 in Llanddewi Velfrey - Correspondence
from the petitioner to the Chair, 24.05.2013

William Powell AM

Chairman of Petitions Committee
Welsh Government

Cardiff Bay

CF99 1NA

24™ May 2013

Dear Mr Powell

Ref: Petition P-03-240 safety improvements to A40 in Llanddewi Velfrey

We have been pleased to hear that there has been some acknowledgement of problems in
Llanddewi Velfrey and that money has been allocated in 2013-14 to begin improvements.
The minister has promised improved signage and ‘gateway enhancements’ that we hope will
be linked to rigorous enforcement of the speed limits to ensure they are effective. Further
clarification of these ‘gateway enhancements’ would also be useful.

We welcome these first moves and thank the Petitions Committee for their continued support
while remaining convinced that additional measures are still required to safeguard local
residents i.e. improvements to inadequate pavements and crossing. As previously stated
traffic surveys show that the average speed of vehicles passing through the village is on, or
just below the speed limit. This will understandably lead decision makers to conclude there is
very little problem. However in making the calculations it is normal practice to remove the
top 15% giving a totally unrealistic picture. So if we are told that the average speed is 39mph
then_15% of vehicles are travelling above the limit. This is surely unsafe and
unacceptable.

We realise that in these difficult times and with the prospect of a by-pass in the near future, it
may be difficult to justify significant expense. To safequard pedestrians we either need
wider pavements or slower traffic. The promised measures will hopefully go some way
towards reducing the danger but we are convinced that they are a first step in the right
direction and that further action should still remain a consideration.

Yours sincerely
Lynda Hill

Clerk to Llanddewi Velfrey Community Council

Page 222



Agenda Iltem 5.16

P-04-373 School Exclusion Zones for Mobile Hot Food Vans

Petition wording:

The Petitioners call upon the Welsh Government to consider legislation to exclude
Mobile Fast Food Vans from operating within a 400 metre exclusion zone around all
schools in Wales during the hours of 8am to 4.30pm weekdays during term time.

Petition raised by: Arfon Jones
Date petition first considered by Committee: 13 March 2012
Number of signatures: 43

Supporting information: Wrexham Council have recently agreed a Planning
Guidance note which states that - New Hot Food Takeaways should not be
located... within 400 metres of the boundary of a school or tertiary college.
Planning conditions cannot be used to restrict use of mobile fast food
vehicles and if they comply with highways and environmental health
regulations they can operate unlicensed. It is therefore argued that to
legislate as suggested will serve to promote a social objective of reducing
the availability of cheap unhealthy foods to children, to reduce obesity and
to promote healthy eating.

Page 223



Edwina Hart MBE CStJ AC/ AM
Gweinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth a Thrafnidiaeth
Minister for Economy, Science and Transport

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-373
Ein cyf/Our ref EH/01176/13

William Powell AM

committeebusiness@Wales.gsi.gov.uk

Dear William,

3 7
UET

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

| O May 2013

Further to previous correspondence about ‘Trading in Laybys’.

The development of the new policy will be complete by the end of July. | will
write to you again to advise when the policy will be introduced.

/&A’— ¢

Bae Caerdydd - Cardiff Bay
Caerdydd « Cardiff
CF99 1NA

Wedi'i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu ( Bo%d
age 224

English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
Correspondence.edwina.Hart@Wales.gsi.gov.uk

Printed on 100% recycled paper



Agenda Iltem 6

P-04-457 The Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign

Petition wording:

We call upon the National Assembly to urge the Welsh Government to cease
the use of National Health Service budget for religious care and to work with
the leaders of organised religion to establish a charitable trust to fund
religious care in the hospitals of Wales.

Supporting Information:

The charitable chaplaincy campaign comprises an informal network of citizen
who are concerned that every million pounds of public money allocated to
the NHS in Wales should be used to promote public health and to treat those
who need medical attention.

Our campaign has no funds and needs none. It is sponsored by no other
organisation within or without Wales. Modern internet based services allow
us to communicate with each other and with our democratically elected
representatives.

All our supporters have seen and concur with two documents which are
provided in support of this petition, Principles which sets out our motivation
and Proposal which states our case with supporting evidence and rational
argument.

We provide a third document Employment which provides evidence of how

the monies drawn from the NHS Budget for hospital chaplaincy services are
currently spent.

Petition raised by: The Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign
Date petition first considered by Committee: 19 February 2013

Page 225



7
Mark Drakeford AC / AM iﬁgﬁ

Y Gweinidog lechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ,
Minister for Health and Social Services - ;JIA

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-457
Ein cyf/Our ref MD/00682/13

William Powell AM
Chair
Petitions Committee

Naomi.Stocks@wales.gov.uk

23 May 2013

@l@,{ o s e

Thank you for your letter of 24 April on behalf of the Petitions Committee enclosing a copy
of correspondence from Alan Rogers about the Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign.

Spiritual care givers offer spiritual care not only to members of faith communities but to the
majority of patients, carers and staff who have no association whatsoever with any religious
group. The Spiritual Care Services are part of the core team of people in the health service
who provide vital support to people in times of need.

| can only reiterate and agree what was said by my predecessor in the last correspondence

to you, that the best way to ensure patients and staff throughout Wales have the
appropriate access to those services is to continue to support them financially through the

NHS.
Q)‘*a'*‘ e

Mark Drakeford AC / AM
Y Gweinidog lechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol
Minister for Health and Social Services

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300
Caerdydd - Cardiff Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400
CF99 1NA Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford @wales.gsi.gov.uk

Wedi'i argraffu ar bapur wedi'i ailgylchu (1Pgge 226 Printed on 100% recycled paper



The Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign

The Wales-wide, cross-party campaign for a charitable hospital chaplaincy.

Charitable Trusts
The usual test used today was laid down by their Lordships in IRC v Pemse
To be charitable, a trust must serve one of the following purposes:

s

1) The relief of Poverty [Public benefit test does not apply]

2) The Advancement of Education

3) The Advancement of Religion!!

4) Any other purpose beneficial to the Community not falling within the other
categories.

[A revision in 2011 added nine other purposes - none relevant to our case.]

It is likely that a Wales Hospital Chaplaincy Fund (HCF) for publicly financed
hospitals (profit-making private hospitals must be excluded) would be an acceptable
proposal to the Charities Commission under either 3 or 4 of the list above. The terms
of reference of the Hospital Chaplaincy Service (HCS) would determine which of the
listed purposes was appropriate. The HCF would be established for the exclusive
purpose of funding the HCS.

Definitions of religious and spiritual care.
The set of “Guidance” documents for Spiritual Support in the Wales NHS contains a
serious ambiguity which makes discussion of this matter difficult.

The document Guidance on Capabilities and Competences for Healthcare
Chaplains/Spiritual Care Givers provides two definitions on page 4 (quoting from
Service Development for Spiritual Care in the NHS Wales 2010):

Spiritual Care is usually given in a one to one relationship, is completely person
centred and makes no assumptions about personal conviction or life orientation.

Religious Care is given in the context of shared religious beliefs, values, liturgies and
lifestyle of a faith community.

It then goes on to claim that —
“Spiritual care is often used as the overall term and is relevant for all”

This is bound to produce confusion. If the two forms of care are to be conflated then a
separate term is required to remove this ambiguity.

An example of the consequence of this ambiguity occurs on the same page of the
document. At one point it states “Spiritual care can be provided by all health care
staff, by carers, families and other patients.” This must imply the separate definition
above. It then goes on to make the unjustified claim “Chaplains are the specialist
spiritual care providers”. If, in this sentence, the word “spiritual” is replaced by the
word “religious” the claim might be acceptable, since the chaplain is usually a cleric,
but only if the recipient of such care is of the same faith as the chaplain. Of course the

Page 227



chaplain should offer spiritual care as defined by the separate definition above - that
would seem to be the duty of all NHS staff in contact with patients and their families.
The nursing profession might rightly claim that its members are the specialist spiritual
care (as defined above) providers by virtue of their selection for employment and their
professional training. It seems to me that being capable of offering spiritual care (as
defined above) is as essential for an NHS employee in contact with patients and their
loved ones as honesty is for a bank employee or courage and loyalty for a member of
the armed services. In truth the term “spiritual care” is imprecise, ambiguous and
confusing. It would be better to replace it with the three well defined terms:-
Religious care — The pastoral care provided by clerics to those who require it.
Empathetic care — The ethos by which all hospital care is delivered

Holistic care — The model of hospital care which recognises the mind-body nexus and
delivers care guided by evidence of medical efficacy within an empathetic ethos.

The cost figures given below were obtained in reply to the question:-

For the previous financial year, what was the total cost to your Board for the
provision of Chaplaincy Services?

It is reasonable to assume that the costs relating to training nursing staff in correct
spiritual care (as defined above) and the allowance for such care in calculating work
load were not included. The costs given are therefore in respect of Religious Care.

Stakeholder analysis
For each stakeholder it is possible to compare their interests in the choice between
tax-payer funding and charitable funding of the Hospital Chaplaincy Service.

Patients: The same service is delivered by the same people and the individual
patient should be entirely unaffected by the means of funding.

NHS Staff: Charitable trust funding may mean that a number of staff would
retain their jobs in spite of future financial stringencies whilst the chaplaincy
service received is the same in both cases.

The Wales NHS: The NHS will be able to deliver more than one million
pounds worth of additional medical and/or nursing and/or ambulance services
every year in perpetuity if chaplaincy is funded by a charitable trust.

The Minister: It may be felt that making the change from using NHS monies to
Trust monies involves some political risk. This can be minimised by considerate
transition arrangements and it would be understood by the tax-payer in a time of
funding constraint.

The religious denominations: It would seem best that the tax-payer through
the NHS Wales pays the bill for the chaplaincy service. But the establishment of
a charitable trust would be an admirable ecumenical activity which enhances
their reputation and involves their adherents in supporting fellow believers in
times and situations of great challenge. This stakeholder might believe funding
for chaplaincy is more secure if it comes from the public purse. This is much
less likely to be true in future. Indeed, with sufficient voluntary effort, the funds
raised by such a charity might even exceed those at present provided by the
Wales NHS enabling a broader range of sects to be represented in chaplaincy.

Page 228



The cost of chaplaincy

North Wales NHS Trust
Velindre NHS Trust

Cwm Taf NHS Trust

Abertawe bro Morgannwg
Hywel Dda NHS Trust

Gwent Healthcare NHS Trust
North West Wales NHS Trust
Cardiff & Vale NHS Trust
Powys Local Health Board

Betsi Cadwladr NHS Trust*
Velindre NHS Trust

Cwm Taf NHS Trust
Abertawe bro Morgannwg
Hywel Dda NHS Trust
Aneurin Bevan NHS Trust
Cardiff & Vale NHS Trust
Powys Local Health Trust

Betsi Cadwaladr NHS Trust
Velindre NHS Trust

Cwm Taf NHS Trust
Abertawe bro Morgannwg
Hywel Dda NHS Trust
Aneurin Bevan NHS Trust
Cardiff & Vale NHS Trust
Powys Local Health Trust

TOTAL

* Combined North Wales and North West Wales Trusts

2007/8
£ 159,289
£ 18,934
£ 46,093
£ 218,299
£ 63,185
£ 240,596
£ 95,429
£ 312,000
£ 35,228

£1,189,013

2009/10

259,042

57,162
117,990
214,000
124,556
259,910
293,158

46,603

th th th th th th th th

£1,372,421

2011/12

£ 225,815
£ 30,856
£ 132,102
£ 237,426
£ 171,133
£ 255,173
£ 238,425
£ 34,543

£1,325,473

2008/9
170,144
19,514
97,809
216,642
115,774
251,483
103,877
300,845
38,119

th th th th th th th th th

£1,314,207

2010/11

221,619

30,857
111,974
231,842
157,793
260,589
293,351

45,389

th th th th th th th th

£1,353,414

2012/13

259,164

30,857
125,035
187,179
182,815
246,494
228,635

38, 364

£1,298,543

Total expenditure since figures first collected. £7,853,071

Page 229



Conclusion
The provision of a hospital chaplaincy service is not a statutory obligation for the
NHS. It is probably best described as a traditional provision by the NHS.

The funds available to the Wales NHS will never be so generous that a contribution
from the voluntary sector may be rejected without good reason. Even if current
funding (indexed against inflation) is maintained, an aging population, advances in
medical and pharmaceutical science, developments in medical and nursing techniques
and the rising expectations of the population will always place ever greater demands
on NHS budgets. A million and a quarter pounds each and every year into the future
may be seen as a small contribution but only by obtaining many such small
contributions may these increasing demands be met.

The creation of a Hospital Chaplaincy Fund to cover the cost of religious care by
hospital chaplains will be good for the churches, chapels, mosques, kingdom halls,
temples and synagogues. The humanist movement might also join this enterprise. It
would be an ecumenical enterprise that builds bridges between faiths.

The proposed charity would need to raise about £1.5 million per year to maintain the
present service. This is entirely achievable. While the present fiscal arrangements are
in place, a portion of this amount would be met by “gift aid” tax which is returned by
the Treasury.

It would, of course, be for the NHS Wales and the proposed Hospital Chaplaincy
Fund (HCF) to agree the appointment and employment arrangements for HCF funded
chaplains. Since this issue has been raised during the Charitable Chaplaincy
Campaign, we offer the view that hospital chaplains should be properly regulated,
CRB checked, representative of the local population and trained to a high standard
which must include awareness that proselytism and evangelism in an NHS setting is
unacceptable. The HCF fund-raising target should be to finance the current level of
establishment. If the HCF raises more money than is required to support this staffing
level, additional appointments might be discussed with the Health Boards. If there is a
shortfall, staffing levels would correspondingly be reduced.

The Church in Wales, the Catholic Church (Wales) and the Free Church Council have
been asked to consider this matter. The reaction has been, “the NHS has taken
responsibility for religious care, so the churches need not act”. Regrettably there
appears to be a lack of leadership from the faith communities in this matter.

As a consequence, a strong political lead is required; perhaps amounting to a
declaration of a time period for the transition to charitable funding.

Notes
[1] http://www.charity-commission.gov.uk/publications/rrla.aspx

[2] This term seems to have been revised very recently to:-
Public Benefit and the Advancement of Moral or Ethical Belief Systems

Alan Rogers October 2012

Page 230



Appendix I

CHAPLAINCY COSTS 2012/2013

*

COST WTE Cost/WTE
Betsi Cadwaladr £259,1064 5.47 £47,379
Velindre £ 30,857 0.5 £61,714
Cwm Taf £125,035 3.39 £36,883
Abertawe bro Morganwg £187,179 3.73 £50,182
Hywel Dda £182,815 4.45 £41,082
Aneurin Bevan £246,494 5.61 £43,963
Cardiff & Vale £228,635 6.27 £36,465
Powys £ 38,364 0.92 £41,700

* Calculated by AJR.

Page 231



Agenda ltem 7

P-04-474 Support for NHS chaplaincy services

Petition wording:

We recognise the positive contribution of hospital chaplaincy services in
delivering spiritual care within the Welsh NHS and recognise the tremendous
work that the chaplaincy service in the NHS is providing.

This service plays an important role in the spiritual wellbeing of both
patients and NHS staff, not only for those with a religious affiliation but also
for others with no association with a religious group. We call upon the
National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to continue with
its commitment to funding hospital chaplaincy services and to extend the
benefits of chaplaincy services to other care settings, including primary and
social care settings.

Petition raised by: Jim Stewart
Date petition first considered by Committee: 16 April 2013

Number of signatures: 1077

Page 232



Petition in support of an NHS-funded chaplaincy service

1. There is strong support for NHS-funded hospital chaplaincy
services among Wales’ faith communities

In November 2011 | asked the members of the Interfaith Council of
Wales whether or not they supported an NHS-funded hospital
chaplaincy service. This was in preparation for a Cross Party Group on
Faith meeting on the importance of spiritual care

All those who responded to my email were in support of an NHS-
funded chaplaincy service, including the following faith communities:

Jewish
Muslim
Buddhist
Hindu
Sikh

®oO0TO

....and the following Christian denominations / networks:

Quakers

Methodists

Church in Wales
Annibynwyr

Salvation Army
Congregational Federation
g. Evangelical Alliance

~0 Q0T

| didn’t receive a response from the Catholic Church or the Baha'is.
The majority of members of the Interfaith Council of Wales were
therefore in support of an NHS-funded hospital chaplaincy service.

2. Chaplaincy services have the support of the First Minister

Hospital chaplaincy was discussed in the Faith Communities Forum
meeting of 24 October 2012, in which the First Minister spoke in
positive terms of chaplaincy services (see extract from the official
minutes below, especially point g.)

Chaplaincy
a. The First Minister gave an update on the implementation of the
Welsh Government Standards, Capabilities and Competence
Framework for Spiritual Caregivers and progress against these
Standards.

Page 233



b. The Spiritual Care Standards promotes partnership working
between the Health Board and Trusts with the communities that
they serve. This ensures that spiritual care is accessible in all
NHS care settings. NHS organisations’ individual action plans
are routinely monitored.

c. Welsh Government officials are working closely with NHS,
Welsh Language Board and Welsh Language Commission to
ensure the Standards comply with the Welsh Language
measure.

d. A number of excellent initiatives have already been adopted.
These include all Health Boards/Trusts having identified
individuals who are responsible for co-ordinating the
implementation of the Standards. Some specific examples
include Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board who held a
Spiritual Awareness Conference in May and Cwm Taff Health
Board who have introduced a ‘bank’ of chaplains to provide
cover throughout the year.

e. Barry Morgan said that there was a basic misunderstanding of
the chaplaincy service. They offer support to those who want it
at people’s hour of need. Saleem Kidwai supported this view
and confirmed that Imams are present in multi-faith chaplaincies
to offer support where needed.

f. The Chief Nursing Officer for Wales wrote to NHS organisations
in April 2012 and will be writing again in November 2012
requesting an update on progress against each of the
Standards.

g. The First Minister referred to an incident in Cardiff on 19
October where a number of adults and children where admitted
to the University Hospital Wales in the afternoon, with injuries
caused by a roadside accident. The hospital chaplaincy service
was immediately on hand to offer support to both the victims and
victims’ families.

3. There is a lack of transparency over the link between the
Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign and the National Secular Society

The supporting information of the CCC petition, for example, includes
the following sentence:

The charitable chaplaincy campaign comprises an informal
network of citizen who are concerned that every million pounds
of public money allocated to the NHS in Wales should be used
to promote public health and to treat those who need medical
attention.

Page 234



What is not stated is the link between this campaign and the National
Secular Society (NSS), whose strapline is “challenging religious
privilege” and whose stated aims in campaigning for a secular state
include (see here):

a) Neither the state, nor any emanation of the state, expresses
religious beliefs or preferences.

b) The state does not engage in, fund or promote religious
activities or practices.

Page 13 of their 2011 Annual Report (see here) refers to Alan Rogers
and the Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign, saying the following:

Our campaign to have hospital chaplaincy services funded by
charity continues. Led by NSS member Alan Rogers,
secularists in Wales have been collecting data on the cost of
hospital chaplains.

The link between this campaign and the National Secular Society can
be further seen on the NSS website here, where Alan Rogers talks
about his work for the Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign in Wales.

Part of the rationale behind the CCC is its claim that citizens are
concerned about public funding going to chaplaincy services. If,
however, significant number of these citizens identify with a movement
that is ideologically opposed to chaplaincy services being publicly
funded in the first place (i.e. the NSS), then this claim must be
scrutinised.

. If chaplaincy services were to be funded by faith groups, it would lead
to inequalities in service provision, with areas with an abundance of
faith communities faring better than areas that do not.
. Wynne Roberts will refer to the Standards for Spiritual Care Services in
the NHS in Wales 2010 and | will also refer to a powerpoint produced
by Steve Jamieson from the Royal College of Nursing, who leads on
spiritual care in the RCN. Among his findings are the following:
a. 80.4% either disagreed or strongly disagreed with the statement
| believe spirituality does not apply to atheists or agnostics (slide
28).
b. 96.5% said yes to “Whilst practising, have you ever encountered
a patient(s) with spiritual needs? (slide 29)
c. 41.4% said they encountered patients with spiritual needs daily
(slide 32)
. My point in the petition fo extend the benefits of chaplaincy services to
other care settings, including primary and social care settings was
simply that care homes and GP surgeries may be suitable places to
extend spiritual care provision and chaplaincy services.

Page 235



	Agenda
	2 P-04-472 Make the MTAN law
	3 P-04-442 Guarantee good support close to home for disabled children and their families
	4.1 P-04-484 EMA for all!
	4.2 P-04-485 Abuse of casual contracts in Further Education
	4.3 P-04-486 Act Now and Help Save the High Street Shops
	5.1 P-04-470 Against the nationalisation of Cardiff Airport
	16.05.2013 Correspondence - First Minister to the Chair

	5.2 P-04-419 Wind Farm Moratorium
	15.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Housing and Regeneration to the Chair
	22.05.2013 - Correspondence - Additional information from the petitioner to the Chair

	5.3 P-04-422 Fracking
	07.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Housing and Regeneration to the Chair

	5.4 P-04-469 Remove the Right-To-Buy Regional Price Cap
	15.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Housing and Regeneration to the Chair

	5.5 P-04-385 Petition regarding balloon and lantern releases
	15.04.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Environment and Sustainable Development to the Chair
	May 2013 - Sky lanterns and helium balloons: an assessment of impacts on livestock and the environment

	5.6 P-04-398 Campaign for a Welsh Animal Offenders Register
	5.7 P-04-439 Ancient veteran and heritage trees of Wales to be given greater protection
	08.05.2013 Correspondence - Natural Resources Wales to the Chair

	5.8 P-04-444 Dig for Victory
	15.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Natural Resources and Food to the Chair
	11.03.2013 Correspondence - WLGA to the Chair

	5.9 P-04-403 Saving Plas Cwrt yn Dre/Old Parliament House for the Nation
	08.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Culture and Sport to the Chair

	5.10 P-03-301 Equality for the transgender community
	5.11 P-04-362 Ambulance Services in Monmouth
	April 2013 - Strategic Review of Welsh Ambulance Services

	5.12 P-04-451 Save the Royal Glamorgan Hospital Services
	19.04.2013 Correspondence - Cwm Taf Health Board to the Chair

	5.13 P-04-456 Dementia - This Could Happen to you
	13.03.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Health and Social Services to the Chair
	28.03.2013 Correspondence - Alzheimer's Society to the Chair

	5.14 P-04-458 Keep Further Education in the Public Sector
	08.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Education and Skills to the Chair
	20.05.2013 Correspondence - Additional information from the petitioner to Chair

	5.15 P-03-240 Road safety on the A40 in Llanddewi Velfrey
	01.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Economy. Science and Transport to the Chair
	25.05.2013 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Chair

	5.16 P-04-373 School Exclusion Zones for Mobile Hot Food Vans
	10.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Economy, Science and Transport to the Chair

	6 P-04-457 The Charitable Chaplaincy Campaign: Evidence Session
	23.05.2013 Correspondence - Minister for Health & Social Services to the Chair
	21.05.2013 Correspondence - Additional information from the petitioner

	7 P-04-474 Support for NHS chaplaincy services: Evidence Session
	25.05.2013 Correspondence - Additional information from the petitioner


